

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2020:282

Knut Langsrud

ONTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Sleep at night and patients' behaviours the next day

in a catchment-area-based psychiatric hospital

of Faculty (

O NTNU



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

ISBN 978-82-326-4212-9 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-4913-6 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181

Knut Langsrud

Sleep at night and patients' behaviours the next day

in a catchment-area-based psychiatric hospital

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, October 2020

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Mental Health



NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Mental Health

© Knut Langsrud

ISBN 978-82-326-4212-9 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-4913-6 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2020:282



Printed by Skipnes Kommunikasjon AS

Hvordan nattesøvn påvirker atferd neste dag hos pasienter ved et psykiatrisk sykehus

Denne avhandlingen beskriver sammenhengene mellom nattesøvn og atferd de neste dagene blant to grupper av pasienter som ble behandlet ved Divisjon Psykisk helsevern, St Olavs hospital: Polikliniske pasienter med forsinket søvnfase syndrom og akutt innlagte pasienter på intensiv-avsnittene i vår avdeling.

God søvn er en essensielt for oss alle, og søvnforstyrrelser kan ha negative helsemessige konsekvenser som vektoppgang, sukkersyke, forkortet livslengde og redusert kognitiv fungering. Vi mangler likevel kunnskap om hvordan søvnforstyrrelser påvirker atferden neste dag hos våre pasienter.

Hos pasienter med forsinket søvnfase syndrom (ekstreme B-mennesker) undersøkte vi sammenhengen mellom søvn om natten og vansker med oppvåkning og kognitiv funksjon neste dag. Flere av pasientene våknet ikke av en vekkerklokke på 104 dB som tilsvarer lydnivået på nattklubb eller et stort idrettsarrangement. Alle var i REM søvn (en søvnfase med hurtige øyebevegelser) og ikke i dyp søvn som forventet. Pasientene med forsinket søvnfase syndrom gjorde det dårligere på kognitive tester om morgenen enn om kvelden.

Hos 135 akutt innlagt pasienter på psykiatrisk intensivavsnitt undersøkte vi om søvn lengde eller endring i søvn lengde mellom to påfølgende netter var relatert til aggressiv atferd neste dag, hvor lenge pasienten var innlagt på intensivavsnittet, samt om målene på søvn kunne bedre mulighetene til å forutsi aggresjon. Både stor forskjell i søvnlengde mellom to netter og kort søvnlengde var knyttet til aggressiv atferd eller voldelige hendelser neste dag. I tillegg var det en sammenheng mellom kort søvnlengde første natt, og stor forskjell mellom søvnlengde natt en og natt to, og lange opphold. En skala utviklet for å forutsi aggresjon og vold i sykehusavdelinger (BVC - Brøset Violence Checklist), blir noe bedre om en legger til et mål for søvnvansker.

Både søvnlengde og variasjon i søvnlengde mellom to netter er relatert til pasienters atferd neste dag. Funnene kan ha betydning både for hvordan en gir behandling ved forsinket søvnfase syndrom, og hvordan en legger opp behandlingen i psykiatriske intensivavsnitt. Veileder: Professor Gunnar Morken. Biveileder: Professor Arne Vaaler

iii

Table of contents

Hvordan nattesøvn påvirker atferd neste dag hos pasienter ved et psykiatrisk sykehus	
Table of contents	v
Acknowledgments	vii
List of papers	ix
Acronyms and Abbreviations	xi
Summary	xiii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Psychiatry and sleep	1
1.2 Sleep	1
1.3 The two-process model of sleep regulation	2
1.3.1 Peripheral circadian clocks and drugs effects on sleep regulation	4
1.3.2 The effects of light on sleep regulation	4
1.3.3 The effects of darkness on sleep regulation	4
1.3.4 The significance of the two-process model	5
1.4 Sleep and Measurements	5
1.4.1 Measures of sleep duration	5
1.4.2 Measures of circadian rhythms	6
1.4.3 Sleep duration	8
1.4.4 Variability of sleep duration	9
1.4.5 Circadian rhythms	
1.5 Sleep at night and behaviour the next day	11
1.5.1 DSWPD, threshold of awakening and cognition in the morning	
1.5.2 Aggression in acute psychiatry	
1.6 Research questions and Aims	15
2. Methods	
2.1 Paper I	
2.1.1 Particinants	
2.1.2 Procedure	18
2.1.3 Assessments	19
2.1.4. Data analysis and statistics	
2.2 Paners II. III and IV	
2.2.1 Setting	
2.2.2 Participants	
2.2.3 Procedure	
2.2.4. Assessments	
2.2.5. Data analysis and statistics	
2.3 Ethics	25
3. Results	27
4. Discussion	
4.1 Discussion of Methods	
4.1.1 Participants	
4.1.2 Design	
4.1.3 Measures	

4.1.4 Statistics	
4.2 Discussion of results	
4.2.1 Awakening threshold	
4.2.2 Cognitive function after awakening	
4.2.3 Sleep duration and night-to-night variations	
4.2.4 Sleep at night and aggressive behaviour the next day	41
4.2.5 Sleep as a predictor of aggressive incidents	
4.2.6 Results across the papers	43
4.3 Concluding remarks	
4.4 Clinical implication of the findings	
5. Main Conclusions	48
6. References	49
7.Appendix	65
8.Original Papers I-IV	77

Acknowledgments

Denne avhandlingen har gjennom mange år vært mitt lille «private» prosjekt, noe jeg til stadighet har kommet tilbake til mellom det kliniske arbeidet og andre større forskningsprosjekter. Prosjektet har fått hvile og modne gjentatte ganger og over lengre perioder. For de som har stått ved siden av har nok det vært frustrerende. Mange har involvert seg, og uten dem hadde nok dette blitt liggende til evig hvile for flere års siden.

At ting har tatt tid, skylde ikke mangel på muligheter, min sjef ved Østmarka Pål Sandvik har gitt meg frie hender til å styre selv. Og en spesiell takk til mine kollegaer for «good will» til å være borte fra klinikken og for alle «oppmuntrende» kommentarer under veis. Så takk til St Olav hospital.

Mine veiledere Professor og Direktør Gunnar Morken og Professor Arne Valler har trofast holdt trykket oppe, uavhengig om jeg jobbet med dette eller ikke. Når den ene var sliten, oppgitt eller oppfatt, tok den andre over. De har vært avgjørende for at prosjekter i det hele tatt kom i gang, for at det fikk en vinkling som har gjorde arbeide interessant for andre enn bare meg og for at det hele skulle komme til en avslutning.

Takk til NTNU som har gitt veilederne tid og som har vært tålmodige med meg underveis, og latt meg ta forskerkursene to ganger. Og takk til NTNU og St Olav for låne av andre ressurser når jeg trengte det, spesielt skal nevnes professor Tom Palmstierna og den alltid tilstedeværende Cüneyt Güzey.

I den tiden det tok å fullføre denne avhandlingen har vi bygd opp et stort og fremgangsrikt forsknings miljø på søvn. Bjarne Hansen var villig med og sammen behandlet vi de første søvnpasienter på Østmarka. Vi fikk ansatt Håvard Kallestad som stipendiat. Håvard har stødig og sikkert lagt stein på stein, og løftet miljøet til høyder, som vi ikke kunne drømme om når vi startet. Han har underveis gjentatte ganger minnet meg på at det kanskje er på tide at jeg fullfører mitt «private» prosjekt også. Håvard har vært den største formidleren av resultatene fra disse studiene.

vii

Forskningsgruppa på søvn og bipolar lidelse har gradvis vokst, på tross av at flere har gått forbi meg akademisk, har de hele tiden oppmuntret meg og bistått umiddelbart om jeg har behov for råd eller innspill. Spesiell takk til Mette Steinan, Karoline Krane-Gartiser, Ole Kristian Drange, Anne Engum, professor Jan Scott og PhD-stipendiatene i gruppa.

Samarbeid med nevrofysiologiene professor Trond Sand og min barndomsvenn Morten Engstrøm har vært berikende. En stadig påminning om hvor mye kunnskap en kan besitte, og hvilket detalj og presisjonsnivå som er nødvendig om en vil opp noen hakk i forsknings verdenen.

Mine døtrer, Julie og Silje er voksne, har flyttet ut og klarer seg godt uten meg. De har nok lidd mere under all tiden jeg har brukt på min kliniske jobb, enn på det akademiske. Men kunnskap om å skrive artikler, prosjektbeskrivelse ol. som jeg har tilegnete meg under veis, har de gladelig tatt i mot og forhåpentlig også kommet dem til gode.

Ja, min kone Elizabeth har rett. Hadde hun ikke startet som PhD stipendiat, hadde jeg aldri blitt ferdig. At hun har arbeidet strukturert, systematisk og planmessig med sitt PhD prosjekt hjemme, på skrive turer til Spania og under oppholdet i Australia, smittet over, i perioder. Nok til at jeg fikk fremgang på mitt arbeid. Selv om jeg har konkurranse instinkt, så var nok ikke dette en likeverdig konkurranse, jeg var nærmest bloddopet med et stort team rundt meg, som bistod umiddelbart når jeg ønsket, mens hun stilte til start uten høydeopphold og støtteapparat. Desto større ble gleden da hun kommer i mål noen uker før meg.

Takk til alle som er nevnt og ikke nevnt, som har bidratt og støttet meg i mitt «private» prosjekt.

List of papers

Paper I

Difficult morning awakening from rapid eye movement sleep and impaired cognitive function in delayed sleep phase disorder patients.

Brandy Solheim, Knut Langsrud, Håvard Kallestad, Alexander Olsen, Bjørn Bjorvatn, Trond Sand.

Sleep Medicine 15 (2014) 1264–1268

Paper II

Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit. Knut Langsrud, Arne E. Vaaler, Håvard Kallestad, Gunnar Morken. Psychiatry Research 237 (2016) 252–256

Paper III

Sleep at night and association to aggressive behaviour; patients in a Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit.

Knut Langsrud, Håvard Kallestad, Arne Einar Vaaler, Roger Almvik, Tom Palmstierna, Gunnar Morken. Psychiatry Research 263 (2018) 275–279

Paper IV

The Predictive Properties of Violence Risk Instruments May Increase by Adding Items Assessing Sleep

Knut Langsrud, Arne Vaaler, Gunnar Morken, Håvard Kallestad, Roger Almvik, Tom Palmstierna, Ismail C. Güzey.

Frontiers in Psychiatry 10 (2019) 323 (doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00323)

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ANOVA	analysis of variance
AUC	area under the curve
BDI	Beck Depression Inventory
BVC	Brøset Violence Checklist
CCPT II	Conners' Continuous Performance Test (second edition)
CI	confidence interval
CPT	continuous performance test
DASA-IV	Dynamic Appraisal of Situational Aggression - Inpatient Version
dB	decibel
DLMO	dim light melatonin onset
DSM-V	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (fifth edition)
DSPD	delayed sleep phase disorder
DSWPD	delayed sleep-wake phase disorder
EEG	electroencephalography
Hit-RT	hit reaction time
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases (version 10)
ICSD-2	International Classification of Sleep Disorders (second edition)
IQR	interquartile range
iqRGC	intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells
MEQ	Horne-Östberg Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire
NICE	The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NREM	non-rapid eye movement
PICU	psychiatric intensive care unit
PSG	polysomnography
REM	rapid eye movement
ROC	receiver operating characteristic
SCN	suprachiasmatic nuclei
SD	standard deviation
SOAS-R	Staff Observation Aggression Scale-Revised
SWA	slow wave activity
SWS	slow wave sleep
TST	total sleep time

Summary

This thesis explores the associations between sleep at night and behaviour the next day in two patient samples from a defined catchment area admitted to the Department of Psychiatry, St Olav's University Hospital: outpatients with delayed sleep-wake phase disorder (DSWPD) admitted to the specialist clinic for patients with sleep disorders, and inpatients acutely admitted to the psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs).

Sleep is an essential function for all animals, including humans. Disruption of sleep patterns and lack of sleep affect our functioning and behaviour. Lack of sleep has numerous effects, ranging from deterioration in performance on more complicated cognitive tasks to being associated to a number of somatic health problems, such as increased weight, diabetes, and decreased life expectancy. The associations between sleep and daytime functioning are complex and bidirectional.

Among outpatients with DSWPD and acute psychiatric inpatients admitted to PICUs, disturbed sleep and challenging behaviour is common. The impact of sleep disruptions on behaviour the next day is seldom studied.

This thesis aimed to study the awakening threshold and changes in cognitive function after awakening in DSWPD patients. Additionally to study the effects of sleep duration or night-tonight variations in sleep duration on length of stay and observer-rated aggressive behaviours in acutely admitted psychiatric patients, and finally to investigate whether the predictive properties of a violence risk instrument predicted aggressive incidents more precisely if a sleep variable was added to it.

Methods

Paper one reports data from nine patients with DSWPD and nine sex- and age-matched healthy controls who stayed in the sleep laboratory for one night. They were examined with polysomnography and completed the continuous performance test (CPT) in the afternoon and immediately upon waking. An alarm clock was activated at 07:00 with sound intensity increasing from 72 to 104 dB.

Paper two reports data from 135 patients consecutively admitted to a PICU. Papers three and

four report data for 50 of these admissions. The nurses registered the time the patients were sleeping, aggressive behaviours using the Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC), and aggressive incidents using the Staff Observation Aggression Scale-Revised (SOAS-R).

Results

In all patient groups we found wide variability in sleep duration between individuals.

Three of the patients with DSWPD did not wake up at the alarm sound of 104 dB. The three patients were in rapid eye movement (REM) sleep. On the CPT test, patients with DSWPD had longer reaction times in the morning than in the afternoon.

In the acutely admitted subgroup of patients with schizophrenia, sleep duration the first night correlated negatively with the length of stay. For the whole group of patients, the difference in sleep duration from night one to night two were correlated with length of stay. Short sleep duration the first night correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day. During the stay, large absolute differences in sleep duration between two consecutive nights correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day, and short sleep duration was associated with violent incidents. The violence risk instrument BVC appeared to predict aggressive incidents more precisely when a sleep variable was added.

Discussion

We found that patients with DSWPD struggle to wake up with an alarm clock. These patients were in a period of REM sleep, rather than in the expected period of slow wave sleep (SWS). Their reported drowsiness in the morning was supported by a neuropsychological test.

Among the acute psychiatric patients in the PICUs, we found large variations in sleep duration between individual patients, as well as large intra-individual lack of stability in sleep duration. The lack of stability in sleep duration, and the magnitude of the night-to-night variations of the first nights predicted the length of stay in the PICU. These factors were also associated with threatening behaviour and aggressive incidents. Assessments of sleep disorders may increase the value of psychometric instruments designed to predict the imminent risk of violence in psychiatric inpatients.

The studies had a limited number of participants. There were also limitations in the designs and measures used. Thus, the results should be interpreted with caution. The two-process

model theory of sleep regulation may be useful when comparing studies, interpreting results and seeking new treatments.

Supervisors: Professor Gunnar Morken and Professor Arne E. Vaaler.

1. Introduction

In psychiatric hospitals, many patients struggle with sleep problems. Sleep is monitored as an indicator of both the severity of the illness and the effectiveness of the treatment. This thesis explores the associations between sleep at night and behaviour the next day in two patient samples from a defined catchment area admitted to the Department of Psychiatry, St Olav's University Hospital: outpatients with delayed sleep-wake phase disorder (DSWPD) admitted to the specialist clinic for patients with sleep disorders, and inpatients acutely admitted to the psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs).

1.1 Psychiatry and sleep

Sleep problems are both frequent [1-8] and associated with hospitalization in populations of patients with psychiatric disorders [3]. The relationship between sleep problems and psychiatric disorders seems to be bidirectional, indicating that if a patient has one of the conditions, then there is an increased probability of developing the other compared to patients having neither of the conditions [9]. Treatment of one of the conditions may also improve the other [10-12]. Some psychiatric disorders and sleep problems may therefore have shared, underlying pathogenic mechanisms [6, 13]. Up to 70% of patients with DSWPD have a psychiatric disorder [5], and up to 70% of patients in psychiatric acute wards have sleep problems [4, 8].

The treatment of sleep problems has not always been a main focus in psychiatric care [2, 6, 14]. Sleep problems have often been regarded as secondary to psychiatric disorders. This attitude has changed in the last 5 to 10 years. Many patients regard sleep as one of their main problems. Treatment outcomes may be improved if treatment of sleep problems is integrated with treatment of the specific psychiatric disorder [2, 6, 9, 14, 15]. Psychiatric acute wards and intensive care units have been organized to support sleep, with fixed times for sleep, fixed times for meals, and control of activity and light [16].

1.2 Sleep

Based on behavioural observations, sleep is regarded as an essential function for all animals, including humans. During sleep important cognitive functions take place like transference of information from short- to long-term memory [17]. There are circadian variations in the secretion of hormones such as melatonin, growth hormone and cortisol [18]. Decomposition

1

products in the brain are removed during sleep as part of the brain recovery process [19-21]. Sleep also has effects on cellular functions and gene expression [22], and recently a relationship between circadian clocks, sleep and neurodegeneration was described [23].

The mechanisms of sleep are complex. In 2017, the Nobel prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded to J. Hall, M. Rosbash and M.W. Young for their discoveries of the molecular mechanisms that control circadian rhythms [24].

Disruption of sleep patterns or lack of sleep affect our functioning [7, 25-29]. Lack of sleep causes deterioration in performance on more complicated cognitive tasks [25, 26, 29], and it is associated with a number of somatic health problems such as increased weight, diabetes [27, 30, 31], and decreased life expectancy [32]. Disruption of sleep patterns and lack of sleep thus have an impact on several bodily functions [27, 28]. The opposite also occurs; somatic functions, mental processes, and external sensory and emotional stimuli have an impact on our sleep [33, 34]. Thus, our health and functioning seem to be affected by a bidirectional interaction between sleep and behaviour [35].

1.3 The two-process model of sleep regulation

In 1982, Borbély proposed a theoretical framework intended for sleep research. The aim was to understand the alternation between sleep and wakefulness with a two-process model of sleep regulation: the interaction between a homeostatic process and a circadian process [36]. The two-process model has become the most important model of sleep regulation, and it has gradually gained scientific support [6, 37, 38].

The <u>homeostatic process (S)</u> represents sleep debt. It increases during wakefulness and declines during sleep. In the clinic it is often called "sleep pressure" and seen as the drive for sleep. A marker for the homeostatic process is slow wave activity (SWA) during non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep. The homeostatic process is shown to be associated to levels of adenosine in the brain [36, 37].

The <u>circadian process (C)</u> reflects the rhythmic variation of sleep propensity when people are sleep deprived. It also reflects the rest–activity cycles when humans are living in an environment in the absence of time cues. It is normally entrained to day and night. The main circadian clock of the body is found in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN). It is central to the

circadian process. It is marked, among other factors, by circadian variations in core body temperature and melatonin secretion [36, 37].

Sleep is triggered when the homeostatic process is near the upper boundary, and awakening is triggered when it is near the lower boundary. The circadian process oscillates the boundaries.



Figure 1. Sketch of the oscillation of the circadian process, the increase of the homeostatic process when awake and decrease at sleep, and the model of interactions between the two processes which regulate sleep [39].

Originally, it was presumed that each of the two processes were regulated separately. Borbély's framework regarded the homeostatic process as a sleep-dependent process, while the circadian process was considered a sleep-independent process that did not interact with the environment [36]. There is increasing evidence for an even more dynamic and complex regulation of sleep, with bidirectional interactions between the homeostatic and the circadian processes [6, 34, 37, 40]. In studies of forced desynchronization of the circadian rhythm (fixed sleep times with a schedule many hours shorter or longer than the circadian rhythm), it was found that the amplitude of several neurobehavioral functions, such as cognition, was modulated by the homeostatic process [41]. Other studies show that sleep pressure after sleep deprivation reduces clock function and the phase shift capacity of light [40, 42]. It was also found that the circadian process modulates the homeostatic process. The level of SWA in sleep is not simply a function of previous wake duration, but also of the time of day one wakes up [43]. Finally, studies have shown that both the circadian and homeostatic processes interact on molecular/genetic levels. Clock gene expression depends significantly upon prior sleep-wake history [44].

1.3.1 Peripheral circadian clocks and drugs effects on sleep regulation

There are "circadian clocks" in most cells of the body. Under normal circumstances they are orchestrated by the SCN [45]. These peripheral circadian clocks can operate desynchronized from the main circadian clock; for example, initiated by changes in the sleep-wake cycles [37]. Eating patterns, metabolism and drugs such as amphetamines seem to change the sleep-wake cycle independent of the homeostatic or circadian processes. These mechanisms or processes are not completely integrated in the model by Borbély [6, 37].

1.3.2 The effects of light on sleep regulation

A theory about the direct environmental effects of light on the central circadian pacemaker in the SCN was described before the two-process theory was presented [46]. The direct effects of light on the circadian pacemaker in the SCN were later documented. Light was found to be the most important environmental "zeitgeber" (time giver or synchronizer) [38]. The effects of light on the sleep – wake cycle depend on the timing of the light. Exposure to light before the low point of core body temperature circadian rhythm (nadir) delays the circadian phase, while light after the nadir of body temperature advances the circadian phase. The effects of light on the circadian phase seem to decrease with increasing distance to the nadir of body temperature [6, 47].

Specialized receptor cells, intrinsically photosensitive retinal ganglion cells (iqRGC), inform the SCN about exposure to light [48]. These cells do not provide visual information. They are primarily sensitive to light at < 530 nm ("blue light") [49]. Light at night inhibits melatonin secretion [23]. Wearing blue-blocking glasses or being in a blue-depleted environment can create "virtual darkness". This has similar effects to total darkness on melatonin onset and counteracts the effects of light at night [50, 51]. Light can also, via the iqRGC, have a direct impact on mood [48]. The effects of light on mood might use a different pathway from retina to brain than the SCN pathway [52].

1.3.3 The effects of darkness on sleep regulation

Artificial light from computers or mobile phones in the evening can delay people's sleep phase [53, 54], while the absence of artificial light can advance the sleep phase. Camping tours in the mountains is an example of non-exposure to artificial light described in the literature [55].

In the treatment of patients with DSWPD, both wearing blue-blocking glasses ("virtual darkness") in the evening [56] and receiving bright light in the morning advance or amplify the circadian phase [5, 57].

Patients acutely admitted with mania and treated with darkness or by wearing blue-light blocking glasses ("virtual darkness") at night, seem to improve faster and be discharged earlier from hospital compared to patients who are not exposed to darkness or virtual darkness [6, 58, 59]. Patients with depressive disorders may improve faster if they receive bright light in the morning [6, 60].

1.3.4 The significance of the two-process model

According to the two-process model, many factors can affect sleep due to interactions with the circadian- and homeostatic processes. Examples are environmental factors, including exposure to light and our usual way of daily living [37, 61, 62]. This also has implications for research. Circadian rhythms in studies may differ depending on whether the participants go to work or school that regulate the sleep – wake patterns, or do not have any regular activity during the day [63, 64]. Many psychoactive medications affect sleep; antipsychotics might influence sleep pressure [65], lithium influences circadian rhythms [66] and amphetamines disturb sleep [67]. Inpatient stays can influence both the homeostatic and circadian processes by regulating the time for sleep, the fixed time for waking up, activity and exposure to light according to ward routines. The homeostatic processes will be influenced both by improving and disturbing sleep [37, 61]. Clinical settings, participants and pharmacological cultures differ between countries and complicate comparison between studies.

1.4 Sleep and Measurements

1.4.1 Measures of sleep duration

The gold standard polysomnography (PSG) [7, 68, 69] includes electroencephalography, electro-oculography, electromyography, electrocardiography, oximetry and oro-nasal airflow. From the PSG, it is possible to get a histogram that illustrates both rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and different types of NREM sleep through the night. PSG data collection, analysis and interpretation are expensive and resource demanding. PSG is therefore less available, usually only used for a single night, and in clinical practice used only on strict indications. In inpatient units, such as psychiatric acute departments and PICUs, PSG

5

equipment can be a potential risk to the patient's safety. In these settings, there is also a need to monitor sleep repeatedly as an indicator of treatment effect. However, because PSG is usually not an alternative, simpler methods such as actigraphy, radar sensors and observations by the staff can be used.

Actigraphs are several types of electronic devices recording minor and major body movements [68, 70]. Smart-watches and smart-phones often have integrated actigraphs. However, the quality of the actigraphs and software in these items varies, and they are often not satisfactory for sleep assessments in research [70]. Actigraphs measure movements and thus indirectly measure sleep. In spite of this limitation, it is regarded as the best objective measure of sleep in many clinical settings [71, 72]. The advantages of actigraphs are the objective measurements and the ability to measure over long time periods. Actigraphs are cheap, and can also give additional important information about levels of activity during the day [73]. Radar sensors to measure movement is under development. Sleep can probably be estimated accurately with this technique [74, 75].

In hospitals, there are traditions and routines for the observation of sleep by nurses [76-78]. There are studies indicating that such observations have satisfactory correlations with PSG and actigraphy data [68, 72, 79-81]. However, the methods have limitations including lack of standardization [78], and patients lying without movements in the bed while being awake. The routine also has the obvious disadvantage that the patients can be disturbed by the observation. Thus, it may be questioned if the observation of sleep by nurses may be regarded more as an observation of behaviour than of sleep.

Self-reports with sleep diaries are frequently used in outpatient settings [82]. The patients fill in the form every morning indicating when and how they slept the previous night. This method is regarded as adequate for the treatment of insomnia or circadian rhythm disorders [69]. In research, the methodological weaknesses are the sensitivities for sleep misperception and the clinical state of the patients [83-85].

1.4.2 Measures of circadian rhythms

Precise measures of the circadian rhythm can only be done using very elaborate protocols, either in a time-isolation environment in dim light or by using a forced desynchronized protocol. For most studies this is not feasible or necessary [6, 37, 86].

In clinical practice and most experiments, circadian rhythms are measured from the sleepwake processes. Circadian rhythms are the results of our endogenous circadian clocks being influenced by homeostatic processes and by environmental contributions, including exposure to light and our usual patterns of daily living. Measures of circadian rhythms can be made continuously or repeatedly over a period of time to capture oscillation. In theory, it is possible to use any neuroendocrine, physiological, psychological or cellular functions that oscillate with circadian rhythms: body temperature, hormones such as melatonin, cortisol, and so on [6, 37, 86].

In the last decade, melatonin has become the most used marker for circadian rhythms, and it is regarded by many as the optimal marker [86, 87]. Melatonin can be measured in any body fluid, although saliva is most frequently used. The saliva test is sensitive to contamination from food and drinks. Dim light melatonin onset (DLMO) is often the preferred melatonin measure because it can be done before sleep [86, 88]. It is possible to use a defined threshold level of melatonin (often > 4 pg/ml) for estimating the circadian rhythm. Since melatonin production is inhibited by light, the measure is done in dim light, often less than 10 lux. Conducting an accurate melatonin test is demanding and it is thus less useful in the clinic. There seems to be a phase relationship between the melatonin and the sleep midpoint (midpoint between sleep start and wakening). The sleep midpoint is easily measured, and can be useful in clinical practice [86].

Body temperature has circadian variations with a distinct nadir a few hours before wake up time [6, 86]. In older experiments, an anal probe was used for continuous recording of temperature [47], but for obvious reasons, other methods, such as continuous measures of skin or inner ear temperature, are more acceptable to patients. It is also possible to swallow a capsule that measures the temperature in the gut.

An actigraph or a sleep diary measured over a minimum of a week, can measure the circadian rest–activity cycle [6, 86]. These methods are less expensive and easier ways to measure the circadian rhythms and therefore more frequently used in clinical practise. However, these methods are probably more influenced by daily living than the DLMO.

Questionnaires such as the Horne–Östberg Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ)

are often used for assessing the preference of circadian rhythms (chronotype) [89]. Questionnaires of chronotype seem to correlate with the DLMO [90] and results from actigraphy [91]. However, responses in questionnaires are subjective, influenced by what the participants believe to be preferred sleep-wake habits, and probably also more influenced by daily living than the DLMO.

New studies have explored the possibility of estimating circadian rhythms by analyses of cellular circadian processes in blood samples [87].

1.4.3 Sleep duration

Sleep duration changes through life and usually declines in adulthood [62, 92, 93]. A common assumption is that mean sleep duration in the general population has declined in recent decades. A study conducted over a 50-year period with objective measures of sleep duration could not confirm this [94]. Sleep duration around 7 hours is common among healthy adults [62]. Less than 6 hours and more than 9–10 hours of sleep duration are often associated with health risks [62, 64, 95]. A study from Denmark found that 3% of the women and 8% of the men had sleep durations less than 6 hours, while 17.5% of the women and 20.2% of the men slept for 9 hours or more [64].

Sleep duration in patients with DSWPD is normal, in the range of 6–8 hours, and does not usually differ from controls [57, 96]. This is consistent with the diagnostic criteria in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V) [97] and the International Classification of Sleep Disorders, Second Edition (ICSD-2) [98]. Patients with DSWPD are expected to have normal sleep duration if allowed to choose their preferred schedule.

We have found no published studies of sleep duration in acute or emergency psychiatric populations. In patients with affective disorders, decreased need for sleep is one of several possible criteria for mania, but is not obligatory. In a population of outpatients, Gruber found a correlation between short sleep duration and increased mania severity scores [99].

Between the affective episodes, patients with bipolar disorder have demonstrated both longer [71], and unaltered sleep durations compared with healthy controls [84]. However, a meta-

8

analysis from 2015 found that the mean sleep duration seems to be longer for patients with bipolar disorder than for healthy controls [100].

At discharge from a psychiatric hospital in Germany, the patients completed a questionnaire about their sleep during their hospital stay. Patients with schizophrenia reported a mean sleep duration of 7.7 SD \pm 1.6 hours, while 8% reported sleeping for less than 6 hours and 2% for more than 10 hours [1]. Others have reported longer sleep duration among stable outpatients with schizophrenia compared to healthy controls [101]. In a large population of patients with schizophrenia, also including inpatients in acute psychiatric settings, an association was found between sleep duration of less than 6 hours and substance use [102].

Reduced sleep duration has been associated with increased severity and more symptoms both in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder [8, 99, 103, 104].

1.4.4 Variability of sleep duration

In the last 10 years, a limited number of studies describing intra-individual variability in sleep duration between nights have been published [105, 106]. Among college adolescents, intraindividual variability in time in bed and sleep onset latency were associated with negative mood (composite of self-reported depression and anxiety) [107]. Great intra-individual variability of total sleep time is related to poor subjective sleep quality and well-being [108]. Whether lack of stability in sleep duration has any negative impact on health parameters has not been clarified [61, 105, 106, 109].

In a general population, the intra-individual variability of sleep duration over a period of 14 days was found to be around 1 hour [61, 110]. In a population-based study of Hispanics high variability in sleep time, defined as SD > 1.5 hours, was found in 34% of participants who slept for less than 7 hours, 22% who slept for 7–9 hours, and 27% who slept for 9 hours or more [111].

In a study using actigraphy, Burgess found that patients with DSWPD had significantly more variability in total sleep time than healthy controls [96].

We have found no published studies describing intra-individual variability of sleep duration in populations from psychiatric acute or emergency services. In euthymic bipolar disorder

outpatients, some studies indicate that patients have greater night-to-night variability in sleep duration than healthy controls [71]. This is also confirmed by a 2015 meta-analysis [100]. In stable outpatients with schizophrenia, the intra-individual variability in sleep was found to be two to three times greater compared to a healthy control group [101].

In patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, increased intra-individual variability of sleep duration is associated with increased severity and more symptoms [99, 103, 104].

1.4.5 Circadian rhythms

Our circadian rhythms and the battle to stay in harmony with the 24-hour day/night shifts affect us all [35]. For many people, bedtime and wake-up time vary during the week due to our commitments [112]. The preferred and most comfortable, habitual wake-up time on days off can give an impression of a person's chronotype. The morning type prefers to wake up early and functions best in the morning, while the evening type prefers to go to bed late and functions best in the evening [113]. The chronotype in an individual changes through life [112]. In children, the morning type is most prevalent, in adolescents, evening type is most prevalent, and in older adults, morning type is again most prevalent [112, 114].

DSWPD is regarded as a syndrome with delayed sleep-wake phase. It is the most frequent circadian rhythm disorder [5, 115]. In a Norwegian study using clinical assessments with sleep diaries, 0.17% of the adult population had such extreme delayed sleep phases that they could not keep up with the 24-hour rhythm and sleep at the desired time to function well [116]. They were defined as having DSWPD. A more recent study based on self-report found that 8.4% of high school students in Norway could possibly have DSWPD [117]. The changes in our society in recent decades, such as having more light and activity in the evening, may contribute to this large difference in the prevalence of DSWPD. However, the differences may also at least partly be explained by methodological differences in the studies, such as differences in populations, measures used, and definitions of DSWPD [5].

In a study of 40 patients admitted in acute crises to a psychiatric hospital, it was found that 11 (27.5%) were morning, 16 (40%) were intermediate and 13 (32.5%) were evening chronotypes [76]. Depressive disorders are associated with the evening chronotype, and evening chronotype may also be a trait marker of bipolar disorder [118-120]. However, others still claim that there are too few studies to conclude about possible associations between

bipolar disorder and specific chronotypes [100]. Many clinically stabilized outpatients with schizophrenia are described to have irregularities in their sleep-wake cycles [121-123], but the associations with chronotypes are less clear [67].

In patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, circadian disturbances may be associated with more symptoms [8].

1.5 Sleep at night and behaviour the next day

Changes in behaviour, brain function and cognition are common after disturbed sleep [25, 26, 28, 29]. Based upon our clinical experience, patients with DSWPD themselves and their relatives complain about the patients' difficulties in waking up. The relatives observe that the patients are cognitively affected, or "slow" in the morning.

In acute psychiatric populations in PICUs, sleep is monitored daily both to give an indication of the severity of the illness and as a measure of possible improvements of the condition. Deterioration of the illness may indicate increased risk of aggression, a common and serious behavioural problem in acute and emergency psychiatry [124].

1.5.1 DSWPD, threshold of awakening and cognition in the morning

Inability to wake up at a desired and socially acceptable time is one of the criteria for the diagnosis of DSWPD. However, studies that examine the threshold of awakening by external stimuli among these patients is lacking.

According to Borbély and the two-process theory, "slow wave sleep (SWS) is a deeper form of sleep and therefore a high arousal threshold must be expected". This is supported by experiential data [36]. Studies have explored awakening from sound pollution, such as door slamming, gun firing [125], or trains passing at night [126]. Most sound levels have been less than 70 dB, and the awakening thresholds from the different sleep stages could not be established [125, 126]. The studies on awakening thresholds are mostly old and focused on healthy subjects. The studies mainly show that auditory awakening thresholds are higher in SWS than in REM sleep, and the awakening thresholds seem to increase after sleep deprivation [127]. A more recent study found that DSWPD patients frequently are in deep sleep in the morning when many of them need to get out of bed to go to school or work, usually between 6 and 8 a.m. [88]. We have however, found no published studies examining the awakening thresholds in patients with DSWPD.

Cognitive functions in humans are influenced by the homeostatic process, the circadian process and sleep inertia. Sleep inertia is a transitory impairment in cognitive and sensory-motor performances after awakening. It improves in the first hours of wakefulness. Patients with evening chronotypes seem to have more long-lasting problems with sleep inertia than those with morning chronotypes [128, 129].

Confusion, difficulty in focusing and problems with concentrating are common symptoms upon morning awakening in DSWPD [97]. There are only a few published studies examining cognition in patients with DSWPD. In a recent study, no difference in cognitive function between healthy controls and patients with DSWPD was found [130]. The cognitive test was conducted approximated 2 hours after the wake-up time in the weekends. This is assumed to be more concurrent with the circadian rhythm of the person than a forced awakening time that allows the person to reach school or work. A Norwegian randomized controlled treatment study in patients with DSWPD, found that treatment with bright light and melatonin improved day time cognitive function [131]. There is a lack of studies on difficulties in awakening and its effects on cognitive function in the morning in patients with DSWPD.

1.5.2 Aggression in acute psychiatry

In Norway, acute psychiatric wards are traditionally divided into an ordinary area and a psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) area [132]. The PICUs are used for patients in need of intensive observations and/or containment of challenging behaviours. The PICUs often consist of a sitting room, bathroom, toilet and a limited number of patient rooms. The principles of treatment in Norwegian PICUs are similar to what the international literature calls "open area seclusion". The goals for the intervention are improvement of symptoms through reduction of sensory and emotional stimuli, and control of behaviour based on containment of the person [132, 133]. In their studies on a PICU, Vaaler et al found no support for the traditional beliefs that sparsely decorated interiors reduce symptoms and aggressive behaviour [134], but found that segregation in a PICU may have favourable effects on aggressive incidents [16]. Patients in these studies are among the patients included in Paper 2 in this thesis.



Figure 2. Sketch of a psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) area.

Violence and aggression, according to the NICE guidelines [135], refer to a range of behaviours or actions that can result in harm, hurt or injury to another person, regardless of whether the violence or aggression is expressed physically or verbally, the physical harm is sustained, or the intention is clear.

Aggression is a natural behaviour, but seldom regarded as a positive and adequate response neither in society nor in psychiatric wards [124, 133, 136, 137]. It is a complex response based on the person's biological factors, such as brain functions or dysfunctions, impulsiveness and cognitive capacity. It is influenced by the person's experiences and learning earlier in life. Aggression can be triggered by social settings, such as involuntary admittance to hospital and/or another person's attitudes. In psychiatric departments, aggression is often triggered by the use of psychoactive drugs, and/or the presence of psychiatric symptoms, such as psychosis and agitation [136-140]. In studies the different measures of aggression vary from self-reports of feelings or thoughts [141, 142], to observations of violence or aggressive incidents [136, 143, 144].

In acute and emergency psychiatry, aggressive behaviour is a major challenge with negative consequences for patients and staff [124, 135, 136, 143, 145, 146]. It is found that one out of

five patients admitted to an acute psychiatric unit may commit an act of violence, 75-100 % of the nurses have been assaulted by patients, and annually one-third of the total nursing costs are connected to managing violence and aggression [135, 145, 147]. Predicting aggressive incidents is important in order to implement preventive measures for specific patients [124, 133, 148, 149]. A number of risk factors for violence have been described [135, 145, 150, 151], as previous violence, personality disorders, impulsivity or instability, substance abuse, major mental illness, lack of insight, future stress situations, unrealistic planning, and lack of support.

The psychometric instruments developed for prediction or risk assessment of violence, as HCR-20 [152] and V-Risk 10 [153], are based on such risk factors. However, in the acute setting these instruments have limitations. They often require more information than available in an acute admission, or the time frame for the prediction may be weeks, months or years ahead, not pin-pointing the next hours or day as desired in an acute ward [135, 147, 154]. The risk factors described in these previous studies vary with the studied population and the setting of the studies. Risk-assessment instruments based upon these risk factors have limited accuracy in acute and emergency psychiatry [135, 155-159].

In highly selected populations with the time frame for assessment as short as a day, there are developed checklists and short questionnaires [135] based on the nurses' observations of behaviour. Examples of instruments for the short-term prediction of violence are the Dynamic Appraisal of Situational Aggression – Inpatient Version (DASA-IV) [160, 161], and the Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) [162, 163].

None of the instruments for the short-term prediction of violence based on observed behaviour include sleep as a variable. The nurses in a PICU usually observe sleep, if the patient moves, or communicates verbally or non-verbally through the night. As an observation of behaviour, it has thus similarity to the items of the instruments for short time prediction of violence as the BVC.

In a systematic review of the existing literature on sleep and aggression, the authors conclude that the larger part of the literature supports a correlation between subjective poor sleep and irritability, hostility and aggression [164]. Although sleep disturbances seldom result in physical aggression, the risk might increase in vulnerable individuals [164]. Studies of sleep and aggression are limited, and the interpretation of the results is difficult because of the lack of standardization of definitions and measures of aggression and sleep. The interpretation is

14

also complicated by the mix of studies from different clinical and non-clinical settings [142, 144, 164-166].

There is a lack of studies on the associations between sleep at night and aggression the next day in psychiatric acute and emergency wards. Assessments of sleep could possibly improve our ability to predict imminent violence.

1.6 Research questions and Aims

The overall research question of the thesis was how does observed sleep disturbances' impact behaviour and functioning the next day in patients admitted to a psychiatric clinic. In clinical samples and by using assessment that are in daily clinical use, to study how sleep disturbances influence cognitions, length of stays in PICU and occurrence of aggressive behaviour. Finally, to study if items assessing sleep improve short-term prediction of violent and threatening incidents in the PICU.

Paper I: The aims were:

- to quantify the awakening threshold in DSWPD patients with an alarm clock
- to compare changes in cognitive function between time of awakening and the evening in patients with DSWPD and healthy controls
- to assess whether problems with awakening are associated with a specific sleep stage (SWS in particular).

Paper II: The aims were:

- to explore whether sleep duration of a single night, or night-to-night variations in sleep duration over the first two nights predict length of stay in the PICU
- to compare sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration among patients with schizophrenia, mania or other psychiatric disorders in the PICU.

Paper III: The aims were:

• to explore whether sleep duration, or night-to-night variations in sleep duration in the PICU are associated with observer-rated aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents the next day

• to test whether sleep duration the first night after admittance, or night-to-night variations of sleep duration between the first two nights are associated with aggressive incidents later in the patient's stay.

Paper IV: The aim was:

• to investigate whether the predictive properties of the BVC increase by adding a variable assessing sleep.

2. Methods

All four papers in this thesis are based on data from studies of sleep and behaviour in patients admitted to the Department of Psychiatry, Østmarka, St Olav's University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway. In Paper I, we recruited patients referred to the "Sleep clinic". This is a research-oriented, outpatient clinic focusing on insomnia and circadian rhythm disorders, with about 200 patients referred each year. The data were collected at the Sleep laboratory, Department of Neuromedicine and Movement Science, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), in co-operation with the Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, St Olav's University Hospital.

Papers II, III and IV are based on data from inpatients acutely admitted to the PICUs at the acute psychiatric wards at the Department of Psychiatry. Norwegian psychiatric inpatient services are publicly funded, catchment-area based and available to everyone. All patients (\geq 18 years) in the catchment area in need of acute psychiatric inpatient services are referred to this department. Referrals to other psychiatric hospitals only take place if the patient temporarily resides outside the catchment area at the time of admittance.

2.1 Paper I

2.1.1 Participants

Nine of 37 patients in the outpatient sleep clinic who fulfilled the DSM-IV (307.45) diagnostic criteria for circadian rhythm sleep disorder [167], and the ICSD-2 criteria for DSWPD [98] were included in the study. The nine patients were asked to participate because they stated clearly that they were difficult to wake in the morning. The sample consisted of four males and five females with a mean age of 22.5 years (SD \pm 2.2, range 18–25 years). Subjects with coexisting major health problems, such as impaired hearing, severe somatic or psychiatric disorders, other sleep disorders or regular use of psychoactive drugs in the last 4 weeks, were excluded.

Nine healthy subjects were recruited after posting an announcement on the University's homepage and local campus boards. The controls consisted of four males and five females with a mean age of 23.3 years (SD \pm 2.4, range 18–28 years).

17

2.1.2 Procedure

Physicians with experience in the treatment of sleep disorders diagnosed the patients by using a semi-structured interview before inclusion. The assessment battery consisted of Morin's Insomnia Interview Schedule [168] with the screening questions for psychiatric disorder from the Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-III-R [169], and description and diagnostic criteria from the ICSD-2 [98].

The participants completed 14 days of sleep diary, 7 days of actigraphy, and a home PSG to minimize the "first-night effect" of PSG before the experimental night. On the intervention day, the participants arrived at the sleep laboratory at 14.00. They first completed the Conners' continuous performance test (CCPT II) at 15.00, and afterwards the psychiatric and sleep-related questionnaires. At 18.00, the light was dimmed to < 200 lux. From 19.00 to bedtime at midnight, sampling of saliva was done hourly for melatonin testing. The alarm clock was activated at 07.00. The starting sound level was set at 72 dB, increasing by 2 dB at equal intervals (sound active for 4.4 seconds with 5-second intervals) to a maximum of 104 dB after 3 minutes. The procedure stopped when the patient woke up. The participants who did not react during the procedure were woken up by the staff in the laboratory. They also recorded time and dB value. Six minutes after waking up, the participants completed the CCPT II test, with identical instructions as the day before.



Figure 3. Procedure for the experimental night (made and provided by Brandy Solheim).

2.1.3. Assessments

Actigraphy

The participants carried actigraphs (AW4, CamNtech Ltd, Cambridge, UK) that recorded movements, acceleration, light exposure, and 30-second epochs with medium sensitivity for 7 days. We used sleep start and sleep end for analyses.

Polysomnography

The participants slept in a standard hospital bed within a shielded video-PSG laboratory. A Somnoscreen 10-20 monitor (SOMNOmedics GmbH, Randersacker, Germany) using a standard PSG montage with electroencephalography electrodes, electro-oculography electrodes, an O₂ finger sensor, electromyography electrodes, a nasal airflow sensor and an oro-nasal thermistor, were used. Video and sound were recorded continuously. Polysomnograms were analysed by a blinded, certified clinical neurophysiologist, according to standardized criteria [170] using Domino software version 2.5.0.

Melatonin

Two samples of ≥ 2 mL salvia were collected, placed in a refrigerator at 4 °C within 10 minutes after collection, and later placed in a freezer at < -20 °C. The samples were analysed with the Non-Extraction Melatonin Saliva enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit, supplied by IBL International GmbH (Hamburg, Germany).

The samples taken at 20.00, 21.00 and 22.00 were used to calculate baseline levels of melatonin. Melatonin secretion onset was defined if concentrations measured at 23.00 or 24.00 were either more than twice the baseline value, or baseline +2.5 standard deviations (SD) [171]. Delayed melatonin onset was presumed if concentrations had not reached one of the cut-off values at 00.00.

Sleep diary

In a graphic sleep diary, the participants shaded (or did not shade) 24 small rectangular boxes, each representing 1 hour of the day. The sleep diary was completed 14 days prior to the experimental night.

Self-report questionnaires
The Horne–Östberg Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ) is a 19-item questionnaire assessing preference of circadian rhythm and chronotype [89]. The MEQ has four or five possible response options on each item giving a scoring range of 16–86.

The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) is a 21-item rating scale assessing the degree of depressive symptoms. It has four possible responses from 0 to 3 on each item, giving a scoring range of 0–63 [172].

Continuous performance test

The CCPT II [173, 174] was used to assess cognitive function. For 14 minutes, the letters A– Z were each presented for 250 milliseconds on a computer screen. The letters were presented in a pseudorandom fashion with inter-stimulus intervals varying between 1, 2 and 4 seconds. The letter X was presented 36 times. It was defined as the non-target. Letters other than X were presented 324 times. These letters were defined as targets. The participants were instructed to press a button as quickly as possible whenever a target was presented. Measures were:

- Hit-RT: Mean reaction time for pressing a button after a target (letter other than X) was presented on the screen (mean time for correct responses).

- Commission errors: Number of times a button was pressed after the non-target (letter X) was presented on the screen (number of failures to withhold a response).

- Omission errors: Number of times a button was not pressed after a target (letter other than X) was presented on the screen (number of failed responses).

2.1.4. Data analysis and statistics

The main variables were: CPT Hit-RT evening–morning difference; alarm clock level upon awakening; and sleep stage on awakening. Subjects who did not wake up before the alarm reached 104 dB were analysed at 105 dB. Subjects who were awake at 07.00 were analysed at 71 dB.

Each of the three CPT performance measures (Hit-RT, commission errors, omission errors) were analysed with ANOVA tests with groups (patients, controls) and time (afternoon, morning) as fixed factors. In the case of statistically significant main or interaction effects, planned simple contrasts were performed.

The PSG, actigraphy, questionnaire, and sleep diary variables were analysed with nonparametric Mann–Whitney *U*-tests or Wilcoxon signed rank tests. Differences in proportions were tested with a standardized normal deviate. For exploratory correlation analyses within the patient group, non-parametric Spearman's rho was used. A significance level of p < 0.05was applied.

2.2 Papers II, III and IV

2.2.1 Setting

The Department of Psychiatry, Østmarka, had a catchment area of 140,000 inhabitants from both the city of Trondheim (50%) and the rural areas (50%) in Sør-Trøndelag County at the time of the study. About 700 inpatients over 18 years of age were admitted each year.

The hospital had two acute wards, each consisting of an ordinary ward area and a PICU area. The PICU was used for containment of the most behaviourally disturbed patients. The PICU consisted of two separate wings, each with a sitting room, bathroom, toilet and two single patient rooms.

The PICU had allocated nurses who were with the patients and observed them continuously, or at 3–30-minute intervals, depending on the state of the patient. The patients received treatment as usual, including medication. The PICU patients were segregated from other areas of the department. The patients were expected to stay in their rooms and sleep between 22.30 and 07.30, and they were encouraged to come to breakfast at 08.30.

2.2.2 Participants

The participants were all patients admitted to one of the two PICUs. To be included in the study the patients had to stay at least one night. PICU-1 included patients in two periods of 4 and 5 months. PICU-2 included patients in one period of 6 months. This period overlapped with the second period of PICU-1.

Paper II presents data from patients admitted to both PICUs. One patient was excluded due to severe dementia. Patients with multiple admittances were only included once.

Papers III and IV present the same set of data from PICU-2. Some individuals were admitted and included more than once in these studies.

Subgroups of patients

Diagnoses were made in accordance with the ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for research [175], and agreed at a weekly consensus meeting in the department. A minimum of two experienced specialists in psychiatry and/or clinical psychology took part in the meetings. At least one of them had personally examined the patient. Patients with a main or secondary diagnosis from F20 to F29, (Chapter Schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders) were defined as patients with schizophrenia. Patients with a main or secondary diagnosis from F30.0 to F31.2 were defined as patients with mania.

Paper II analyses a population of patients dominated by patients with a main diagnosis of schizophrenia or mania. These diagnostic groups were compared with the rest of the patients, who were defined as having other psychiatric disorders.

Paper III analyses a population of patients dominated by a main diagnosis of schizophrenia. They were compared with the rest of the patients, who were defined as having other psychiatric disorders.

2.2.3 Procedure

The patients in need of acute psychiatric inpatient care were admitted to the closed acute ward with the most available beds. The physician on duty, together with the nurses, evaluated functioning, symptoms and behaviour and decided whether the patients should be treated in an ordinary, closed ward or in the PICU. Based on the state of the patient, the physicians on duty or the therapists on the ward decided whether the patients were to be observed continuously or at 3–30-minute intervals [16, 176]. Discharge from the PICU occurred following a joint decision among the staff in the ward after taking into account levels of symptoms, general functioning and behaviour. There were no written criteria for admittance or discharge in the PICU [16].

Measures of sleep, aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents were recorded as part of the routine, clinical practices in the wards. Brief training of the nursing staff was provided as part of the routines in the unit.

The nurses in the PICU registered the time patients were observed to sleep both in the medical

records and in a separate sleep diary. The nurses observed the patients at least every 30 minutes throughout the night, often more frequently, either by opening the door into the patient's room, or by staying in the same room as the patient. The staff was instructed to record if a patient was considered "to be sleeping" according to their own clinical judgement.

The nurses registered BVC three times daily after being with the patients for 1 hour in the morning, afternoon or night. Nurses who witnessed threatening or aggressive incidents registered them with the SOAS-R [177, 178].

2.2.4. Assessments

Sleep

The sleep diary consisted of a column for each 24 hours and a square for each 30 minutes (Appendix 1). The sleep duration in a day was defined as observed sleep from 12 noon to 12 noon (paper II-IV).

Due to the possible significance of variability of sleep [61, 106, 109], the absolute difference in sleep duration between two nights was defined as a measure of variability (paper II-IV). Therefore, the absolute value of both longer and shorter sleep duration was used as a measure of variability. Due to short stays in the PICUs (i.e. median 3 days) we measured between two consecutive days. This measure is easy to implement in the clinic.

The absolute difference between the night with the longest and the night with the shortest sleep duration was calculated. Data for the first three nights and the first seven nights are reported (Paper II).

The variables for sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration between two nights were categorized, and they defined a combined variable called "sleep disturbance" on a 0-2 scale (Paper IV):

	0 points	1 point	2 points
Sleep duration	\geq 6 hours	4–6 hours	\leq 4 hours
Night-to-night variations in sleep duration	\leq 2 hours	2–4 hours	\geq 4 hours

The item "sleep disturbance" was constructed in this manner due to several reasons. To be compatible with checklists assessing short term risk of violence (for instance the BVC), a categorical scale was chosen. To retain the dimensional aspect of sleep a three-points scale was chosen. The scale should also be easy to implement in daily clinical practice. The boundaries of the scale were chosen based on the association between sleep and psychiatric symptoms reported in the introduction of the thesis. Sleep duration less than 6 hours seems to be associated with health risks [64]. Mean sleep duration of psychiatric patients are often found to be equal or longer than healthy subjects [1, 100], while the intra-individual variability in sleep duration of 1 hour in the general population [61, 110] is somewhat longer in stabilized psychiatric out-patients [71, 101].

Sleep disturbance was defined as: (Sleep duration + Night-to-night variation in sleep duration)/2. For the first night of admission, the points from sleep duration were used to calculate sleep disturbance.

BVC

The Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) is a six-item checklist of behaviours that predict imminent aggressive incidents in psychiatric inpatients (24-hour perspective) [162, 163] (Appendix 2). BVC is easy to use, has been extensively tested and has good psychometric properties [135]. The nurses on the ward rate whether six different behaviours are present or not: Being confused, irritable, boisterous, verbally threatening, physically threatening and/or attacking objects. Each item is scored 1 if present or 0 if not, giving a scoring range of 0 to 6. The BVC sum score is often categorized in three groups to recommend when preventive measures should be taken; small risk of violence (0), moderate risk of violence (1–2) and high risk of violence (> 2). The BVC is usually assessed three times daily. In the present study, we used the highest of the morning or the evening scores [159, 179].

BVC-Sleep

In Paper IV, we reported data for a mixed variable to predict aggression called BVC-sleep. This variable is the sum of the sleep disturbance scores for one night, and the highest scores of the morning or the evening scores in BVC from the next day. The BVC-sleep has a scoring range of 0 to 8.

SOAS-R

Aggressive incidents were recorded by the nurses with the SOAS-R [177, 178] (Appendix 3). The SOAS-R is a widely used instrument to record violent incidents in mental health care settings, and it rates both the nature and severity of aggressive incidents. SOAS-R consists of five columns: provocation, means, target, consequences for victims and measures taken to stop aggression.

2.2.5. Data analysis and statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 21-24 for MAC. An alpha level of < 0.05 was employed. The data are reported as means and standard deviations (SDs), medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs). Categorical data were analysed with chi-square tests or Fisher's Exact tests. Normally distributed data were analysed with Student's *t*-tests or ANOVA, data not normally distributed were analysed with Mann–Whitney *U*-tests, and correlations with Spearman's rank coefficient (Spearman's rho). In Paper IV, the sleep variables sleep duration, night-to-night variations and sleep disturbance were defined before the calculations, and receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC curve) and area under the curve (AUC) with confidence intervals (CIs) were used to analyse the variables' ability to predict aggressive incidents. No missing data replacements were used.

The sample size needed was not calculated before the study started. Previous studies could not give an estimate of results and the included number of patients was based on the capacity of the department.

2.3 Ethics

The studies were all approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway.

In Paper I, the patients were included after an ordinary consultation. All participants were at least 18 years old. They gave a written, informed consent to participate. The treatment of DSWPD was delayed by 2 weeks due to the procedures of the study. This was not expected to have any effects on treatment outcomes. The participants in the study received a small amount of money to cover their extra costs.

All the data used in Papers II, III and IV were collected as part of ordinary, routine clinical practice in the department.

3. Results

Paper I

Difficult morning awakening from rapid eye movement sleep and impaired cognitive function in delayed sleep phase disorder patients.

Brandy Solheim, Knut Langsrud, Håvard Kallestad, Alexander Olsen, Bjørn Bjorvatn, Trond Sand.

Sleep Medicine 15 (2014) 1264–1268

Abstract

Objectives: Difficult awakening is a key symptom of delayed sleep phase disorder (DSPD), but no studies have quantified awakening thresholds in a sleep laboratory. This study assessed whether cognitive function was impaired after awakening and whether difficult awakening was associated with specific polysomnographic features such as slow wave sleep stage N3.

Methods: Nine patients with delayed sleep phase disorder (DSPD) and nine sex- and agematched healthy controls were included. Polysomnography was performed at our university hospital from midnight. An alarm clock was activated at 07.00 with sound intensity increasing from 72 to 104 dB. Participants performed a continuous performance test (CPT) the previous afternoon and immediately upon awakening.

Results: Three DSPD patients and zero controls did not wake up to the maximum 104 dB alarm sound; all three patients were in rapid eye movement (REM) sleep when the alarm clock went off (difference in proportions, p = 0.047). In patients, CPT reaction time was prolonged in the morning compared with the afternoon [analysis of variance (ANOVA) interaction, p = 0.01]. DSPD patients made more omission errors than controls regardless of the time of the day (ANOVA main effect, p = 0.046).

Conclusion: Difficulty awakening from slow wave sleep was not observed. A subgroup of DSPD patients may have a severe problem waking up from REM sleep. DSPD patients may also have had a state-like impairment in cognitive function in the morning and a trait-like impairment not depending on time of day, compared with normal sleepers.

Paper II

Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit. Knut Langsrud, Arne E. Vaaler, Håvard Kallestad, Gunnar Morken. Psychiatry Research 237 (2016) 252–256

Abstract

Objectives: Systematic evaluations of the relationship between sleep patterns and length of stay in psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs) are lacking. The aims of the present study were to explore whether sleep duration or night-to-night variations in sleep duration the first nights predict length of stay in a PICU.

Methods: Consecutive patients admitted to a PICU were included (N = 135) and the nurses registered the time patients were observed sleeping.

Results: In the three first nights, the mean sleep duration was 7.5 (\pm 3.2) hours. Sleep duration the first night correlated negatively with the length of stay for patients with schizophrenia. The mean difference in sleep duration between nights one and two was 3.3 (\pm 3.0) hours and correlated with length of stay for the whole group of patients, but especially for patients with schizophrenia.

Conclusion: Patients of all diagnostic groups admitted to the PICU had pronounced intraindividual night-to-night variations in sleep duration. Stabilizing night-to-night variations of sleep duration might be a major goal in treatment.

Paper III

Sleep at night and association with aggressive behaviour; patients in a psychiatric intensive care unit.

Knut Langsrud, Håvard Kallestad, Arne Einar Vaaler, Roger Almvik, Tom Palmstierna, Gunnar Morken.

Psychiatry Research 263 (2018) 275–279

Abstract

Objectives: Evaluations of associations between sleep at night and aggressive behaviour in psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs) are lacking. The aims were to explore whether sleep duration or night-to-night variations in sleep duration correlated with aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents the next day and through the whole admission period.

Methods: Forty patients with 50 consecutive admissions to a PICU were included (521 nights). Nurses registered the time patients slept, aggressive behaviour with the Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) and aggressive incidents with the Staff Observation Aggression Scale-Revised (SOAS-R).

Results: At admission, short sleep duration the first night correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day. Admissions with violent incidents had a median of 4.0 hours difference in sleep between nights one and two, compared with 2.1 hours difference for the rest of the admissions. During the stay, large absolute differences in sleep duration between two nights correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day and short sleep duration was associated with violent incidents.

Conclusion: Short sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration were both associated with increased risk for aggression in PICUs. This observation might help to predict and prevent aggressive incidents.

Paper IV

The Predictive Properties of Violence Risk Instruments May Increase by Adding Items Assessing Sleep. Knut Langsrud, Arne Vaaler, Gunnar Morken, Håvard Kallestad, Roger Almvik, Tom Palmstierna, Ismail C. Güzey. Frontiers in Psychiatry 10 (2019) 323 (doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00323)

Abstract

Background: The psychometric instruments developed for short-term prediction of violence in psychiatric inpatients do not include variables assessing sleep. Disturbances in sleep may precede aggression in this setting. We investigated whether adding information on sleep improved the predictive properties of the Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC). *Methods:* The study population consists of all patients admitted to a psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) over a 6-month period who were hospitalized for at least one night (n = 50). Sleep observed by staff (521 nights), behaviour assessed with the BVC (433 days), and aggressive incidents recorded by the Staff Observation Scale-Revised (n = 14) were included in the analysis.

Results: The ability of the BVC to predict aggressive incidents improved from AUC_{ROC} 0.757 to AUC_{ROC} 0.873 when a combined sleep variable including both sleep duration and night-tonight variations of sleep duration was added to the BVC recordings. The combined sleep variable did not significantly predict aggressive incidents (AUC_{ROC} 0.653, p = 0.051).

Conclusions: A sleep disturbance variable improves the predictive properties of the BVC in PICUs. Further studies of sleep duration, night-to-night variations in duration of sleep, and aggression are needed.

4. Discussion

4.1 Discussion of Methods

4.1.1 Participants

The present thesis is based on data from different groups of highly selected patients admitted to the Department of Psychiatry, Østmarka. The patients were all suffering from disorders having major impact on their lives. The patients in the clinic were admitted only after a physician's referral (usually the patient's GP).

The patients in study I were a selected group from the outpatient clinic specializing in sleep disorders. The patients who stated that they had problems with waking up were asked to participate. Many of the included patients had marginal work or social functioning, while participants with DSWPD in other sleep studies have usually been recruited from schools or universities.

The patients in study II-IV were acutely admitted to a PICU. They belonged to the group of acute patients with the most disturbed behaviours. Patients with psychiatric disorders recruited to clinical studies are usually outpatients or inpatients from rehabilitation departments with longer stays.

The results from the present studies may thus not be generalized to other groups of patients with DSWPD or psychiatric disorders recruited from other patient groups.

The patients in study I had higher scores on the BDI than the controls, indicating a higher burden of depressive symptoms. We cannot exclude the possibility that this has affected the results. Depressive episodes are associated with changes in sleep patterns and cognition [180]. In the clinical examination before the study, none of the patients were considered to be in need of treatment for depression. In healthy adolescents, Baum found that sleep restriction was associated with impairment of mood [28]. Murray found an association between depressive symptoms and circadian misalignment in patients with DSWPD [181]. Bei found an association between intra-individual variability of time in bed, sleep onset latency and negative mood among adolescents going to secondary college [107]. This may explain the BDI scores in our patients. We cannot exclude the possibility that the patients and the controls differed on other, unmeasured parameters than circadian rhythm and depression, which might have affected sleep, awakening and cognition.

The broad inclusion in Papers II, III and IV implies that the study populations were diagnostically heterogeneous, but representative for the total population admitted to PICUs.

The small sample size and large variations within the group of patients limited the opportunity to detect differences between the patients and the controls in paper I, and between sub-populations among patients in paper II-IV.

4.1.2 Design

All studies were conducted with patients in unfamiliar environments that differ from their habitual surroundings. There was no adjustment of sleep time before inclusion in the studies, and the sleep time in the studies were not adjusted to the participants' circadian rhythm. This may have had an impact on the results.

In paper I we attempted to control the environmental factors to ensure non-biased data. However, the consequence of this is a restricted and unfamiliar laboratory setting. Paper II-IV was conducted in a clinical setting as naturalistic as possible, but unfamiliar to most of the patients. The daily routines, staff and treatments were unaltered during the collection of data. Naturalistic studies in acute and emergency psychiatric populations are scarce and thus highly needed. However, in a daily clinical setting, many factors can interact with sleep and behaviour, such as medication, restrictions of behaviours, timing of lights being turned on and off for each patient, and interactions with other patients and nurses. We were not able to control or record all these factors. Other factors that might affect the patients' behaviour and course of illness such as multiple prior admissions, pharmacological treatment, compliance with treatment, and levels of symptoms were not recorded.

The stimulation-deprived milieus in the laboratory and PICUs may have influenced the participants to go to sleep earlier. It is a possibility that this has had an impact on the participants, and a greater impact on the patients than the controls in paper I. It may also have had a different impact on patients from the different diagnostic groups in paper II-IV. The assessments of sleep duration may have been affected by these factors. Thus, the results must be interpreted with some caution.

Bedtime in the laboratory was 24.00 to 7.00. Patient with DSWPD can seldom fall asleep at 24.00. Thus, a difference in total sleep time on the experimental night between patients and controls was expected.

Bedtime in the PICU was 22.30 to 7.30. The patients were encouraged to come to breakfast at 8.30, and to avoid daytime napping. Thus, the circadian rhythm of the wards may be unusual

for the patients and take some time to adjust to. The fixed bedtimes may have affected the results in the studies.

The light in the laboratory was dimmed to less than 200 lux. It is a matter of debate whether DSWPD patients are more sensitive to evening lights than controls [115, 182]. Thus, the influence of the light on the results might have been different on the patients than on the controls [182]. However, taking into consideration the more recent information about the inter-individual variability in sensitivity to night light, and that melatonin suppression can occur at less than 30 lux, we would have chosen to dim the light more in the study [182, 183]. There was no evening dimmed light in the PICU, and the PICU had large windows directed to the east. The inter-individual differences in sensitivity for evening light [183] may vary between the different diagnostic groups studies.

The inter-individual effects of lights may have affected the findings in the studies.

In paper I participants stayed in the laboratory for only one night. Hence, we could not ascertain with our design whether the CPT findings were related to short sleep duration or to DSWPD itself. A second night in the laboratory with CPT measurements after longer sleep durations would have been appreciated. However, the lack of correlation between Hit-RT difference and total sleep time (TST) suggests that short sleep time could not explain the observed difference. A more recent study has similar findings [184].

The participants in paper I had sleep diaries, and we collected data from actigraphy for the same period. There were no restrictions on behaviour or sleep in the days before the test. The patients may have acted differently than the controls before the experimental day, and this may have influenced the results of the study.

We have no records of sleep before admission to the PICU for the patients in paper II-IV. The sleep before the studies may have affected the results.

4.1.3 Measures

The measures used in the papers are all used on a daily, clinical basis in the hospital.

The chosen objective measures of sleep were polysomnography (PSG) in paper I, and nurses' observation in paper II-IV. Sleep observations have lower reliability than assessments with

polysomnography (PSG) or actigraphy. However, observations of sleep have had satisfactory correlations with PSG and actigraphy in some studies [72, 79-81].

In paper II-IV the staff was instructed to record if a patient was considered "to be sleeping" according to their own clinical judgement. Some patients were observed intermittently, and periods awake might have been missed. Some patients may also have been disturbed in their sleep by the nurses' intermittent observations. Observational data also has the weakness of being a manual procedure with the opportunities for errors in documentation, information being forgotten before it is written down, observations forgotten when nurses are disturbed by patients needing urgent help, and observations being given a lower priority when new staff came on shift. The observation of sleep was not standardized [78], which is a weakness in the study. Nevertheless, we believe that the nurses' frequent observation of sleep is acceptable as a measure of sleep duration, and it is the standard measure in clinical practice in PICUs [76]. PSG is expensive and impossible to use in a PICU because of security requirements. A number of patients in PICUs cannot not be exposed to actigraphs or similar electronic devices due to ethical reasons. A possibility in future research is to use more advanced surveillance technology that is not in direct contact with the patient, but instead is installed in the building.

In paper II-IV, other measures, such as the start and end times of sleep were not analysed.

We are not aware that any standardization of measuring intra-individual variability in sleep duration between nights have been published neither for research nor clinical practice. In paper II-IV we chose the simple measure variation; the differences between the night with the longest and the night with the shortest sleep duration among a chosen number of nights. We chose to use the absolute value to capture variability. We have also chosen to use variability between two consecutive nights as a measure. It can be argued that this is change and not variability. Acute and emergency psychiatry is special with patients having short stays indicating fast improvements in symptoms, behaviour and function. Thus, assessing and evaluating changes in sleep from day to day has clinical importance as well as being practical and reasonable.

The sleep variables for sleep disturbance in Paper IV were defined before the calculations. It is possible that different categorizations of sleep disturbances may improve the prediction of aggressive incidents and give different results.

Nurses' observations of sleep at night is for natural and practical reasons regarded as a measure of sleep. However, it can also be seen as a measure of behaviour, to what extent the patients communicate verbally or non-verbally, move or in other way seem to be awake. We did not have any inter-rater reliability measures of observed sleep prior to inclusions. This is difficult to conduct in a PICU. In theory, two different members of staff could individually have entered the room, observed the patient, and recorded separately with a possibility to calculate an inter-rater reliability. A problem would be that more staff members would be going in and out of the room. This may disturb and wake up the patient. An intention with the study was to conduct it in a natural setting.

The BVC is a psychometric instrument designed for short-term prediction of violence. It consists of six items of observed behaviour: being confused, irritable, boisterous, verbally threatening, physically threatening, and/or attacking objects. Paper III reports the use of the BVC as a measure for observed aggressive behaviour. Behaviours such as verbal threats, physical threats, and/or attacking objects are usually regarded as obviously aggressive incidents. Categorizing behaviours such as being confused, irritable or boisterous as aggression may not be as obvious. However, large multicentre studies from Finland have documented that confused and disorganized behaviour is the leading cause of the use of seclusion or physical restraints [185]. In the present study, the BVC was scored after the nurses had been with the patients for at least one hour. In addition, the scorers usually had access to reports from the rest of the staff. However, it is still possible that some incidents of aggressive behaviour may not have been recorded.

Underreporting of aggressive incidents is an ongoing challenge in psychiatric facilities. In clinical studies, staff and researchers have a special focus on the problem. It is therefore reasonable to believe that underreporting of SOAS-R incidents is limited in the present study. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that some incidents were missed [186]. If incidents were not registered, the results in Papers III and IV would have been affected.

In paper I, CCPT II was chosen as the cognitive test partly because it is relatively simple and straightforward, can be repeated, and is used in the hospital. It was chosen also because it would reflect attentional difficulties that are often reported by patients upon awakening with sleep inertia, and it has been used in previous DSWPD work [131]. It measures only a part of a person's cognitive performance; vigilance, impulsivity, sustained and focused attention

[174]. As with all available neuropsychological tests, the CCPT II is sensitive to motivation, and caution is needed in the interpretation of its scorings.

Cognitive tests are difficult to use in a PICU due to the extent of the patients' symptoms, reduced function and challenging behaviours. If such tests had been part of the research protocol, a major part of the patients had to be excluded. The most affected patients in PICUs are not able to give reliable responses in a satisfactory manner. Thus, cognitive tests were not used. However, if cognitive tests had been used on a minor subpopulation, they may have given important knowledge about the associations between sleep and behaviour next day in PICUs.

4.1.4 Statistics

The main aim of the thesis was to examine associations between sleep and behaviour. The chosen statistical observation-unit of the studies is a 24-hour period; a night with the following day. The 24-hour period is frequently used in clinical practise were each day is seen as a separate observation. The method reported in paper 3 and 4 is a replication of the validation study of BVC by Almvik et al (2000) [187].

In controlled studies of short time prediction of violence, a single day is often regarded as an independent observation [133, 159, 188]. Studies of short time prediction of violence using statistics for multiple measures, do not seems to get different results [158, 188]. Some patients may be represented with several days, others with just one day. The regular PICU patients are dominated by acute crises, challenging behaviour, polysubstance abuse, polydrug use and multiple psychiatric and somatic conditions. The consequences are that a single patient may have very different symptoms, behaviour and function from one day to the next during the single admission, or from one admission to another. This is the reason for regarding single days as individual observations in this context. Paper III and IV are based on data where some patients had multiple admissions, as cases. This will have consequences for the number of partakers in the study, and it may influence the results.

The use of 24 hour period as the statistical unit, and to allow multiple admissions may be regarded as a violations to the assumption of independence of the observations the statics presupposes [189]. However, we regard that the rapid changes in symptoms in individual patients make the choices taken in the studies as reasonable.

The main aims of paper III and IV were to examine associations between the observed sleep and aggressive behaviour the next day, with the ultimate purpose to improve risk assessments. The aims of the studies were not to find causes for aggressive behaviours, but rather to find indicators for risk of violent behaviours in the immediate future. The studies had a limited number of participants, thus the number of covariates that could be used in analyses is very limited [190]. It is not obvious which covariates that would be relevant [135]. Thus, no covariate or cofounders were used in the analyses in paper III and IV. This may be regarded as a weakness of paper III and IV. But on the other hand, with this design of analyses, findings will be relevant for the day-today clinical practice.

In paper III no adjustment for multiple testing was performed. Adjustment for multiple testing are debated [191, 192]. There is a risk that some of the results are by chance and not true associations. Alternatively, if adjustment for multiple testing had been done, one may miss true associations.

Missing data is a problem in all naturalistic studies and in clinical practice. We chose not to replace missing data. In relatively small studies the effects of missing data on the results is unclear [193].

4.2 Discussion of results

4.2.1 Awakening threshold

Three of the nine patients with DSWPD could not be waken by an alarm clock with a sound intensity of 104 dB. They were all in REM sleep. The controls were all awake in the morning or woke up with a sound intensity of \leq 78 dB. In the patient group, the wake-up threshold did not correlate with PSG-findings or circadian variables, but there were associations with increasing depressive symptoms and declining amount of REM sleep.

With the study design having a fixed bedtime and forced wake-up time, the patients had shorter total sleep time than controls. According to the two-process model, the patients may have higher sleep pressure at the time of forced wake up, which might explain the differences in ability to wake up to a high intensity sound. Because no differences in correlations between wake-up threshold and PSG or circadian variables were found for the patients, it is less likely that short sleep time explains the differences between the two groups. Subclinical depressive symptoms are often found in patients with sleep disorder as insomnia, and the depressive symptom improve after treatment of the sleep disorder [194]. The correlation with depressive symptoms may indicate that changes in brain function due to depressive symptoms, the circadian disorder or both can contribute to the changes in the sleep/arousal system.

In accordance with the theory for sleep regulation and the results of earlier studies, we expected that the patients would have more SWS in the morning, and that any problem with waking should correlate with this. To our surprise, all three patients who were unable to wake up from an alarm clock sound of 104 dB, were in REM sleep. In the laboratory on the test night, the patients started to sleep earlier than their usual habit and therefore had less time awake before sleep. According to the two-process model, with a shorter time awake, one expects lower sleep pressure, and with low sleep pressure, less SWS. This can explain the finding that the patients had less deep sleep than controls. It may also have reduced the chances of finding SWS in the morning. Based on the interactions between the homeostatic process may have contributed to the results.

Former studies have indicated that, in general, it is easier to wake up from REM sleep than SWS. However, it has been found that sleepwalkers need auditory stimuli of higher intensity to wake up in REM than in NREM sleep [127]. Adolescents need higher intensity auditory stimuli than adults to wake up [195].

In a more recent study, we confirmed that patients with DSWPD are more difficult to wake than controls, and that patients in REM sleep have a higher wake-up threshold than patients in NREM sleep [196].

4.2.2 Cognitive function after awakening

The patients' afternoon CPT Hit-RT was faster compared to the controls, and faster than their own morning Hit-RT. These findings support the patients' self-report of "sleep drunkenness" in the morning, and the hypothesis that the patients' cognitive function is reduced after waking up. Even though it was not indicated in our data, we cannot totally exclude the possibility that reduced TST and SWS may have contributed to these results. The patients had shorter sleep time, which can give higher sleep pressure in the morning. Increased sleep

pressure and short TST can affect cognition, and attention seems to be especially vulnerable [25, 26, 29].

Studies of cognitive function in individuals with different chronotypes have similar findings: morning-types perform better in the morning and evening-types perform better in the afternoon [33, 197, 198]. Thus, to be waken up in different phases of the circadian rhythm may have an impact on cognitive performance. Cognitive performances seem to oscillate with the circadian rhythm [129]. Individuals with evening chronotype report more "sleep drunkenness" during the working-day (waking up early), but not during week-ends (habitual sleep-wake schedule) [199]. The participants with the evening chronotype had longer sleep inertia when waking up after 8 hours of sleep in a laboratory than participants with the early chronotype [33]. It cannot be excluded that sleep inertia and waking from different phases of the circadian rhythm can explain some of our results [128]. However, the present study has only tested forced waking.

In a more recent study, we confirmed the findings that the patients' cognitive function was reduced, particularly upon forced wake up, but the study also documented reduced CPT performance compared with controls upon habitual waking up [184]. In a study from 2019 Saxvig et al found that young persons with DSWPD performed poorer on a cognitive test than control persons in the morning [200].

4.2.3 Sleep duration and night-to-night variations

We found a large variation in sleep duration between groups of patients admitted to the PICU, and a large intra-individual night-to-night variation in sleep duration among the same patients. Moreover, the magnitude of these night-to-night variations the first two nights predicted the length of stay in the PICU, primarily among patients with schizophrenia. It was also a negative correlation between sleep duration the first night and length of stay in the PICU, mainly among patients with schizophrenia. This indicates that lack of night-to-night stability in duration of sleep is a marker of an instable and severe phase of the illness, especially in schizophrenia.

The mean sleep duration over the first 3 days was 7.5 hours, with a wide standard deviation (SD) (more than 3 hours) demonstrating large differences in sleep duration between the patients. Even though the mean sleep duration of 7.5 hours was approximately the same as the

general population [201, 202] and outpatients with schizophrenia or bipolar disorders [101, 104, 203, 204], the SD are much wider among the patients in the PICU.

We expected to find shorter sleep duration in mania compared with the other two patient groups, but we found no such differences. A possible explanation is that patients with mania who are admitted to PICUs, often use psychopharmacological medications prior to admittance. In the present study these medications were not sufficient to treat the manic symptoms in this highly selected patient group. However, the medications might have had some effects on sleep.

The intra-individual night-to-night variations of sleep duration were wide in all patient groups. The mean difference between the longest and shortest sleep duration for the patients that stayed at least 1 week was 7.1 hours. Bauer found that sleep changes of more than 3 hours indicated an imminent mood change among bipolar disorder outpatients [205]. The intra-individual night-to-night variations were wider than found in outpatients with bipolar disorder [99]. A number of studies indicate that the degree of sleep distortions seems to correlate with symptoms in outpatients [104, 121, 203, 205, 206], so it is not surprising that the patients in PICUs have wide variations in sleep duration both inter- and intra-individually.

The patients in PICUs are acutely admitted. Usually there is a lack of knowledge regarding their sleep-wake patterns, the homeostatic process or the circadian process prior to admittance. The majority of patients have also used psychoactive substances affecting sleep [207, 208]. In the context of the two-process model, the large variability of sleep duration found in the first days might be regarded as a sign of many patients being in desynchronized states at admission. The patients with the most disturbed sleep-patterns stay longer in the PICU, and they also have the most disturbed behaviour, including aggression.

During the inpatient stay, the patients must adapt to a fixed, circadian rhythm-like structure through the day with regulation of light, rest, activity, and timing of meals. They receive medications that interact with sleep pressure at fixed time intervals. The impact of this possible mismatch between the patients' and the hospital's sleep-wake rhythm is uncertain, but it may have contributed to the results in the present study.

The wide intra-individual variations in sleep duration, the wide variations in sleep duration

between patients, and to some extent the short sleep duration in individual patients, seem to be associated with exacerbations and more symptoms, as well as length of stay in the PICU. This might indicate that lack of stability is more a marker of the conditions of patients admitted to the PICU than short nights.

Psychiatric hospitals encourage regular circadian rhythms and the accumulation of sleep pressure. New technology make it possible to enhance the patients sleep-wake pattern by adjusting the light in the wards [209, 210] and measure sleep without waking up the patients [74, 75].

4.2.4 Sleep at night and aggressive behaviour the next day

As reported in Paper III, short duration of sleep and large night-to-night variations in duration of sleep were both associated with next-day aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents throughout the stay. In the published paper analyses based on the 50 admissions is reported. If only the 40 single patients are used in the analyses, the association between sleep and aggressive behaviour is still preserved (Appendix 5). The results might indicate that sleep duration or night-to-night variations in sleep duration are factors that increase the risk of aggressive behaviour in PICUs. Interventions that aim to improve and stabilize sleep patterns might reduce aggression. Aggressive behaviour is complex, and it is a result of several factors other than sleep [139]. However, sleep may contribute to aggression. Some earlier studies support a relationship between sleep and aggression. Studies on the association between sleep duration and aggression have been inconclusive [164]. Intra-individual variability in sleep time seems to be associated with sleep quality [108], and sleep quality has been associated with aggression in different populations [142, 166].

We found that short sleep duration on the first night was associated with higher levels of aggressive behaviour the next day, especially among patients with schizophrenia. A high night-to-night difference in sleep duration at the start of the admission was associated with aggressive incidents during the whole stay, measured by SOAS-R. At admission to acute and emergency psychiatric facilities, there is often limited clinical information about the patient. Analysing sleep patterns for the first one or two nights might improve the evaluation of the clinical status and improve planning of short- and long-term treatment and care.

Shorter sleep duration was found before days with aggressive incidents compared to days

without aggressive incidents. The absolute difference in sleep duration between two nights was associated with higher BVC scores the next day, and especially for patients with diagnoses other than schizophrenia. An implication of this finding is that the staff must be aware of the lack of stability in sleep patterns and circadian rhythms in more extended stays in the PICU. This may reduce risk of aggression and improve treatment. Due to large intra-variability in sleep duration, changes or instability in both sleep pressure and the circadian process are expected. According to studies of the two-process model of sleep regulation, both sleep pressure and circadian process influence cognition [129]. Changes in cognitive function may also contribute to aggressive behaviour.

Kamphuis [164] speculates that the relationship between sleep deprivation and contextinappropriate aggressive responses is mediated by loss of behavioural inhibition regarding negative emotional experiences or circumstances. Patients admitted to an acute psychiatric ward are particularly exposed to such experiences. The ward is closed, many patients are involuntarily admitted, and restrictions may be placed on freedom, behaviour, daily routines, smoking and the use of cellular telephones [145]. According to the two-process model [36] and earlier studies, short sleep time gives high sleep pressure [37, 211]. Increased sleep pressure and short TST can affect cognition, and attention seems to be especially vulnerable. This makes the patients vulnerable to misunderstanding their situations. Thus, our findings of relationships between sleep duration and aggressive behaviour could be associated with both clinical characteristics of the patient population and the inpatient setting [139].

The different items on the BVC revealed a pattern where short sleep duration and night-tonight variations of sleep duration were associated with different types of behaviour. Short sleep was associated with irritability and boisterous behaviour, whereas large night-to-night variations in sleep duration were associated with confusion and threatening behaviour.

4.2.5 Sleep as a predictor of aggressive incidents

Paper IV reported that adding items to assess sleep further increased the predictive properties of the BVC. Neither short duration of sleep nor high night-to-night variations in the duration of sleep predicted aggressive incidents at the same level as BVC scores alone.

When the sleep duration and variability of sleep duration between two nights were combined, a close to significant area under the curve (AUC_{ROC} 0.653, p = 0.051) was found. In Paper III,

it was found that sleep duration and variability of sleep duration were to some extent associated with aggressive incidents in different ways. By adding night-to-night variations [105] to sleep duration, we may better assess disturbances in sleep. This difference is difficult to explain from the two-process model of sleep regulation. It may be that sleep duration is more influenced by sleep pressure, while variability of sleep duration is mainly influenced by the circadian rhythm. Thus, the combination of both sleep duration and variability of sleep duration gives a more accurate assessment of the disturbance. However, the present data are not sufficient for us to draw conclusions on the topic.

The ability of BVC to predict aggressive incidents (AUC_{ROC} 0.757, p = 0.001) in our study was somewhat lower than or comparable to earlier studies [212-214]. By adding the variable for sleep, the prediction of aggressive incidents improved (AUC_{ROC} 0.873, p < 0.001). The improvement was at a comparable level to an earlier study that added visual analogue scale ratings of subjective perception of risk for a physical attack to the BVC [213]. Even a marginal improvement in predicting aggression might be of value for patients and staff [213, 215]. This provides support for an association between sleep disturbances and aggression. There is a need for more studies on sleep duration, intra-individual variability of sleep duration and aggression.

4.2.6 Results across the papers

The papers report associations between sleep at night and behaviour. The different behaviours, cognitive affections, length of stay or aggressive incidents, can all be regarded as complex phenomena. If sleep is only a marker, a mediator or a causal explanation of the observed phenomena cannot be answered by the studies.

It can be hypothesized that the morning cognitive impairment found in patients with DSWPD can be regarded as an association between cognition and sleep disturbances in general. This can provide a possible explanation to the association between sleep disturbances and behaviour found in paper 2-4. Impaired cognition with more confusion and misunderstanding that lead to irritation and aggression, contribute to behaviours that are difficult to handle, and longer stays in the PICUs.

It is further possible to hypothesize that the association between sleep and aggression found in paper 3, can be applied to the findings reported in paper 1. It is to be expected that an irritated person would struggle to maintains focus in a quite boring cognitive test, where she or he for

15 minutes is supposed to press or not press a bottom according to what letter that is presented. It is reasonable to believe that patients with DSWPD are more irritable in the morning. This is a frequent statement from the parents in the clinic. This may explain why DSWPD patients have decreased performances in the cognitive test.

Clinical populations from psychiatric department and sleep regulations

The two-process model theory of sleep regulation may be useful when doing clinical sleeprelated research in general, treat patients with sleep disorders, compare different sleep studies, interpret results, or seek new treatments. According to the two-process model of sleep regulation, variations in sleep length are due to changes in the homeostatic process, the circadian process or the interaction between them. However, the validity of the model for the patient groups with extreme symptoms, lack of function, unexpected reactions, and challenging behaviour, is more uncertain.

Patients admitted to psychiatric departments are heterogenous. They are usually suffering from a multitude of psychiatric-, somatic-, psychological and socioeconomical problems. Many suffer from substance abuse, and polypharmacy is frequent [119, 216].

The patients included in this thesis were highly selected patients from a clinical setting, in many ways extreme with altered brains functions. For patients with temporary changes in brain function it is probable that the model of sleep regulation still is insufficient to explain the sleep disturbances in these populations. However, this does not mean that they cannot improve by treatment of sleep. It is for instance increasing evidence that light exposure can restore sleep, and improve the recovery of brain structures, functions and cognition in patients with mild traumatic brain injury [217].

The aetiology of DSWPD is unknown. There is some evidence that patients with DSWPD are more sensitivity to evening light [182], and as reported in paper I some patients did not wake up by 104 dB from REM sleep. These findings indicate that these patients may have altered brain functions. In the clinic these patients report improved function in the morning and having less difficulty with waking up after treatment.

In the PICU population different diagnostic groups of patients are admitted due to symptoms induced by temporary changes in brain function [218]. These changes are triggers for acute psychiatric symptoms and temporary, cognitive dysfunctions. The temporary changes in brain function may all at different levels be related to changes in sleep patterns.

Patients with organic brain may develop acute psychiatric conditions dominated by rapidly changing, polymorphous psychiatric symptoms, challenging behaviour and temporary, cognitive dysfunctions. This is frequently seen in populations of patients with complex partial seizure disorders [219] or patients with temporary, cerebral hyperactivity disorders [220]. Lack of sleep is one of the most important triggers for these conditions [221]. Similar psychiatric symptoms and temporary cognitive dysfunctions may develop in patients with substance use disorders in all phases of the disorder; when being acutely intoxicated, suffering from symptoms of withdrawal, or being in a psychotic state like delirium [222]. A wide range of substances can develop these disorders like alcohol, amphetamines and GHB. The different substances and phases of the use induce sleep problems. Similar symptoms may develop in patients with catatonia [223]. Patients in severe catatonia lack sleep. They may further deteriorate into life-threatening conditions dominated by autonomous symptoms like tachycardia, hypertension, and hyperpyrexia. These patients

frequently have global insomnia. The main treatment is benzodiazepines inducing sleep. Patients in severe depressive episodes have cognitive dysfunctions and they lack sleep. Global insomnia is a warning sign for imminent suicidal behaviour. Induction of sleep reduces suicidal intention [224].

Thus, in the PICU population the main symptoms in acute conditions indicate a bidirectional relationship between development of psychiatric symptoms / temporary cognitive dysfunctions, and changes in regulation of sleep. In the extreme cases autonomous life-threatening instability may develop [225].

For the extreme group of patients in this thesis, it may not only be changes in the homeostatic process or circadian process or the interaction between them, but rather organic dysfunctions that induces an instability in the factors that express and regulate sleep.

The present studies have a limited number of participants, and as reported there are limitations in the designs and measures used. Thus, interpretation of the results should be made with caution. There is a need for larger and better designed studies controlling for confounders to test the causality between sleep and behaviour in the extreme psychiatric hospital populations. The finale goal must be randomized controlled studies that test if specific treatments of sleep improve cognition, decrease aggression and improve recovery.

4.3 Concluding remarks

Sleep is an essential function, and disruption of sleep affect our functioning and behaviour. The relationship between sleep problems and psychiatric disorders seems to be bidirectional. Sleep problems have been regarded as secondary to the psychiatric disorders, but this attitude has changed in the last 5–10 years.

The diagnostic systems DSM and ICD are based on consensus in description of clinical symptoms and signs [226]. The diagnostic systems have been based on self-reports of feelings and experiences by patients, combined with observations from the clinicians [227]. Thus, the systems have mainly been designed less emphasised on pathophysiology. In all revisions of the DSM-system from the launch of DSM-III, it has been explicitly stated that the present categorization is due to lack of biological measures. The Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) project has the aim of creating a framework for research where new data from clinical neuroscience and genetics are integrated [228].

The present thesis documents the problems in the current categorization. The diagnostic systems DSM and ICD consider each diagnosis as a distinct entity. The categorization of each patient included in the present studies must be unsatisfactory since they usually suffer from multiple problems. Somatic problems, brain disorders and substance use are very frequent in hospital populations.

The diagnostic entities in the classification systems are not consistent when regarding specific symptoms. Patients having problems with sleep pose special challenges. The clinical criteria for major depressive episodes include for instance both increased or decreased sleep [227]. The RDoC introduces a new system to assess impairments in different brain systems. It classifies on the basis on behavioural and neurobiological measures that are dimensional in nature [227]. The present thesis indicates that sleep may be such a dimensional measure.

4.4 Clinical implication of the findings

- Certain DSWPD patients may need manual awakening in addition to an alarm clock, at least in the early stages of treatment.
- In the treatment of patients with DSWPD, the procedures around awakening should be simple and take into account the possible reduced cognitive capacity of patients in the morning.
- The night-to-night variability in sleep should be targeted in the observation and treatment of patients in PICUs.
- Preventing violent incidents in the PICU is important, and one of the targets for treatment may be sleep distortions.

5. Main Conclusions

- A subgroup of patients with delayed sleep-wake phase disorder (DSWPD) could not be awakened by an alarm clock with a sound intensity of 104 dB.
- DSWPD patients may have impairment in cognitive functions in the morning.
- Difficulty awakening from slow wave sleep was not observed. A subgroup of DSWPD patients may have had severe problems waking up from REM sleep.
- For patients with schizophrenia admitted to the psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU), sleep duration on the first night was correlated negatively with the length of stay. The mean difference in sleep duration between nights one and two was correlated with length of stay for the whole group of patients, but especially for patients with schizophrenia.
- For patients with schizophrenia, mania and other disorders admitted to the PICU, mean sleep duration was normal and equal, but all patient groups had pronounced intra-individual night-to-night variations in sleep duration.
- For patients admitted to the PICU, large absolute differences in sleep duration between two consecutive nights correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day, and short sleep duration was associated with violent incidents.
- Admissions in PICU with violent incidents during the stay had a larger difference in sleep duration between nights one and two than the rest of the patients.
- Adding a sleep disturbance variable can improve the predictive properties of a shortterm risk assessment scale such as the BVC.

6. References

- Muller MJ, Olschinski C, Kundermann B, Cabanel N: Subjective sleep quality and sleep duration of patients in a psychiatric hospital. *Sleep Science* 2016, 9(3):202-206.
- Kallestad H, Hansen B, Langsrud K, Ruud T, Morken G, Stiles TC, Grawe RW:
 Differences between patients' and clinicians' report of sleep disturbance: a field study in mental health care in Norway. BMC psychiatry 2011, 11:186.
- 3. Kaufmann CN, Spira AP, Rae DS, West JC, Mojtabai R: **Sleep problems**, psychiatric hospitalization, and emergency department use among psychiatric patients with Medicaid. *Psychiatric services* 2011, **62**(9):1101-1105.
- 4. Sorgaard KW, Rezvy G, Bugdanov A, Sorlie T, Bratlid T: **Treatment needs**, diagnoses and use of services for acutely admitted psychiatric patients in northwest Russia and northern Norway. International journal of mental health systems 2013, 7(1):4.
- 5. Nesbitt AD: **Delayed sleep-wake phase disorder**. *Journal of thoracic disease* 2018, **10**(Suppl 1):S103-S111.
- 6. Asarnow LD, Soehner AM, Harvey AG: **Circadian rhythms and psychiatric illness**. *Current opinion in psychiatry* 2013, **26**(6):566-571.
- Baglioni C, Nanovska S, Regen W, Spiegelhalder K, Feige B, Nissen C, Reynolds CF, Riemann D: Sleep and mental disorders: A meta-analysis of polysomnographic research. *Psychological bulletin* 2016, 142(9):969-990.
- 8. Laskemoen JF, Simonsen C, Buchmann C, Barrett EA, Bjella T, Lagerberg TV, Vedal TJ, Andreassen OA, Melle I, Aas M: **Sleep disturbances in schizophrenia spectrum and bipolar disorders - a transdiagnostic perspective**. *Comprehensive psychiatry* 2019, **91**:6-12.
- 9. Khurshid KA: **Comorbid Insomnia and Psychiatric Disorders: An Update**. *Innovations in clinical neuroscience* 2018, **15**(3-4):28-32.
- Gebara MA, Siripong N, DiNapoli EA, Maree RD, Germain A, Reynolds CF, Kasckow JW, Weiss PM, Karp JF: Effect of insomnia treatments on depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Depression and anxiety* 2018, 35(8):717-731.
- 11. Monti JM, Torterolo P, Pandi Perumal SR: **The effects of second generation antipsychotic drugs on sleep variables in healthy subjects and patients with schizophrenia**. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2017, **33**:51-57.
- 12. Nordahl H, Havnen A, Hansen B, Ost LG, Kvale G: **Sleep disturbances in treatment-seeking OCD-patients: Changes after concentrated exposure treatment**. *Scandinavian journal of psychology* 2018, **59**(2):186-191.
- 13. Wulff K, Gatti S, Wettstein JG, Foster RG: **Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in psychiatric and neurodegenerative disease**. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2010, **11**(8):589-599.
- 14. Kallestad H, Hansen B, Langsrud K, Ruud T, Morken G, Stiles TC, Grawe RW: Impact of sleep disturbance on patients in treatment for mental disorders. *BMC psychiatry* 2012, **12**:179.
- 15. Seow LSE, Verma SK, Mok YM, Kumar S, Chang S, Satghare P, Hombali A, Vaingankar J, Chong SA, Subramaniam M: **Evaluating DSM-5 Insomnia Disorder**

and the Treatment of Sleep Problems in a Psychiatric Population. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine* 2018, **14**(2):237-244.

- 16. Vaaler AE, Morken G, Fløvig JC, Iversen VC, Linaker OM: **Effects of a psychiatric intensive care unit in an acute psychiatric department**. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry* 2006, **60**(2):144-149.
- 17. Maier JG, Nissen C: **Sleep and memory: mechanisms and implications for psychiatry**. *Current opinion in psychiatry* 2017, **30**(6):480-484.
- 18. Haus E: **Chronobiology in the endocrine system**. *Advanced drug delivery reviews* 2007, **59**(9-10):985-1014.
- 19. Aalling NN, Nedergaard M, DiNuzzo M: **Cerebral Metabolic Changes During Sleep**. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports* 2018, **18**(9):57.
- 20. Xie L, Kang H, Xu Q, Chen MJ, Liao Y, Thiyagarajan M, O'Donnell J, Christensen DJ, Nicholson C, Iliff JJ *et al*: **Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain**. *Science* 2013, **342**(6156):373-377.
- 21. Rasmussen MK, Mestre H, Nedergaard M: **The glymphatic pathway in neurological disorders**. *The Lancet Neurology* 2018, **17**(11):1016-1024.
- 22. Bedrosian TA, Nelson RJ: **Timing of light exposure affects mood and brain circuits**. *Translational psychiatry* 2017, **7**(1):e1017.
- 23. Zisapel N: **New perspectives on the role of melatonin in human sleep**, **circadian rhythms and their regulation**. *British journal of pharmacology* 2018.
- 24. Ibáñez C: **The 2017 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine**. The Nobel Assembly at Karolinska Institutet; 2017.
- 25. Basner M, Rao H, Goel N, Dinges DF: **Sleep deprivation and neurobehavioral dynamics**. *Current opinion in neurobiology* 2013, **23**(5):854-863.
- 26. Krause AJ, Simon EB, Mander BA, Greer SM, Saletin JM, Goldstein-Piekarski AN, Walker MP: **The sleep-deprived human brain**. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2017, **18**(7):404-418.
- 27. McEwen BS: **Sleep deprivation as a neurobiologic and physiologic stressor: Allostasis and allostatic load**. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental* 2006, **55**(10 Suppl 2):S20-23.
- 28. Baum KT, Desai A, Field J, Miller LE, Rausch J, Beebe DW: **Sleep restriction** worsens mood and emotion regulation in adolescents. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines* 2014, **55**(2):180-190.
- 29. Lowe CJ, Safati A, Hall PA: **The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: A meta-analytic review**. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 2017, **80**:586-604.
- 30. Cappuccio FP, Miller MA: **Sleep and Cardio-Metabolic Disease**. *Current cardiology reports* 2017, **19**(11):110.
- 31. Mallon L, Broman JE, Akerstedt T, Hetta J: **Insomnia in sweden: a populationbased survey**. *Sleep disorders* 2014, **2014**:843126.
- 32. Akerstedt T, Ghilotti F, Grotta A, Bellavia A, Lagerros YT, Bellocco R: **Sleep duration, mortality and the influence of age**. *European journal of epidemiology* 2017, **32**(10):881-891.
- 33. Ritchie HK, Burke TM, Dear TB, McHill AW, Axelsson J, Wright KP, Jr.: **Impact of sleep inertia on visual selective attention for rare targets and the influence of chronotype**. *Journal of sleep research* 2017, **26**(5):551-558.
- 34. Gupta L, Morgan K, Gilchrist S: **Does Elite Sport Degrade Sleep Quality? A** Systematic Review. Sports medicine 2017, **47**(7):1317-1333.

- 35. Roenneberg T, Merrow M: **The Circadian Clock and Human Health**. *Current biology : CB* 2016, **26**(10):R432-443.
- 36. Borbely AA: **A two process model of sleep regulation**. *Human neurobiology* 1982, **1**(3):195-204.
- 37. Borbely AA, Daan S, Wirz-Justice A, Deboer T: **The two-process model of sleep** regulation: a reappraisal. *Journal of sleep research* 2016, **25**(2):131-143.
- 38. Waterhouse J, Fukuda Y, Morita T: **Daily rhythms of the sleep-wake cycle**. *Journal of physiological anthropology* 2012, **31**:5.
- 39. Gronli J, Ursin R: **[Basic sleep mechanisms]**. *Tidsskrift for den Norske laegeforening : tidsskrift for praktisk medicin, ny raekke* 2009, **129**(17):1758-1761.
- 40. Deboer T: **Sleep homeostasis and the circadian clock: Do the circadian pacemaker and the sleep homeostat influence each other's functioning?** *Neurobiology of Sleep and Circadian Rhythms* 2018, **5**:68-77.
- 41. Wyatt JK, Ritz-De Cecco A, Czeisler CA, Dijk DJ: **Circadian temperature and melatonin rhythms, sleep, and neurobehavioral function in humans living on a 20-h day**. *The American journal of physiology* 1999, **277**(4 Pt 2):R1152-1163.
- 42. Challet E, Turek FW, Laute M, Van Reeth O: **Sleep deprivation decreases phaseshift responses of circadian rhythms to light in the mouse: role of serotonergic and metabolic signals**. *Brain research* 2001, **909**(1-2):81-91.
- 43. Deboer T: **Sleep and sleep homeostasis in constant darkness in the rat**. *Journal of sleep research* 2009, **18**(3):357-364.
- 44. Franken P: **A role for clock genes in sleep homeostasis**. *Current opinion in neurobiology* 2013, **23**(5):864-872.
- 45. Sollars PJ, Pickard GE: **The Neurobiology of Circadian Rhythms**. *The Psychiatric clinics of North America* 2015, **38**(4):645-665.
- 46. Kronauer RE, Czeisler CA, Pilato SF, Moore-Ede MC, Weitzman ED: **Mathematical model of the human circadian system with two interacting oscillators**. *The American journal of physiology* 1982, **242**(1):R3-17.
- 47. Minors DS, Waterhouse JM, Wirz-Justice A: **A human phase-response curve to light**. *Neuroscience letters* 1991, **133**(1):36-40.
- 48. LeGates TA, Fernandez DC, Hattar S: Light as a central modulator of circadian rhythms, sleep and affect. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2014, **15**(7):443-454.
- 49. Brainard GC, Hanifin JP, Rollag MD, Greeson J, Byrne B, Glickman G, Gerner E, Sanford B: **Human melatonin regulation is not mediated by the three cone photopic visual system**. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2001, **86**(1):433-436.
- 50. Sasseville A, Paquet N, Sevigny J, Hebert M: **Blue blocker glasses impede the capacity of bright light to suppress melatonin production**. *Journal of pineal research* 2006, **41**(1):73-78.
- 51. van der Lely S, Frey S, Garbazza C, Wirz-Justice A, Jenni OG, Steiner R, Wolf S, Cajochen C, Bromundt V, Schmidt C: **Blue blocker glasses as a countermeasure for alerting effects of evening light-emitting diode screen exposure in male teenagers**. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2015, **56**(1):113-119.
- 52. Fernandez DC, Fogerson PM, Lazzerini Ospri L, Thomsen MB, Layne RM, Severin D, Zhan J, Singer JH, Kirkwood A, Zhao H *et al*: **Light Affects Mood and Learning through Distinct Retina-Brain Pathways**. *Cell* 2018, **175**(1):71-84 e18.

- 53. Gronli J, Byrkjedal IK, Bjorvatn B, Nodtvedt O, Hamre B, Pallesen S: **Reading from an iPad or from a book in bed: the impact on human sleep. A randomized controlled crossover trial**. *Sleep medicine* 2016, **21**:86-92.
- 54. Van Gelder RN: **A tablet that shifts the clock**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2015, **112**(4):946-947.
- 55. Wright KP, Jr., McHill AW, Birks BR, Griffin BR, Rusterholz T, Chinoy ED: Entrainment of the human circadian clock to the natural light-dark cycle. *Current biology : CB* 2013, **23**(16):1554-1558.
- 56. Esaki Y, Kitajima T, Ito Y, Koike S, Nakao Y, Tsuchiya A, Hirose M, Iwata N: Wearing blue light-blocking glasses in the evening advances circadian rhythms in the patients with delayed sleep phase disorder: An open-label trial. *Chronobiology international* 2016, **33**(8):1037-1044.
- 57. Saxvig IW, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Pallesen S, Vedaa O, Nordhus IH, Bjorvatn B: A randomized controlled trial with bright light and melatonin for delayed sleep phase disorder: effects on subjective and objective sleep. Chronobiology international 2014, **31**(1):72-86.
- 58. Barbini B, Benedetti F, Colombo C, Dotoli D, Bernasconi A, Cigala-Fulgosi M, Florita M, Smeraldi E: **Dark therapy for mania: a pilot study**. *Bipolar disorders* 2005, **7**(1):98-101.
- 59. Henriksen TE, Skrede S, Fasmer OB, Schoeyen H, Leskauskaite I, Bjorke-Bertheussen J, Assmus J, Hamre B, Gronli J, Lund A: **Blue-blocking glasses as additive treatment for mania: a randomized placebo-controlled trial**. *Bipolar disorders* 2016, **18**(3):221-232.
- 60. Perera S, Eisen R, Bhatt M, Bhatnagar N, de Souza R, Thabane L, Samaan Z: **Light therapy for non-seasonal depression: systematic review and meta-analysis**. *BJPsych open* 2016, **2**(2):116-126.
- 61. Bei B, Seeman TE, Carroll JE, Wiley JF: **Sleep and Physiological Dysregulation: A Closer Look at Sleep Intraindividual Variability**. *Sleep* 2017, **40**(9).
- 62. Bixler E: **Sleep and society: an epidemiological perspective**. *Sleep medicine* 2009, **10 Suppl 1**:S3-6.
- 63. Antillon M, Lauderdale DS, Mullahy J: **Sleep behavior and unemployment conditions**. *Economics and human biology* 2014, **14**:22-32.
- 64. Bonke J: **Trends in short and long sleep in Denmark from 1964 to 2009, and the associations with employment, SES (socioeconomic status) and BMI**. *Sleep medicine* 2015, **16**(3):385-390.
- 65. Stummer L, Markovic M, Maroney ME: **Pharmacologic Treatment Options for Insomnia in Patients with Schizophrenia**. *Medicines* 2018, **5**(3).
- 66. Won E, Kim YK: **An Oldie but Goodie: Lithium in the Treatment of Bipolar Disorder through Neuroprotective and Neurotrophic Mechanisms**. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2017, **18**(12).
- 67. Herrmann ES, Johnson PS, Bruner NR, Vandrey R, Johnson MW: **Morning** administration of oral methamphetamine dose-dependently disrupts nighttime sleep in recreational stimulant users. *Drug and alcohol dependence* 2017, **178**:291-295.
- 68. Van de Water AT, Holmes A, Hurley DA: **Objective measurements of sleep for non-laboratory settings as alternatives to polysomnography--a systematic review**. *Journal of sleep research* 2011, **20**(1 Pt 2):183-200.
- 69. Engstrom M, Rugland E, Heier MS: **Polysomnography (PSG) for studying sleep disorders**. *Tidsskrift for den Norske legeforening* 2013, **133**(1):58-62.

- 70. Fuller KL, Juliff L, Gore CJ, Peiffer JJ, Halson SL: **Software thresholds alter the bias of actigraphy for monitoring sleep in team-sport athletes**. *Journal of science and medicine in sport* 2017, **20**(8):756-760.
- 71. Millar A, Espie CA, Scott J: **The sleep of remitted bipolar outpatients: a controlled naturalistic study using actigraphy**. *Journal of affective disorders* 2004, **80**(2-3):145-153.
- 72. Ancoli-Israel S, Clopton P, Klauber MR, Fell R, Mason W: **Use of wrist activity for monitoring sleep/wake in demented nursing-home patients**. *Sleep* 1997, **20**(1):24-27.
- 73. Krane-Gartiser K, Steinan MK, Langsrud K, Vestvik V, Sand T, Fasmer OB, Kallestad H, Morken G: **Mood and motor activity in euthymic bipolar disorder with sleep disturbance**. *Journal of affective disorders* 2016, **202**:23-31.
- 74. Pallesen S, Gronli J, Myhre K, Moen F, Bjorvatn B, Hanssen I, Heglum HSA: **A Pilot Study of Impulse Radio Ultra Wideband Radar Technology as a New Tool for Sleep Assessment**. Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of *the American Academy of Sleep Medicine* 2018, **14**(7):1249-1254.
- 75. Heglum HS: Kontaktfri søvnmåling med radar. Søvn 2019, **11**(1):16-18.
- 76. Sheaves B, Freeman D, Isham L, McInerney J, Nickless A, Yu LM, Rek S, Bradley J, Reeve S, Attard C *et al*: **Stabilising sleep for patients admitted at acute crisis to a psychiatric hospital (OWLS): an assessor-blind pilot randomised controlled trial**. *Psychological medicine* 2017:1-11.
- 77. Bliwise DL, Bevier WC, Bliwise NG, Edgar DM, Dement WC: **Systematic 24-hr behavioral observations of sleep and wakefulness in a skilled-care nursing facility**. *Psychology and aging* 1990, **5**(1):16-24.
- 78. Edell-Gustafsson U, Aren C, Hamrin E, Hetta J: Nurses' notes on sleep patterns in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a retrospective evaluation of patient records. *Journal of advanced nursing* 1994, 20(2):331-336.
- 79. Edwards GB, Schuring LM: **Pilot study: validating staff nurses' observations of sleep and wake states among critically ill patients, using polysomnography**. *American journal of critical care : an official publication, American Association of Critical-Care Nurses* 1993, **2**(2):125-131.
- 80. Fontaine DK: **Measurement of nocturnal sleep patterns in trauma patients**. *Heart & lung : the journal of critical care* 1989, **18**(4):402-410.
- 81. Krahn LE, Lin SC, Wisbey J, Rummans TA, O'Connor MK: **Assessing sleep in psychiatric inpatients: nurse and patient reports versus wrist actigraphy**. *Annals of clinical psychiatry : official journal of the American Academy of Clinical Psychiatrists* 1997, **9**(4):203-210.
- 82. Carney CE, Buysse DJ, Ancoli-Israel S, Edinger JD, Krystal AD, Lichstein KL, Morin CM: **The consensus sleep diary: standardizing prospective sleep self-monitoring**. *Sleep* 2012, **35**(2):287-302.
- 83. Hsiao FC, Tsai PJ, Wu CW, Yang CM, Lane TJ, Lee HC, Chen LC, Lee WK, Lu LH, Wu YZ: **The neurophysiological basis of the discrepancy between objective and subjective sleep during the sleep onset period: an EEG-fMRI study**. *Sleep* 2018, **41**(6).
- 84. Krishnamurthy V, Mukherjee D, Reider A, Seaman S, Singh G, Fernandez-Mendoza J, Saunders E: **Subjective and objective sleep discrepancy in symptomatic bipolar disorder compared to healthy controls**. *Journal of affective disorders* 2018, **229**:247-253.

- 85. Rezaie L, Fobian AD, McCall WV, Khazaie H: **Paradoxical insomnia and subjective-objective sleep discrepancy: A review**. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2018, **40**:196-202.
- 86. Hofstra WA, de Weerd AW: **How to assess circadian rhythm in humans: a review of literature**. *Epilepsy & behavior : E&B* 2008, **13**(3):438-444.
- 87. Wittenbrink N, Ananthasubramaniam B, Munch M, Koller B, Maier B, Weschke C, Bes F, de Zeeuw J, Nowozin C, Wahnschaffe A *et al*: **High-accuracy determination of internal circadian time from a single blood sample**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2018, **128**(9):3826-3839.
- 88. Saxvig IW, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Pallesen S, Vedaa O, Nordhus IH, Sorensen E, Bjorvatn B: **Objective measures of sleep and dim light melatonin onset in adolescents and young adults with delayed sleep phase disorder compared to healthy controls**. *Journal of sleep research* 2013, **22**(4):365-372.
- 89. Horne JA, Ostberg O: A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. *International journal* of chronobiology 1976, 4(2):97-110.
- 90. Kantermann T, Sung H, Burgess HJ: **Comparing the Morningness-Eveningness Questionnaire and Munich ChronoType Questionnaire to the Dim Light Melatonin Onset**. *Journal of biological rhythms* 2015, **30**(5):449-453.
- 91. Santisteban JA, Brown TG, Gruber R: Association between the Munich Chronotype Questionnaire and Wrist Actigraphy. *Sleep disorders* 2018, 2018:5646848.
- 92. Klerman EB, Dijk DJ: **Age-related reduction in the maximal capacity for sleep-**-implications for insomnia. *Current biology : CB* 2008, **18**(15):1118-1123.
- 93. Ohayon MM, Carskadon MA, Guilleminault C, Vitiello MV: **Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan**. *Sleep* 2004, **27**(7):1255-1273.
- 94. Youngstedt SD, Goff EE, Reynolds AM, Kripke DF, Irwin MR, Bootzin RR, Khan N, Jean-Louis G: **Has adult sleep duration declined over the last 50+ years?** *Sleep medicine reviews* 2016, **28**:69-85.
- 95. Miley-Akerstedt A, Hetta J, Akerstedt T: **Criteria for self-reported quantitative sleep characteristics of individuals who sought medical help for disturbed sleep - a survey of a representative sample of the Swedish population**. *Nature and science of sleep* 2018, **10**:295-301.
- 96. Burgess HJ, Park M, Wyatt JK, Rizvydeen M, Fogg LF: **Sleep and circadian** variability in people with delayed sleep-wake phase disorder versus healthy controls. *Sleep medicine* 2017, **34**:33-39.
- 97. APA: **Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed (DSM-V)**. Arlington, VA; 2013.
- 98. AASM: International classification of sleep disorders. Diagnostic and coding manual. 2nd ed. Westchester, IL: AASM; 2005.
- 99. Gruber J, Miklowitz DJ, Harvey AG, Frank E, Kupfer D, Thase ME, Sachs GS, Ketter TA: **Sleep matters: sleep functioning and course of illness in bipolar disorder**. *Journal of affective disorders* 2011, **134**(1-3):416-420.
- 100. Ng TH, Chung KF, Ho FY, Yeung WF, Yung KP, Lam TH: **Sleep-wake disturbance** in interepisode bipolar disorder and high-risk individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2015, **20**:46-58.

- 101. Wulff K, Dijk DJ, Middleton B, Foster RG, Joyce EM: **Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in schizophrenia**. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2012, **200**(4):308-316.
- 102. Tang VK, Pato MT, Sobell JL, Hammond TC, Valdez MM, Lane CJ, Genomic Psychiatry Cohort C, Pato CN: Substance use associated with short sleep duration in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. American journal of medical genetics Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics 2016, 171(4):525-533.
- 103. Kaufmann CN, Gershon A, Eyler LT, Depp CA: **Clinical significance of mobile health assessed sleep duration and variability in bipolar disorder**. *Journal of psychiatric research* 2016, **81**:152-159.
- 104. Waters F, Sinclair C, Rock D, Jablensky A, Foster RG, Wulff K: **Daily variations in** sleep-wake patterns and severity of psychopathology: a pilot study in community-dwelling individuals with chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatry research* 2011, **187**(1-2):304-306.
- 105. Bei B, Wiley JF, Trinder J, Manber R: **Beyond the mean: A systematic review on the correlates of daily intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns**. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2016, **28**:108-124.
- 106. Becker SP, Sidol CA, Van Dyk TR, Epstein JN, Beebe DW: **Intraindividual** variability of sleep/wake patterns in relation to child and adolescent functioning: A systematic review. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2017, **34**:94-121.
- 107. Bei B, Manber R, Allen NB, Trinder J, Wiley JF: **Too Long, Too Short, or Too** Variable? Sleep Intraindividual Variability and Its Associations With Perceived Sleep Quality and Mood in Adolescents During Naturalistically Unconstrained Sleep. Sleep 2017, **40**(2).
- 108. Lemola S, Ledermann T, Friedman EM: **Variability of sleep duration is related to subjective sleep quality and subjective well-being: an actigraphy study**. *PloS one* 2013, **8**(8):e71292.
- 109. Slavish DC, Taylor DJ, Lichstein KL: **Intraindividual variability in sleep and comorbid medical and mental health conditions**. *Sleep* 2019, **42**(6).
- 110. Dillon HR, Lichstein KL, Dautovich ND, Taylor DJ, Riedel BW, Bush AJ: **Variability in self-reported normal sleep across the adult age span**. *The journals of gerontology Series B, Psychological sciences and social sciences* 2015, **70**(1):46-56.
- 111. Cespedes EM, Hu FB, Redline S, Rosner B, Alcantara C, Cai J, Hall MH, Loredo JS, Mossavar-Rahmani Y, Ramos AR *et al*: **Comparison of Self-Reported Sleep Duration With Actigraphy: Results From the Hispanic Community Health Study/Study of Latinos Sueno Ancillary Study**. *American journal of epidemiology* 2016, **183**(6):561-573.
- 112. Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Juda M, Kantermann T, Allebrandt K, Gordijn M, Merrow M: **Epidemiology of the human circadian clock**. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2007, **11**(6):429-438.
- 113. Song J, Feng P, Zhao X, Xu W, Xiao L, Zhou J, Zheng Y: **Chronotype regulates the neural basis of response inhibition during the daytime**. *Chronobiology international* 2018, **35**(2):208-218.
- 114. Hood S, Amir S: **The aging clock: circadian rhythms and later life**. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 2017, **127**(2):437-446.
- 115. Micic G, Lovato N, Gradisar M, Ferguson SA, Burgess HJ, Lack LC: **The etiology of delayed sleep phase disorder**. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2016, **27**:29-38.
- 116. Schrader H, Bovim G, Sand T: **The prevalence of delayed and advanced sleep phase syndromes**. *Journal of sleep research* 1993, **2**(1):51-55.
- 117. Saxvig IW, Pallesen S, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Molde H, Bjorvatn B: **Prevalence and correlates of delayed sleep phase in high school students**. *Sleep medicine* 2012, **13**(2):193-199.
- 118. Takaesu Y: **Circadian rhythm in bipolar disorder: A review of the literature**. *Psychiatry and clinical neurosciences* 2018, **72**(9):673-682.
- 119. Kivela L, Papadopoulos MR, Antypa N: **Chronotype and Psychiatric Disorders**. *Current sleep medicine reports* 2018, **4**(2):94-103.
- 120. Steinan MK, Morken G, Lagerberg TV, Melle I, Andreassen OA, Vaaler AE, Scott J: Delayed sleep phase: An important circadian subtype of sleep disturbance in bipolar disorders. *Journal of affective disorders* 2016, **191**:156-163.
- 121. Afonso P, Brissos S, Figueira ML, Paiva T: Schizophrenia patients with predominantly positive symptoms have more disturbed sleep-wake cycles measured by actigraphy. *Psychiatry research* 2011, **189**(1):62-66.
- 122. Afonso P, Figueira ML, Paiva T: **Sleep-wake patterns in schizophrenia patients compared to healthy controls**. *The world journal of biological psychiatry : the official journal of the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry* 2013.
- 123. Bromundt V, Koster M, Georgiev-Kill A, Opwis K, Wirz-Justice A, Stoppe G, Cajochen C: **Sleep-wake cycles and cognitive functioning in schizophrenia**. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2011, **198**(4):269-276.
- 124. Woods P, Ashley C: **Violence and aggression: a literature review**. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing* 2007, **14**(7):652-660.
- 125. Vos J, Houben MM: Enhanced awakening probability of repetitive impulse sounds. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 2013, **134**(3):2011-2025.
- 126. Aasvang GM, Moum T, Engdahl B: **Self-reported sleep disturbances due to** railway noise: exposure-response relationships for nighttime equivalent and maximum noise levels. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 2008, **124**(1):257-268.
- 127. Pilon M, Desautels A, Montplaisir J, Zadra A: Auditory arousal responses and thresholds during REM and NREM sleep of sleepwalkers and controls. *Sleep medicine* 2012, **13**(5):490-495.
- 128. Matchock RL: Circadian and sleep episode duration influences on cognitive performance following the process of awakening. *International review of neurobiology* 2010, **93**:129-151.
- 129. Burke TM, Scheer F, Ronda JM, Czeisler CA, Wright KP, Jr.: **Sleep inertia, sleep homeostatic and circadian influences on higher-order cognitive functions**. *Journal of sleep research* 2015, **24**(4):364-371.
- 130. Richardson C, Micic G, Cain N, Bartel K, Maddock B, Gradisar M: **Cognitive performance in adolescents with Delayed Sleep-Wake Phase Disorder: Treatment effects and a comparison with good sleepers**. *Journal of adolescence* 2018, **65**:72-84.
- 131. Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Saxvig IW, Pallesen S, Nordhus IH, Vedaa O, Lundervold AJ, Bjorvatn B: **A randomized controlled trial with bright light and melatonin for the treatment of delayed sleep phase disorder: effects on subjective and objective sleepiness and cognitive function**. *Journal of biological rhythms* 2013, **28**(5):306-321.

- 132. Norvoll R, Ruud T, Hynnekleiv T: **Seclusion in emergency psychiatry**. *Tidsskrift for den Norske laegeforening:* 2015, **135**(1):35-39.
- 133. Sande R, Nijman HL, Noorthoorn EO, Wierdsma AI, Hellendoorn E, van der Staak C, Mulder CL: Aggression and seclusion on acute psychiatric wards: effect of short-term risk assessment. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2011, **199**(6):473-478.
- 134. Vaaler AE, Morken G, Linaker OM: **Effects of different interior decorations in the seclusion area of a psychiatric acute ward**. *Nord J Psychiatry* 2005, **59**(1):19-24.
- 135. NICE Guideline NG10: **Violence and aggression: Short-term management in mental health, health and community settings**. *National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health* 2015.
- 136. Giarelli E, Nocera R, Jobes M, Boylan C, Lopez J, Knerr J: **Exploration of Aggression/Violence Among Adult Patients Admitted for Short-term, Acutecare Mental Health Services**. *Archives of psychiatric nursing* 2018, **32**(2):215-223.
- 137. Pompili E, Carlone C, Silvestrini C, Nicolo G: **Focus on aggressive behaviour in mental illness**. *Rivista di psichiatria* 2017, **52**(5):175-179.
- 138. Willner P: **The neurobiology of aggression: implications for the pharmacotherapy of aggressive challenging behaviour by people with intellectual disabilities**. *Journal of intellectual disability research : JIDR* 2015, **59**(1):82-92.
- 139. Allen JJ, Anderson CA, Bushman BJ: **The General Aggression Model**. *Current opinion in psychology* 2018, **19**:75-80.
- 140. Blair RJ: **The Neurobiology of Impulsive Aggression**. Journal of child and adolescent psychopharmacology 2016, **26**(1):4-9.
- 141. Haynes PL, Bootzin RR, Smith L, Cousins J, Cameron M, Stevens S: **Sleep and** aggression in substance-abusing adolescents: results from an integrative behavioral sleep-treatment pilot program. *Sleep* 2006, **29**(4):512-520.
- 142. Ireland JL, Culpin V: **The relationship between sleeping problems and aggression, anger, and impulsivity in a population of juvenile and young offenders**. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2006, **38**(6):649-655.
- 143. Vaaler AE, Iversen VC, Morken G, Flovig JC, Palmstierna T, Linaker OM: Shortterm prediction of threatening and violent behaviour in an Acute Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit based on patient and environment characteristics. *BMC psychiatry* 2011, **11**:44.
- 144. Geniole SN, MacDonell ET, McCormick CM: **The Point Subtraction Aggression Paradigm as a laboratory tool for investigating the neuroendocrinology of aggression and competition**. *Hormones and behavior* 2017, **92**:103-116.
- 145. Iozzino L, Ferrari C, Large M, Nielssen O, de Girolamo G: **Prevalence and Risk** Factors of Violence by Psychiatric Acute Inpatients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PloS one* 2015, **10**(6):e0128536.
- 146. Yang BX, Stone TE, Petrini MA, Morris DL: **Incidence, Type, Related Factors, and Effect of Workplace Violence on Mental Health Nurses: A Crosssectional Survey**. *Archives of psychiatric nursing* 2018, **32**(1):31-38.
- 147. Anderson KK, Jenson CE: **Violence risk-assessment screening tools for acute care mental health settings: Literature review**. *Archives of psychiatric nursing* 2019, **33**(1):112-119.

- 148. Eriksen BMS, Faerden A, Lockertsen O, Bjorkly S, Roaldset JO: **Predictive validity** and gender differences in a biopsychosocial model of violence risk assessment in acute psychiatry. *Psychiatry research* 2018, **264**:270-280.
- 149. Lockertsen O, Procter N, Vatnar SKB, Faerden A, Eriksen BMS, Roaldset JO, Varvin S: Screening for risk of violence using service users' self-perceptions: A prospective study from an acute mental health unit. International journal of mental health nursing 2018, 27(3):1055-1065.
- 150. Witt K, van Dorn R, Fazel S: Risk factors for violence in psychosis: systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 110 studies. *PloS one* 2013, 8(2):e55942.
- 151. Li Q, Zhong S, Zhou J, Wang X: **Delusion, excitement, violence, and suicide history are risk factors for aggressive behavior in general inpatients with serious mental illnesses: A multicenter study in China**. *Psychiatry research* 2019, **272**:130-134.
- 152. Douglas KS, Hart SD, Webster CD, Belfrage H: **HCR-20V3: Assessing risk of violence – User guide.** Burnaby, Canada: Mental Health, Law, and Policy Institute, Simon Fraser University.; 2013.
- 153. Roaldset JO, Hartvig P, Bjorkly S: **V-RISK-10: validation of a screen for risk of violence after discharge from acute psychiatry**. *European psychiatry : the journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists* 2011, **26**(2):85-91.
- 154. Sarver WL, Radziewicz R, Coyne G, Colon K, Mantz L: **Implementation of the Broset Violence Checklist on an Acute Psychiatric Unit**. *J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc* 2019, **25**(6):476-486.
- 155. Ramesh T, Igoumenou A, Vazquez Montes M, Fazel S: **Use of risk assessment instruments to predict violence in forensic psychiatric hospitals: a systematic review and meta-analysis**. *European psychiatry : the journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists* 2018, **52**:47-53.
- 156. Dack C, Ross J, Papadopoulos C, Stewart D, Bowers L: **A review and metaanalysis of the patient factors associated with psychiatric in-patient aggression**. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2013, **127**(4):255-268.
- 157. Palmstierna T, Wistedt B: **Risk factors for aggressive behaviour are of limited** value in predicting the violent behaviour of acute involuntarily admitted patients. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica 1990, **81**(2):152-155.
- 158. Palmstierna T, Olsson D: **Violence from young women involuntarily admitted for severe drug abuse**. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2007, **115**(1):66-72.
- 159. Abderhalden C, Needham I, Dassen T, Halfens R, Haug HJ, Fischer JE: **Structured risk assessment and violence in acute psychiatric wards: randomised controlled trial**. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2008, **193**(1):44-50.
- 160. Ogloff JR, Daffern M: **The dynamic appraisal of situational aggression: an instrument to assess risk for imminent aggression in psychiatric inpatients**. *Behavioral sciences & the law* 2006, **24**(6):799-813.
- 161. Griffith JJ, Daffern M, Godber T: **Examination of the predictive validity of the Dynamic Appraisal of Situational Aggression in two mental health units**. *International journal of mental health nursing* 2013, **22**(6):485-492.
- 162. Woods P, Almvik R: **The Broset violence checklist (BVC)**. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica Supplementum 2002(412):103-105.
- 163. Linaker OM, Busch-Iversen H: **Predictors of imminent violence in psychiatric inpatients**. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1995, **92**(4):250-254.

- 164. Kamphuis J, Meerlo P, Koolhaas JM, Lancel M: **Poor sleep as a potential causal factor in aggression and violence**. *Sleep medicine* 2012, **13**(4):327-334.
- 165. Cote KA, McCormick CM, Geniole SN, Renn RP, MacAulay SD: **Sleep deprivation lowers reactive aggression and testosterone in men**. *Biological psychology* 2013, **92**(2):249-256.
- 166. Barker LF, Ireland JL, Chu S, Ireland CA: **Sleep and its association with aggression among prisoners: Quantity or quality?** *International journal of law and psychiatry* 2016, **47**:115-121.
- 167. APA: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. (DSM-IV). Washington, DC; 1994.
- 168. Morin CM: **Treatment manuals for practitioners. Insomnia: Psychological assessment and management.** New York, NY, US: Guilford Press; 1993.
- 169. APA: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third edition revised. 1987.
- 170. Silber MH, Ancoli-Israel S, Bonnet MH, Chokroverty S, Grigg-Damberger MM, Hirshkowitz M, Kapen S, Keenan SA, Kryger MH, Penzel T *et al*: **The visual scoring of sleep in adults**. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine* 2007, **3**(2):121-131.
- 171. Chang AM, Reid KJ, Gourineni R, Zee PC: **Sleep timing and circadian phase in delayed sleep phase syndrome**. *Journal of biological rhythms* 2009, **24**(4):313-321.
- 172. AT Beck RS, MG Garbin: Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clinical psychology review* 1988, 8:77-100.
- 173. Homack S, Riccio CA: **Conners' Continuous Performance Test (2nd ed.; CCPT-II)**. *Journal of attention disorders* 2006, **9**(3):556-558.
- 174. Egeland J, Kovalik-Gran I: **Measuring several aspects of attention in one test: the factor structure of conners's continuous performance test**. *Journal of attention disorders* 2010, **13**(4):339-346.
- 175. WHO: **The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research**. Geneva; 1993.
- 176. Langsrud K, Vaaler AE, Kallestad H, Morken G: **Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit**. *Psychiatry research* 2016, **237**:252-256.
- 177. Palmstierna T, Wistedt B: Staff observation aggression scale, SOAS: presentation and evaluation. Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica 1987, 76(6):657-663.
- Nijman M, Merckelbach, Palmstierna, Wistedt, Vos, Rixtel and Allertz: The Staff Observation Aggression Scale - Revised (SOAS-R). Aggressive Behavior 1999, 25:197-209.
- 179. van de Sande R, Nijman HL, Noorthoorn EO, Wierdsma AI, Hellendoorn E, van der Staak C, Mulder CL: **Aggression and seclusion on acute psychiatric wards: effect of short-term risk assessment**. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2011, **199**(6):473-478.
- 180. Listunova L, Roth C, Bartolovic M, Kienzle J, Bach C, Weisbrod M, Roesch-Ely D: Cognitive Impairment Along the Course of Depression: Non-Pharmacological Treatment Options. Psychopathology 2018:1-11.
- 181. Murray JM, Sletten TL, Magee M, Gordon C, Lovato N, Bartlett DJ, Kennaway DJ, Lack LC, Grunstein RR, Lockley SW *et al*: **Prevalence of Circadian Misalignment**

and Its Association With Depressive Symptoms in Delayed Sleep Phase Disorder. *Sleep* 2017, **40**(1).

- 182. Watson LA, Phillips AJK, Hosken IT, McGlashan EM, Anderson C, Lack LC, Lockley SW, Rajaratnam SMW, Cain SW: **Increased sensitivity of the circadian system to light in delayed sleep-wake phase disorder**. *The Journal of physiology* 2018.
- 183. Phillips AJK, Vidafar P, Burns AC, McGlashan EM, Anderson C, Rajaratnam SMW, Lockley SW, Cain SW: High sensitivity and interindividual variability in the response of the human circadian system to evening light. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2019, 116(24):12019-12024.
- 184. Solheim B, Olsen A, Kallestad H, Langsrud K, Bjorvatn B, Gradisar M, Sand T: Cognitive performance in DSWPD patients upon awakening from habitual sleep compared with forced conventional sleep. *Journal of sleep research* 2018:e12730.
- 185. Keski-Valkama A, Sailas E, Eronen M, Koivisto AM, Lonnqvist J, Kaltiala-Heino R: The reasons for using restraint and seclusion in psychiatric inpatient care: A nationwide 15-year study. Nord J Psychiatry 2010, 64(2):136-144.
- 186. Hvidhjelm J, Sestoft D, Bjorner JB: The Aggression Observation Short Form identified episodes not reported on the Staff Observation Aggression Scale--Revised. Issues in mental health nursing 2014, 35(6):464-469.
- 187. Almvik R, Woods P, Rasmussen K: The Brøset Violence Checklist:Sensitivity, Specificity, and Interrater Reliability. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 2000, 15(12):1284-1296.
- 188. Hvidhjelm J: **Forebyggelse af aggression og vold på psykiatriske afsnit via struktureret risikovurdering – evaluering af Brøset Violence Checklist i Danmark**. *Ph.D.* s. 36: Københavns Universitet; 2015.
- 189. Skovlund E: **Number of patients or number of measurements?** *Tidsskrift for den Norske laegeforening* 2018, **138**(18).
- 190. Lydersen S: **Statistical review: frequently given comments**. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2015, **74**(2):323-325.
- 191. Perneger TV: What's wrong with Bonferroni adjustments. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* 1998, **316**(7139):1236-1238.
- 192. Rothman KJ: Six persistent research misconceptions. J Gen Intern Med 2014, 29(7):1060-1064.
- 193. Wiley JF BB, Trinder J, Manber R.: Variability as a Predictor: A Bayesian Variability Model for Small Samples and Few Repeated Measures 2014.
- 194. Vedaa O, Hagatun S, Kallestad H, Pallesen S, Smith ORF, Thorndike FP, Ritterband LM, Sivertsen B: Long-Term Effects of an Unguided Online Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Chronic Insomnia. Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine 2019, 15(1):101-110.
- 195. Zepelin H, McDonald CS, Zammit GK: **Effects of age on auditory awakening thresholds**. *Journal of gerontology* 1984, **39**(3):294-300.
- 196. Solheim B, Langsrud K, Kallestad H, Engstrom M, Bjorvatn B, Sand T: **Sleep** structure and awakening threshold in delayed sleep-wake phase disorder patients compared to healthy sleepers. *Sleep medicine* 2018, **46**:61-68.
- 197. Lara T, Madrid JA, Correa A: **The vigilance decrement in executive function is attenuated when individual chronotypes perform at their optimal time of day**. *PloS one* 2014, **9**(2):e88820.

- 198. Schmidt C, Collette F, Cajochen C, Peigneux P: **A time to think: circadian rhythms in human cognition**. *Cognitive neuropsychology* 2007, **24**(7):755-789.
- 199. Roenneberg T, Wirz-Justice A, Merrow M: Life between clocks: daily temporal patterns of human chronotypes. *Journal of biological rhythms* 2003, **18**(1):80-90.
- 200. Saxvig IW, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Pallesen S, Nordhus IH, Vedaa O, Bjorvatn B: Habitual Sleep, Social Jetlag, and Reaction Time in Youths With Delayed Sleep-Wake Phase Disorder. A Case-Control Study. Front Psychol 2019, 10:2569.
- 201. Friborg O, Bjorvatn B, Amponsah B, Pallesen S: **Associations between seasonal** variations in day length (photoperiod), sleep timing, sleep quality and mood: a comparison between Ghana (5 degrees) and Norway (69 degrees). Journal of sleep research 2012, **21**(2):176-184.
- 202. Oyane NM, Ursin R, Pallesen S, Holsten F, Bjorvatn B: **Self-reported seasonality** is associated with complaints of sleep problems and deficient sleep duration: the Hordaland Health Study. *Journal of sleep research* 2008, **17**(1):63-72.
- 203. Gruber J, Harvey AG, Wang PW, Brooks JO, 3rd, Thase ME, Sachs GS, Ketter TA: Sleep functioning in relation to mood, function, and quality of life at entry to the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD). Journal of affective disorders 2009, **114**(1-3):41-49.
- 204. Kaplan KA, Talbot LS, Gruber J, Harvey AG: **Evaluating sleep in bipolar** disorder: comparison between actigraphy, polysomnography, and sleep diary. *Bipolar disorders* 2012, **14**(8):870-879.
- 205. Bauer M, Grof P, Rasgon N, Bschor T, Glenn T, Whybrow PC: **Temporal relation between sleep and mood in patients with bipolar disorder**. *Bipolar disorders* 2006, **8**(2):160-167.
- 206. Cohrs S: **Sleep disturbances in patients with schizophrenia : impact and effect of antipsychotics**. *CNS drugs* 2008, **22**(11):939-962.
- 207. Flovig JC, Vaaler AE, Morken G: **Substance use at admission to an acute psychiatric department**. *Nord J Psychiatry* 2009, **63**(2):113-119.
- 208. Mordal J, Holm B, Gossop M, Romoren M, Morland J, Bramness J: **Psychoactive** substance use among patients admitted to an acute psychiatric ward: laboratory findings and associations with clinical characteristics. *Nord J Psychiatry* 2011, **65**(3):208-215.
- 209. Scott J, Langsrud K, Vethe D, Kjorstad K, Vestergaard CL, Faaland P, Lydersen S, Vaaler A, Morken G, Torgersen T *et al*: **A pragmatic effectiveness randomized controlled trial of the duration of psychiatric hospitalization in a transdiagnostic sample of patients with acute mental illness admitted to a ward with either blue-depleted evening lighting or normal lighting conditions**. *Trials* 2019, **20**(1):472.
- 210. Kallestad H, Kjørstad K, Vethe D, Vestergaard C, Faaland P, Langsrud K: **Det nye** sykehusbygget på Østmarka integrerer behandling, innovasjon og søvnforskning. Søvn 2019, **11**(1):22-27.
- 211. Maric A, Burgi M, Werth E, Baumann CR, Poryazova R: **Exploring the impact of experimental sleep restriction and sleep deprivation on subjectively perceived sleep parameters**. *Journal of sleep research* 2018:e12706.

- 212. Chu CM, Daffern M, Ogloff JRP: **Predicting aggression in acute inpatient psychiatric setting using BVC, DASA, and HCR-20 Clinical scale**. *J Forensic Psychi Ps* 2013, **24**(2):269-285.
- 213. Abderhalden C, Needham I, Dassen T, Halfens R, Haug HJ, Fischer J: **Predicting inpatient violence using an extended version of the Broset-Violence-Checklist: instrument development and clinical application**. *BMC psychiatry* 2006, **6**:17.
- 214. Yao X, Li Z, Arthur D, Hu L, An FR, Cheng G: **Acceptability and psychometric properties of Broset Violence Checklist in psychiatric care settings in China**. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing* 2014, **21**(9):848-855.
- 215. Partridge B, Affleck J: **Predicting aggressive patient behaviour in a hospital emergency department: An empirical study of security officers using the Broset Violence Checklist.** *Australas Emerg Care* 2018, **21**(1):31-35.
- 216. Zealberg JJ, Brady KT: **Substance abuse and emergency psychiatry**. *The Psychiatric clinics of North America* 1999, **22**(4):803-817.
- 217. Killgore WDS, Vanuk JR, Shane BR, Weber M, Bajaj S: **A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial of blue wavelength light exposure on sleep and recovery of brain structure, function, and cognition following mild traumatic brain injury.** *Neurobiol Dis* **2020, 134**:104679.
- 218. Vaaler AE, Morken G, Iversen VC, Kondziella D, Linaker OM: Acute Unstable Depressive Syndrome (AUDS) is associated more frequently with epilepsy than major depression. *BMC Neurol* 2010, **10**:67.
- 219. Blumberg HP, Kanwal GS, Relkin N, Mattis S, Viederman M, Makari GJ: **Psychiatric complications in a patient with complex partial seizures**. *The American journal of psychiatry* 1996, **153**(3):404-405.
- 220. Boutros NN, Bowyer S, Wang J, Urfy MZ, Loeb JA: **Epilepsy spectrum disorders:** A concept in need of validation or refutation. *Med Hypotheses* 2015, **85**(5):656-663.
- 221. Carreno M, Fernandez S: **Sleep-Related Epilepsy**. *Curr Treat Options Neurol* 2016, **18**(5):23.
- Leach JP, Mohanraj R, Borland W: Alcohol and drugs in epilepsy: pathophysiology, presentation, possibilities, and prevention. *Epilepsia* 2012, 53 Suppl 4:48-57.
- 223. Jaimes-Albornoz W, Serra-Mestres J: **Catatonia in the emergency department**. *Emerg Med J* 2012, **29**(11):863-867.
- 224. Goodwin FK: **Preventing inpatient suicide**. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* 2003, **64**(1):12-13.
- 225. Strawn JR, Keck PE, Jr., Caroff SN: **Neuroleptic malignant syndrome**. *The American journal of psychiatry* 2007, **164**(6):870-876.
- 226. Brown TA, Barlow DH: **Dimensional versus categorical classification of mental disorders in the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders and beyond: comment on the special section**. *Journal of abnormal psychology* 2005, **114**(4):551-556.
- 227. Casey BJ, Craddock N, Cuthbert BN, Hyman SE, Lee FS, Ressler KJ: **DSM-5 and RDoC: progress in psychiatry research?** *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2013, **14**(11):810-814.
- 228. Insel T, Cuthbert B, Garvey M, Heinssen R, Pine DS, Quinn K, Sanislow C, Wang P: Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework

for research on mental disorders. *The American journal of psychiatry* 2010, **167**(7):748-751.

7. Appendix

- 1. Sleep diaries
- 2. BVC
- 3. SOAS
- 4. Paper 2; Scatterplot of correlations in Table 45. Recalculated main results of paper III

Appendix 1. Sleep diaries		
	9	SØVNF
1	El.	0

									S	Ø١	۷N	١F	RĘ	Gl	S	TF	RE	RI	N	G											
	Pa	sie	entr	nav	'n:		E,	ks	l.	r	r	Ì	P/																		
År:	Må	ned	:	1	'n	.(a		4	1	\mathcal{Y}_{i}		12	(C	2	13	sc			-(V	K		3,	1	l	h(119	æ	
KI/Dag	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31
12							-			_		_		-												-					\square
13	F									_																					
14	F												F	F																	
15	-																				_						_				
16	F						_		_			_	\vdash	F													_				
17	F																					_									
18	F											2	-																		
19	F					_					_			F																	
20	F										_																	_			
21	-										_																	_			
22	F			_			_				2		F	F																	
23	F																					_		_							
24	F						_				P			F								_						_			
01			_										-			_												_			
02	F										_										_	_		_							
03	-																												-		
04	1												_								_								4		
05	F										ALE A	RA I																	4		
06	F									_	5%	17	_															_	4	4	4
07												Ø)																			4
08	F			-				_																				_			
09				_			_																								
10	Ħ		_																										4		1
11																															
Totalt (4)											34	9																	+	+	
Vacib	Lat						-				- 1	53											_								

Appendix 2. BVC

Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC); Pasienten skåres ved hvert skift av f.eks primærpleier senest to timer etter starten på skiftet. Se forøvrig veiledning i prosjektmappe. Fravær av symptom/atferd gir 0 poeng, observert endring i eller tilstedeværende atferd skåres med 1 poeng. F.eks er pasienten vanligvis forvirret vil dette gi skåre 0, men øker forvirringen gis skåre 1. Totalskåre (SUM) er summen av en vertikal kolonne.

Prosjektnr.: Uke nr.:

Innkomst,dag den/ 2000DagKveldNattForvirretIrritabelStøyende atferdVerbale truslerFysiske truslerSlag, spark etc mot
gjenstanderSUMSignatur

Dag , dag de	n /	2000)
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel			
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler			
Slag, spark etc mot gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			

Dag ,dag de	n /	2000	
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel			
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler			
Slag, spark etc mot			
gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			

Dag ,dag de	en /	2000	
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel	Ĭ		
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler			
Slag, spark etc. mot			
gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			a com

- Weber La

Pasientdata

Dag ,dag den	/	2000	
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel			
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler			
Slag, spark etc mot			
gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			

Dag ,dag de	en /	2000	
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel			
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler			
Slag, spark etc mot			
gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			

Dag ,dag d	len /	2000	
	Dag	Kveld	Natt
Forvirret			
Irritabel			1
Støyende atferd			
Verbale trusler			
Fysiske trusler		1	1
Slag, spark etc mot			
gjenstander			
SUM			
Signatur			

69

Appendix 3. SOAS

Registreringsskjema SOAS -R Staff Observation Aggression Scale - Revised (Nijman & Palmstierna 1999)

For aggressiv atferd Til norsk	ved Almvik R, Rør E. ©2000								
Pasientdata:	Utfylt av:								
Navn:	Avdeling/Avsnitt:	Kjønn:							
Fødselsdato:	Stilling:								
Kjønn:	Ansatt siden:	Alder:							
Hendelse nr.:	Dato:	Klokkeslett:							
Dette skjemaet skal fylles ut av person	alet som har vært vitne til eller involvert i hende	elser som kan defineres som aggressive							
eller voldelige; så som enhver verbal e	ller non-verbal atferd som kan oppfattes som tr	uende (mot seg selv, andre eller							
gjenstander), eller fysisk atferd som faktisk medførte fysisk skade (Fra Morrison 1990)									
Husk å fylle ut alle data og sett mir	Husk å fylle ut alle data og sett minst et kryss i hver kolonne.								

Varselsignaler	Hvordan begynte	Hva brukte pasienten	Mål for aggresionen	Konsekvenser av utageringen	Hvilke tiltak ble iverksatt
	aggresjonen		00 0	8 8	
🗋 Ingen	Ingen synlig/	Verbal	📋 Ingen	🗌 Ingen følger	Ingen tiltak
observert	forståelig årsak	aggresjon	/Ingenting		
	provosert av:			For ting;	
🔲 Økt irritasjon	Andre	Verbal trussel/	Ting eller	Skadet, men	Snakke med
	pasienter	drapstrussel	gjenstander	brukbar	pasienten
Økt	☐ Hjelp med	Vanlige ting		🗌 Skadet, må	☐ Fjernet fra
forvirring	ADL	eller handlinger:	Medpasient(er)	erstattes	situasjonen
			M/K	For personer:	
Økte tegn på	Ble nektet noe	☐ Stoler,	Pasienten	Følte seg	Skjerming
angst	(eks et gode,	inventar e.l	selv	truet	
	aktivitet)				
	Krav om a ta	Servise,	Personale	\square Smerte < 10	
utrykk for sinne	medisin	glasstøy, annet	MI/K	min.	I bl. /flytende
Kroppslig	Krav om a		Annen (an)	\Box Smerte > 10	
utrykk for sinne		T I A un sto	person(er)	mm.	
		Annet;		Synlig skade	Holdt med
psykomotorisk	Kommunikasjon/	Variation and also			makt
		Kroppsdel:		Dahandlinaa	Malranialra
Annet;		Hanu (slag,		behav (lettera)	
l. I		Eat (an only)	-	Denov (lettere)	
	Annet;	FOL (Spark)		legebehandling	
	3	TITonnor			
		(biting)			
		(onling)	4		
		Farlige ting eller			
		handlinger.	1		
		Kniv/Stikkvånen			
		skarpe gienst.			
		Forsøk på			
		kvelning/strupetak			
		Annet;	-		
		skarpe gjenst.	-		

VAS - Visuell Analog Skala

Den voldelige hendelsen var: (avmerk med kryss på streken)

Ikke alvorlig i det hele tatt

Svært alvorlig



Appendix 4. Paper 2; Scatterplot of correlations in Table 4

Appendix 5. Recalculated main results of paper III Original with 50 admissions, and revised with 40 patients

Table 2

Correlations between sleep duration at night and Brøset Violent Check-list (BVC) the next day, 50 admissions

	Schizop	ohrenia	Oth	ier	All		
Sleep duration the first night	r ^s -0.473*	р 0.041	r ^s -0.288	р 0.145	r ^s -0.378	р 0.010	
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	0.062**	0.827	0.549	0.055	0.266	ns	
Sleep duration, all nights	-0.053	Ns	-0.032	Ns	-0.075	ns	
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night, all nights	0.104	0.079	0.231	0.021	0.138	0.006	

r^s= Spearmans rho

* 19 admission with diagnose Schizophrenia

** 15 admission with diagnose Schizophrenia

Revised Table 2

Correlations between sleep duration at night and Brøset Violent Check-list (BVC) the next day, 40 patients

	Schizo	phrenia	Otl	her	A	NII
Sleep duration the first night	r ^s -0.424*	р 0.116	r ^s -0.164	р 0.467	r ^s -0.310	р 0.062
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	0.421**	0.198	0.385	0.174	0.423	0.035
Sleep duration, all nights	0.054	ns	0.100	ns	0.066	ns
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night, all nights	0.106	0.139	0.346	0.006	0.161	0.010

r^s= Spearmans rho

* 15 patients with Schizophrenia

** 11 patients with Schizophrenia

Table 3

Length of sleep duration and differences in night-to-night sleep duration in admissions with injuries to staff recorded by Staff Observation Scale- Revised (SOAS-R), compared to admissions without injuries. (50 admissions)

		Inju	ries		juries		
	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	р
Sleep duration the first night Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	7 7	5.5 4.5	(4.0-11.25) (3.5-10.0)	43 29	8.5 2.0	(6.0-10.0) (0.625-4.25)	ns 0.020
Sleep duration Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night	15 14	6.5 2.25	(5.0-9.0) (1.175-3.5)	494 439	9.0 1.5	(7.25-11.0) (0.75-2.75)	0.013 ns

Mann-Whitney U Tests

IQR: Interquartile range

Revised Table 3

Length of sleep duration and differences in night-to-night sleep duration in admissions with injuries to staff recorded by Staff Observation Scale- Revised (SOAS-R), compared to admissions without injuries. (40 patients)

	Injuries n Median IQR			No injuries n Median IQR			р
Sleep duration the first night Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	5 5	6.5 4.5	(4.0-11.625) (3.125-12.75)	35 21	8.0 2.0	(6.0-9.25) (0.625-4.625)	ns 0.057
Sleep duration Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night	9 9	7.5 2.5	(5.75-11.375) (0.75-4.0)	339 298	8.5 1.5	(6.5-10.0) (0.75-3.0)	0.584 ns

Mann-Whitney U Tests

IQR: Interquartile range

8. Original Papers I-IV

Sleep Medicine 15 (2014) 1264-1268

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Sleep Medicine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/sleep



Difficult morning awakening from rapid eye movement sleep and impaired cognitive function in delayed sleep phase disorder patients

CrossMark

Brandy Solheim ^{a,*}, Knut Langsrud ^{a,b}, Håvard Kallestad ^b, Alexander Olsen ^{c,d}, Bjørn Bjorvatn ^{e,f}, Trond Sand ^{a,g}

^a Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

^b Department of Psychiatry, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^c MI Laboratory and Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

^d Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

e Department of Global Public Health and Primary Care, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

^f Norwegian Competence Center for Sleep Disorders, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway

g Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 31 January 2014 Received in revised form 18 April 2014 Accepted 29 May 2014 Available online 3 July 2014

Keywords: Delayed sleep phase disorder REM sleep Difficult morning awakening Polysomnography Continuous performance test

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Difficult awakening is a key symptom of delayed sleep phase disorder (DSPD), but no studies have quantified awakening thresholds in a sleep laboratory. This study assessed whether cognitive function was impaired after awakening and whether difficult awakening was associated with specific polysomnographic features such as slow wave sleep stage N3.

Methods: Nine patients with DSPD and nine sex- and age-matched healthy controls were included. Polysomnography was performed at our university hospital from midnight. An alarm clock was activated at 07:00 with sound intensity increasing from 72 to 104 dB. Participants performed a continuous performance test (CPT) the previous afternoon and immediately upon awakening.

Results: Three DSPD patients and zero controls did not wake up to the maximum 104 dB alarm sound; all three patients were in rapid eye movement (REM) sleep when the alarm clock went off (difference in proportions, P = 0.047). In patients, CPT reaction time was prolonged in the morning compared to the afternoon [analysis of variance (ANOVA) interaction, P = 0.01]. DSPD patients made more omission errors than controls regardless of time of the day (ANOVA main effect, P = 0.046).

Conclusion: Difficult awakening from slow wave sleep was not observed. A subgroup of DSPD patients may have a severe problem waking up from REM sleep. DSPD patients may also have a state-like impairment in cognitive function in the morning and a trait-like impairment not depending on time of day, compared to normal sleepers.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Delayed sleep phase disorder (DSPD) prevalence among high school students may be as high as 8.4% [1], whereas the prevalence in adults may be as low as 0.17% [2].

Some patients with DSPD report extreme difficulty with waking up in the morning, as they do not react to an alarm clock [3]. Patients may be unable to keep a job or have problems completing education because of absence in the morning [4,5].

Whereas difficult morning awakening is a diagnostic criterion (ICSD-2) and highly disabling symptom in DSPD, research on this phenomenon has not yet been conducted [3]. Specifically, it has not

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.05.024 1389-9457/© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. been tested whether patients have a different wake-up threshold compared to healthy controls in the morning. Moreover, no studies have explored potential mechanisms for why these patients have difficulties waking up. Most awakenings in healthy subjects follow a rapid eye movement (REM) sleep period [3,5,6]. On the other hand, awakening from slow wave sleep (SWS) may be difficult, often resulting in confusion and impaired arousal [7]. The difficult morning awakening for patients with DSPD could therefore be related to sleep stage [8].

DSPD patients commonly report poor cognitive function when forced to arise early in the morning. Temporarily impaired cognitive function upon awakening is also a characteristic of sleep inertia (SI) [7,9], and its severity has been related to awakening during slow wave sleep (N3) and after reduced total sleep time (TST) [7,10]. Consequently as DSPD patients have considerable amounts of N3 sleep between 06:00 and 08:00 [8], it may be hypothesized that difficult awakening mainly occurs from N3 in patients with DSPD.



sleepmedicing



^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Clinical Neurosciences; Norwegian University of Science and Technology, N-7489 Trondheim, Norway. Tel.: 004772575888. *E-mail address: brandy.solheim@ntnu.no* (B. Solheim).

It has been suggested that SI is primarily associated with low arousal (increased reaction time), whereas SI in the context of sleep deprivation also introduces lapses in vigilance (reduced accuracy) [11]. The continuous performance test (CPT) has the capacity to reliably assess both speed and accuracy [12,13], and measures both sustained and transient cognitive control processes that are subserved by brain regions [14] shown to be particularly prone to SI effects [15].

One aim was to quantify the awakening threshold in DSPD patients with an alarm clock. Another hypothesis was that cognitive function would be reduced upon awakening relative to daytime performance in DSPD patients compared to healthy controls. A third hypothesis was that difficult awakenings would be associated with some sleep stage (SWS in particular).

2. Methods

2.1. Participants

Patients were interviewed by physicians experienced with sleep disorders using a semi-structured interview. Nine patients diagnosed with DSPD were included in the study (four males, five females) (mean age, 22.5 ± 2.2 years; range, 18–25). The included patients met the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, 4th edition (DSM-IV 307.45) diagnostic criteria for circadian rhythm sleep disorder [16] and the ICSD-2 criteria for DSPD [17].

Nine healthy subjects (four males and five females) (mean age 23.3 ± 2.4 years; range, 18–28) were recruited by posting an announcement on the University's homepage and local campus boards. Subjects with coexisting other major health problems or regular

use of neuroactive drugs the last 4 weeks were not included.

The study protocol was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics.

2.2. Procedure

Participants completed a sleep diary for 14 days and wore an actigraph for the last 7 days before polysomnography (PSG) was recorded for two nights. An ambulatory PSG was done first to minimize the 'first-night effect' [18].

The experimental PSG was performed two days after the initial PSG. Participants came to the sleep laboratory at 14:00, took the CPT at 15:00, and completed psychiatric and sleep-related questionnaires afterwards. The light was dimmed to <200 lux from 18:00. Saliva was sampled for melatonin testing every hour from 19:00 to bedtime at midnight. At exactly 07:00 the following morning, an alarm clock was activated. This custom-made tone generator started at 72 dB sound pressure level, increasing by 2 dB at equal intervals (sound active for 4.4 s with 5 s intervals) until the subject was awake or the 104 dB maximum was reached after 3 min. Two standard personal computer speakers (Sony, SRS-Z510) were placed on each side, ~50 cm from the head. The exact time and dB value at which each person reacted were noted. Subjects who did not react at all to 104 dB alarms were awakened manually. Six minutes after awakening the participants took the same CPT test, with identical instructions as the day before.

2.3. Assessments

2.3.1. Actigraphy

The actigraph (AW4, CamNtech Ltd, Cambridge, UK) recorded 30 s epochs for 7 days prior to the experimental night with medium sensitivity. We used sleep start and sleep end for analyses.

2.3.2. Polysomnography

Participants slept in a standard hospital bed within a shielded video-PSG laboratory. A Somnoscreen 10-20 monitor (SOMNOmedics GmbH, Randersacker, Germany) using a standard PSG montage with electroencephalography electrodes (F3, F4, C3, C4, O1, O2, A1, A2 with a Cz reference, and 0.2–35 Hz filter), electro-oculography electrodes (placed 1 cm over/under the left/right lateral canthus), an infrared O₂ finger sensor, two chin EMG electrodes, a nasal airflow sensor and an oro-nasal thermistor were used. Apnea-hypopnea index was <5/h in all participants. Video and sound were recorded continuously (VID65A, HD resolution 2048 × 1536, SOMNOmedics). Polysomnograms were analyzed by a blinded, certified clinical neurophysiologist, according to standardized criteria [19] using Domino software version 2.5.0.

2.3.3. Melatonin

Food or drink was not allowed 30 min prior to each sampling. Five minutes before sampling, the mouth was rinsed with cold water. A piece of Parafilm® (Pechiney Plastic Packaging Company, Chicago, IL, USA) was chewed and two samples of ≥ 2 mL each were collected and placed in a refrigerator at 4 °C within 10 min. All samples were placed in a freezer at less than -20 °C immediately after midnight and analyzed with the Non-Extraction Melatonin Saliva enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit, supplied by IBL International GmbH (Hamburg, Germany).

A melatonin baseline was calculated as the mean value for samples taken at 20:00, 21:00 and 22:00. Normal (early) melatonin secretion onset was defined when a concentration either more than twice the baseline value, or baseline +2.5 standard deviations (SD), was measured either at 23:00 or at 00:00. This cut-off was modified from the 2 SD limit used by Chang et al. [20] in order to account for the observed baseline variability. Delayed dim light melatonin onset (DLMO) was presumed if concentrations had not reached one of the cut-off values at 00:00.

2.3.4. Sleep diary

Participants kept a graphic sleep diary of their subjective experience of sleep timing and duration for 14 days prior to the experimental night. A pencil was used to shade (or leave) 24 rectangular small boxes each representing 1 h of the day. Symbols were inserted for going to bed, lights off, and getting out of bed.

2.3.5. Sleep-related and psychiatric self-report questionnaires

Participants completed self-report questionnaires to assess circadian preference (Horne–Östberg Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ) [21], and the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) [22]).

2.3.6. Continuous performance test

In the present study, Conners' CPT II [23] was used to assess cognitive function. Letters A–Z were presented consecutively on a computer screen for 250 ms each in a pseudorandom fashion for 14 min. Inter-stimulus intervals varied between 1, 2 and 4 s. There were 324 targets (letters other than X) and 36 non-targets (the letter X). Participants were instructed to press a button as quickly as possible whenever a target was presented. Measures were: Hit-RT, mean reaction time for correct responses; commission errors, the number of failed withholdings to non-targets; and omission errors, the number of failed responses to targets.

2.4. Data analysis and statistics

The main variables were: CPT Hit-RT evening–morning difference; alarm clock level upon awakening; and sleep stage on awakening. Exploratory statistical data analysis was performed for the remaining variables. The value of 105 dB was entered for subjects who did not wake up to 104 dB, whereas a value of 71 dB was entered for subjects who were awake at 07:00.

Separate 2×2 repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied for each of the three CPT performance measures (Hit-RT, commission errors), with group (patients, controls) and time (afternoon, morning) as fixed factors. In the case of statistically significant main or interaction effects, planned simple contrasts were performed.

Non-parametric Mann–Whitney *U*-test or Wilcoxon signed rank test was applied for PSG, actigraphy, questionnaire, and sleep diary variables. Differences in proportions were tested with a standardized normal deviate. Two-sided P < 0.05 was considered significant.

Non-parametric Spearman's rho was used for exploratory correlation analyses within the patient group.

3. Results

Delayed DLMO was confirmed in eight out of the nine patients. Melatonin increased significantly more in controls than in patients (Table 1).

Self-reported MEQ, sleep diary and actigraphy data confirmed a delayed sleep phase in all patients. Patients scored higher on depression than did controls. Based on standard BDI cut-off values (0–9, normal; 10–18, mild; 19–29, moderate; \geq 30, severe depression), all controls were normal. Three patients were normal, four mild, and two had severe depression. No significant difference was found regarding diary-reported sleep duration between the two groups (Table 1).

PSG sleep onset latency was longer, total sleep time (TST) was shorter, sleep efficiency (SE) was lower and stage N3 duration was shorter in patients compared to healthy controls (Table 2).

Patients tended to be more difficult to wake up, as quantified through the intensity of the alarm clock sound, but the variation was larger within the patient group and the difference was not significant (Table 2).

Compared to none of the nine controls, three of nine patients failed to wake up from the alarm clock at its highest intensity (104 dB) and had to be manually awakened. All patients who failed to wake up from the alarm clock were in REM sleep at the time of the alarm.

Four patients and three controls were in REM sleep at the time of the alarm. Three out of these four patients compared to none of

Table 1

Sleen	diary	actigraphy	questionnaire	and	melatonin data	
SICCP	unary,	actigraphy	questionnanc	anu	inclatoinn uata.	

Variables	Patients $(n = 9)$	Controls $(n = 9)$	P-value ^a
Sleep diary			
Sleep start	$01:26 \pm 01:03$	$00:03 \pm 00:41$	0.004
Sleep end	$10:23 \pm 01:03$	$07:55 \pm 00:53$	< 0.0005
Night sleep (h)	7.44 ± 0.69	7.14 ± 0.41	NS
Actigraphy			
Sleep start	$01:48 \pm 00:47$	$00:23 \pm 00:46$	0.003
Sleep end	$09:50 \pm 1:26$	$08:05 \pm 00:56$	0.02
Questionnaires			
BDI	14.7 ± 11.7	2.8 ± 2.9	0.01
MEQ	27.6 ± 6.0	46.8 ± 6.4	< 0.0005
Melatonin			
Baseline (pg/mL)	11.0 ± 6.3	9.3 ± 5.7	NS
Percent increase ^b	37 ± 51	137 ± 109	0.01
Delayed DLMO (no.)	8	3	0.02

Values are mean \pm standard deviation unless otherwise indicated.

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; MEQ, Morningness–Eveningness Questionnaire; DLMO, dim light melatonin onset; NS, not significant.

^a Mann–Whitney U- or proportion-difference test.

^b Maximum increase at 23:00 or 00:00.

Table 2

Polysomnographic data and awakening threshold for the study night recorded from	n
00:00 to 07:00.	

Sleep variable	Patient	Control	P-value ^a
TST (min)	333 ± 49	379 ± 22	0.01
SE (%)	82.5 ± 10.7	93.3 ± 5.4	0.01
SOL (min)	41 ± 37	7 ± 7	0.003
N1 (min)	30 ± 13	43 ± 43	NS
N2 (min)	178 ± 31	156 ± 26	NS
N3 (min)	73 ± 16	106 ± 27	0.01
REM (min)	53 ± 19	74 ± 21	NS
Awakening threshold (dB)	85.2 ± 14.9	74.2 ± 2.7	NS

Values are mean ± standard deviation.

TST, total sleep time; SE, sleep efficiency; SOL, sleep onset latency to N1; REM, rapid eye movement sleep; NS, not significant.

^a Mann–Whitney U-test.

three controls did not wake up from REM sleep (P = 0.047). Patients who failed to wake up from REM (n = 3) had significantly less REM percentage ($14 \pm 5 \text{ vs } 19 \pm 2\%$, P = 0.04) and more stage N1 sleep ($35 \pm 9 \text{ vs } 17 \pm 12 \text{ min}$, P = 0.04) than the other patients (n = 6), whereas no significant differences were observed for melatonin (baseline and percent increase) and diary-recorded variables (sleep length, sleep latency, sleep onset hour, and sleep onset hour variability).

CPT performance measures are presented in Table 3. For Hit-RT, there was a statistically significant interaction effect between group and time [F(1, 16) = 7.76, P = 0.013] (Fig. 1). A planned simple contrast revealed that patients had a statistically significant

Table 3

Summary of CPT measures.

CPT measure	Afternoon (~15:00)	Morning (07:00)
Hit RT (ms)		
Patients	300.6 ± 25.9	326.7 ± 44.3
Controls	347.8 ± 59.6	335.9 ± 56.9
Omission errors		
Patients	3.6 ± 3.9	4.3 ± 4.9
Controls	0.9 ± 0.9	1.1 ± 1.4
Commission errors		
Patients	20.1 ± 9.2	21.8 ± 10.4
Controls	13.7 ± 7.6	13.6 ± 8.6

Values are mean ± standard deviation.

CPT, Conners' Continuous Performance Test II; Hit RT, reaction time.



Fig. 1. Conners' Continuous Performance Test II: group (patients, controls)× time (afternoon, morning) interaction for Hit RT [F(1, 16) = 7.76, P = 0.01]. RT, reaction time.

increase in mean Hit-RT when tested in the morning, relative to that in the afternoon {F(1, 16) = 7.32, P = 0.016 [95% confidence interval (CI) of difference, 5–46]}. In addition, patients had lower Hit-RT than healthy controls when tested in the afternoon [F(1, 16) = 4.75, P = 0.045 (95% CI of difference, 1–93)], whereas no statistically significant difference between the groups was found in the morning. Patients generally made more omission errors than controls [main effect F(1, 16) = 4.69, P = 0.046 (95% CI of difference, 0.06–5.8)]. For commission errors, there were no significant main or interaction effects.

No significant correlations were found within the DSPD group between Hit-RT (afternoon–morning difference) and melatonin increase, diary sleep onset hour, diary sleep length, PSG-TST, SE, and N3. Neither the awakening threshold nor the Hit-RT difference correlated with these variables. Awakening threshold, but nor Hit-RT difference, correlated positively with BDI (rho = 0.74, P = 0.023).

4. Discussion

Of the nine patients, three could not be awakened from an alarm clock with a sound intensity of 104 dB, whereas all controls either were already awake or woke up from a sound intensity of ≤78 dB. This may point towards a possible dysfunction in sleep/arousal system that may in part explain why some patients seem unable to attend work or school. Awakening threshold did not correlate with either PSG or circadian variables among patients. This suggests that difficult morning awakening may not be a mere reflection of short sleep. A clinical implication is that certain patients may need manual awakening in addition to an alarm clock, at least in the early stages of light treatment before the circadian phase has been shifted.

The trend towards patients being harder to wake up compared to controls was statistically non-significant. This was probably due to a small sample size and large variability within the patient group.

Interestingly, whereas healthy subjects are most likely to wake up from REM sleep [3], all patients who were unable to wake up when exposed to a 104 dB alarm clock sound were in REM sleep. This was contrary to our hypothesis that DSPD awakening problems would be related to slow wave sleep (N3) and suggests a possible REM sleep dysfunction in a subgroup of DSPD patients. This observation seems to be new. To our knowledge, there are no previously reported cases of difficult awakening from REM sleep in the literature.

Current knowledge about REM sleep suggests that 'stimuli incorporation' might be one explanation for the observed difficult awakening. It is not unusual to incorporate external auditory stimuli into a dream [24]. A DSPD subject might then include the sound of an alarm clock into his/her dream, counteracting the expected arousal and awakening. Regrettably, we did not ask patients to recollect dream content in the present study.

The CPT results showed that patients, compared to controls, had increased Hit-RT when tested in the morning as compared to when tested in the afternoon. This supports the hypothesis that the patients' cognitive function is reduced upon awakening. To some extent, this observation may confirm patients' subjective reports of 'sleep drunkenness' when forced to wake up early [17].

No correlation between CPT and PSG or circadian variables was found within the DSPD group. However, reduced TST, reduced SWS, and lower SE may still be contributing factors to the decline in early morning performance when DSPD patients are compared to controls, because the lack of within-group correlation can be explained by a type II error.

DSPD may also affect cognitive function in general, i.e. unrelated to time of day as patients made more omission errors than controls. In addition, patients had faster Hit-RT than healthy controls when tested in the afternoon. These findings suggest that there may be stable trait-like differences between DSPD patients and controls, in addition to the state-dependent change found in relation to Hit-RT.

The high score for depression in our patient group is in agreement with other studies [25,26]. Abe et al. reported that depression is most common in evening chronotypes [26]. Alvarez et al. stated that it is unlikely that depression or personality problems are among the main causes of DSPD [25]. Nevertheless, we observed that high awakening thresholds were associated both with more severe depression and with relatively less REM sleep, suggesting that the possibly interacting effects of depression and sleep structure in DSPD should be investigated further in future studies.

The study has limitations as our sample size was small and the results might not apply to the general DSPD population. A second limitation was that we did not include CPT measurements after a second night with longer sleep durations in patients. Hence, we could not ascertain with our design whether the CPT findings were related to short sleep duration or to DSPD itself. A third limitation was a rather large variability in baseline melatonin recordings. Melatonin was not required for diagnosis, but more stable recordings might improve our ability to detect the effect of the circadian factor on DSPD-related symptoms. We emphasize that our results require independent confirmation and future investigation as there currently is no literature on the subject.

Conflict of interest

The ICMJE Uniform Disclosure Form for Potential Conflicts of Interest associated with this article can be viewed by clicking on the following link: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.05.024.

Acknowledgment

We thank Marit Stjern, Sylvia Nome Kvam and Ina Møller for practical assistance.

References

- Saxvig IW, Pallesen S, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Molde H, Bjorvatn B. Prevalence and correlates of delayed sleep phase in high school students. Sleep Med 2012;13:193–9.
- [2] Schrader H, Bovim G, Sand T. The prevalence of delayed and advanced sleep phase syndromes. J Sleep Res 1993;2:51–5.
- [3] Akerstedt T, Billiard M, Bonnet M, Ficca G, Garma L, Mariotti M, et al. Awakening from sleep. Sleep Med Rev 2002;6:267–86.
- [4] Okawa M, Uchiyama M, Circadian rhythm sleep disorders: characteristics and entrainment pathology in delayed sleep phase and non-24-h sleep-wake syndrome. Sleep Med Rev 2007;11:485–96.
- [5] Dagan Y, Abadi J. Sleep-wake schedule disorder disability: a lifelong untreatable pathology of the circadian time structure. Chronobiol Int 2001;18:1019–27.
- [6] Klemm WR, Why does REM sleep occur? A wake-up hypothesis. Front Syst Neurosci 2011;5:73.
- [7] Tassi P, Muzet A. Sleep inertia. Sleep Med Rev 2000;4:341–53.
- [8] Saxvig IW, Wilhelmsen-Langeland A, Pallesen S, Vedaa O, Nordhus IH, Sørensen E, et al. Objective measures of sleep and dim light melatonin onset in adolescents and young adults with delayed sleep phase disorder compared to healthy controls. J Sleep Res 2013;22:365–72.
- [9] Marzano C, Ferrara M, Moroni F, De Gennaro L. Electroencephalographic sleep inertia of the awakening brain. Neuroscience 2011;176:308–17.
- [10] Tassi P, Bonnefond A, Engasser O, Hoeft A, Eschenlauer R, Muzet A. EEG spectral power and cognitive performance during sleep inertia: the effect of normal sleep duration and partial sleep deprivation. Physiol Behav 2006;87:177–84.
- [11] Tassi P, Bonnefond A, Hoeft A, Eschenlauer R, Muzetand A. Arousal and vigilance: do they differ? Study in a sleep inertia paradigm. Sleep Res Online 2003;5:83–7.
- [12] Riccio CA, Reynolds CR, Lowe P, Moore JJ. The continuous performance test: a window on the neural substrates for attention? Archs Clin Neuropsychol 2002;17:235–72.
- [13] Conners CK, Epstein JN, Angold A, Klaric J. Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2003;31:555–62.
- [14] Olsen A, Ferenc Brunner J, Evensen KA, Garzon B, Landro NI, Haberg AK. The functional topography and temporal dynamics of overlapping and distinct brain activations for adaptive task control and stable task-set maintenance during performance of an fMRI-adapted clinical continuous performance test. J Cogn Neurosci 2013;25:903–19.

1268

- [15] Balkin TJ, Braun AR, Wesensten NJ, Jeffries K, Varga M, Baldwin P, et al. The process of awakening: a PET study of regional brain activity patterns mediating the re-establishment of alertness and consciousness. Brain 2002;125:2308-19.
- [16] American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. (DSM- IV). Washington, DC: APA; 1994.
- [17] American Academy of Sleep Medicine. International classification of sleep
- disorders. Diagonstic and coding manual. 2nd ed. Westchester, IL: AASM; 2005. [18] Agnew HW Jr, Webb WB, Williams RL. The first night effect: an EEG study of sleep. Psychophysiol 1966;2:263–6.
- [19] Silber MH, Ancoli-Israel S, Bonnet MH, Chokroverty S, Grigg-Damberger MM, Hirshkowitz M, et al. The visual scoring of sleep in adults. J Clin Sleep Med 2007:3:121-31.
- [20] Chang AM, Reid KJ, Gourineni R, Zee PC. Sleep timing and circadian phase in delayed sleep phase syndrome. J Biol Rhythms 2009;24:313-21.
- [21] Horne JA, Ostberg O. A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. Int J Chronobiol 1976:4:97-110.
- [22] Beck AT, Steer RA, Carbin MG. Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: twenty-five years of evaluation. Clin Psychol Rev 1988;8:77-100.
- [23] Homack S, Riccio CA. Conners' continuous performance test (2nd ed.; CCPT-II). J Atten Disord 2006;9:556-8.
- [24] Burton SA, Harsh JR, Badia P. Cognitive activity in sleep and responsiveness to external stimuli, Sleep 1988;11:61–8. [25] Alvarez B, Dahlitz MI, Vignau J, Parkes JD. The delayed sleep phase syndrome:
- clinical and investigative findings in 14 subjects. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1992;55:665-70.
- [26] Abe T, Inoue Y, Komada Y, Nakamura M, Asaoka S, Kanno M, et al. Relation between morningness-eveningness score and depressive symptoms among patients with delayed sleep phase syndrome. Sleep Med 2011;12:680–4.

Psychiatry Research 237 (2016) 252-256

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Psychiatry Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/psychres

Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit

Knut Langsrud ^{a,b,*}, Arne E. Vaaler ^{a,b}, Håvard Kallestad ^{a,b}, Gunnar Morken ^{a,b}

^a Department of Psychiatry, St Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^b Department of Neuroscience, Faculty of Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 July 2015 Received in revised form 13 November 2015 Accepted 15 January 2016 Available online 16 January 2016 Keywords: Sleep Psychiatry Acute disease Inpatients Hospitalization

ABSTRACT

Systematic evaluations of the relationship between sleep patterns and length of stay in psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs) are lacking. The aims of the present study were to explore if sleep duration or night-to-night variations in sleep duration the first nights predict length of stay in a PICU. Consecutive patients admitted to a PICU were included (N=135) and the nurses registered the time patients were observed sleeping. In the three first nights, the mean sleep duration was 7.5 (\pm 3.2) h. Sleep duration the first night correlated negatively with the length of stay for patients with schizophrenia. The mean difference in sleep duration from night one to night two were 3.3 (\pm 3.0) h and correlated with length of stay for the whole group of patients, but especially for patients with schizophrenia. Patients of all diagnostic groups admitted to a PICU had pronounced intra-individual night-to-night variations in sleep duration. Stabilizing night-to-night variations of sleep duration might be a major goal in treatment. © 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Normalization of sleep is an important goal in acute psychiatric treatment, but systematic evaluations of the relationship between sleep patterns and length of stay in psychiatric intensive care units (PICUs) are lacking.

In the hospital of the present study, the PICU is a part of the closed acute psychiatric in-patient ward. In the PICU patients with the most disturbed behaviour and severe symptoms are treated, and there is a low patient/ staff ratio. The patient's behaviour and symptoms, including sleep are daily registered as a part of the ordinary clinical practise. To promote sleep there are fixed points in time for eating, activity and sleep in the PICUs. Patients are usually transferred from the PICUs after improvement in symptoms, function and behaviour. Different levels of segregation are used, a treatment method supposed to have effects through control of sensory and emotional stimuli (Hodgkinson, 1985; Vaaler et al., 2011). In addition to pharmacological treatment, the therapeutic milieu in PICUs is organized to manage challenging behaviours. One might expect that sleep is normalized and that length of stay is a parameter indicating the global effects of the interventions.

Among outpatients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.032

0165-1781/© 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

increasing night-to-night variations in sleep duration seem to correlate with symptom severity (Gruber et al., 2011; Waters et al., 2011). In bipolar disorder a large mood change is imminent if variation of sleep duration from one night to the next night is more than 3 h (Bauer et al., 2006). Thus, out-patients with severe mental disorders may have large night-to-night variations in sleep, especially in episodes of exacerbation of their illness. Descriptions of night-to-night variations in sleep duration among acutely admitted inpatients are needed both for better monitoring of the status of patients and possible refine treatment interventions.

CrossMark

The aims of the present study were to explore if sleep duration a single night or night-to-night variations in sleep duration the first nights predict length of stay in the PICU. We also wanted to compare sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration among patients with schizophrenia, mania and other disorders in a PICU.

2. Methods

In this study sleep duration were registered for all inpatients admitted to the PICU at the university hospital.

The Østmarka Psychiatric Department, St Olavs University Hospital, had a catchment area of 140,000 inhabitants from both the city of Trondheim (50%) and the rural areas (50%) in Sør-Trønderlag County at the time of the study. About 700 inpatients above 18 years were admitted each year. Acute admissions to other psychiatric hospitals occurred only when inhabitants temporarily

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Psychiatry, St Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway.

E-mail address: knut.langsrud@ntnu.no (K. Langsrud).

resided outside the catchment area. Norwegian acute psychiatric services are public and available to everyone.

The patients were admitted to the one of two closed acute wards with most free capacity. These wards consisted of an ordinary ward area and a PICU area. The PICU was used for containment of the most behaviourally disturbed patients. The patients were admitted to the PICU after assessment from the physician taking into account function, symptoms and behaviour. The therapist in the ward discharged the patients from the PICU after evaluating the patient's, no written criteria for admittance or discharge existed (Vaaler et al., 2006). The PICU consisted of two separate wings with sitting room, bathroom, toilet and two single patient rooms. The patients in the PICU were segregated together with staff, and expected to stay in their rooms and sleep between 22.30 and 7.30. The patients were encouraged to come to breakfast at 8.30 and to avoid daytime napping. The patients received treatment as usual including pharmacological treatment.

In one ward all patients admitted to the PICU in two periods of 4 and 5 months and in the other ward all patients admitted to the PICU in a period of 6 months, were included in the study. All patients who stayed at least one night were included. One patient was excluded due to severe dementia. Patients with multiple admittances were only included once.

2.1. Diagnostic groups

Diagnoses according to ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for research (WHO, 1993) were set in a weekly consensus meeting in the department's staff including the patient's therapist and at least two psychiatrists of whom at least one had personally examined the patient.

The patients with main or secondary diagnosis from F20 to F29 were defined as patients with schizophrenia. The patients with main or secondary diagnosis from F30 to F31.2 were defined as patients with mania. Patients with schizophrenia and mania dominated among patients with a long stay in the PICU and were compared to the rest of the patients defined as other disorders.

2.2. Sleep registrations

The time patients were observed to sleep was registered in a separate sleep diary and in the medical records by the nurses in the PICU. The nurses observed the patients at least every 30 min, often more frequently. The sleep diary consisted of a column for each 24 h and a square for each 30 min. The sleep duration in a day were defined as observed sleep from 12 a.m. to 12 a.m. Sleep registrations started the first night after admission and continued until discharge.

2.3. Variations in sleep duration were defined in three variables, absolute values were used

1. The differences in sleep duration between two nights. 2. The differences between the night with the longest and the night with the shortest sleep duration, A; among the three first nights and B; among the seven first nights (Gruber et al., 2011). 3. The patients were also divided in those with more and those with less than 2.5 h differences in sleep duration between the first and the second nights. The 2.5 h where chosen due to observations by Bauer (Bauer et al., 2006), that the frequency of new mood episodes increased with a three hour or more variation in length of sleep.

2.4. Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 21.0 for MAC. Categorical data were analysed with chi-square tests. Normally distributed data were analysed with Students *t*-test or ANOVA and data not normally distributed were analysed with non-parametric tests. Data were expressed as mean and standard deviations (SD) unless otherwise noted. The significance level was set at p < 0.05 (two tailed). The sample size was not calculated before the study started, previous studies could not give an estimate of results and the included number of patients was based on the capacity of the department.

2.5. Ethics

The study was approved by The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway.

3. Results

3.1. Description of the sample

In the study 135 patients, 61 females and 74 males, representing 949 nights were included. There were missing data on 12 nights. A description of the patients is given in Tables 1 and 2. Median nights per admission were 3 (min 1, max 77, mean 7.0). More patients with other psychiatric disorders than schizophrenia or mania were discharged after one night and had shorter lengths of stay than patients with schizophrenia or mania (Table 2).

3.2. Sleep duration

Distribution of sleep duration for night one, two and three for all patients are demonstrated in Fig. 1. Sleep duration the first $(6.9 \pm 3.1 \text{ h})$, second $(8.0 \pm 3.3 \text{ h})$ or third $(8.1 \pm 2.9 \text{ h})$ night did not differ between patients with schizophrenia, mania and other disorders (Table 3). Sleep duration the first night did not differ between patients discharged after one night (mean 7.5 \pm 2.8 h) and patients that stayed for more than one night (mean 6.7 \pm 3.2 h).

3.3. Night-to-night variations in sleep duration

Night-to-night variations in sleep duration are given in Table 3. In the whole sample, the mean absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two were 3.3 (\pm 3.0) h and from night two to night three 2.8 (\pm 2.6) h. The mean difference between the night with the longest and the night with the shortest sleep duration the three first nights was 4.7 (\pm 3.5) h and the mean difference between the night with the longest and the night with the shortest sleep duration the shortest sleep duration the seven first nights was 7.1 (\pm 3.7) h for the whole sample, with no significant differences between the three groups of patients.

Table 1

The number of patients and number of nights in a psychiatric intensive care unit distributed on main diagnostic groups.

	Diagnostic groups	Patients	Nights
	All	135	949
F00-09 F10-19 F20-29 F30-39 F40-99	Organic mental disorders Substance abuse Schizophrenia Mood disorders Anxiety, personality and development disorders	11 27 49 28 20	64 61 563 190* 71

F30-31.2 Mania: 11 Patients and 107 nights

Table 2

Descriptive data for the 135 patients admitted to a psychiatric intensive care unit distributed on main diagnostic groups.

	Schizophrenia	Mania	Other	All	Р
Patients	49	11	75	135	
Discharged after one night	9	1	29	39	0.016
Discharged after two nights	4	0	14	18	ns
Nights	563	107	279	949	
Length of stay, median (min– max. mean)	7 (1–77, 11.5)	10 (1– 19, 9.7)	2 (1-39, 3.7)	3 (1–77, 7.0)	0.000
Female/male	22/27	8/3	31/44	61/74	0.148
Age, years (SD)	36.9 (12.3)	46.8 (15.9)	39.1 (17.3)	39.0 (15.6)	0.165

^{*} Chi square test.

Anova.

*** Kruskal-Wallis.



Fig. 1. Distribution of sleep duration the first three nights in a psychiatric intensive care unit: Mean: 7.5 (\pm 3.2) h.

3.4. Correlations between sleep duration, night-to-night variations in sleep duration the first nights and length of stay in PICU.

Sleep duration the first night correlated negatively with length of stay in PICU for patients with schizophrenia ($r^{s} = -0.311$, p=0.029) and for all patients ($r^{s} = -0.171$, p=0.047). The absolute differences in sleep duration from night one to night two correlated with length of stay in PICU for patients with schizophrenia ($r^{s}=0.432$, p=0.005) and for all patients ($r^{s}=0.245$, p=0.018). See Table 4.

In the whole sample, patients with an absolute difference in sleep duration of $2\frac{1}{2}$ h or more from night one to night two stayed significantly longer in the PICU (median 7, min 2-max 77, mean 11.8 days) than the rest of the patients (median 4, min 2-max 46, mean 7.6 days) (Mann–Whitney *U*-test p=0.044). In the group with schizophrenia, patients with an absolute difference in sleep duration of $2\frac{1}{2}$ h or more stayed significantly longer (median 13 min 3-max 77, mean 18.1 days) than the rest of the group (median 5.0, min 2-max 46, mean 9.2 days) (Mann–Whitney *U*-test p=0.002).

4. Discussion

We found a large variation in sleep duration between the patients admitted to the PICU and, more importantly, a large intraindividual night-to-night variation in sleep duration among the same patients. Moreover, the magnitude of these night-to-night variations the first nights predicted the length of stay in the PICU, primarily among patients with schizophrenia. There was also a negative correlation between sleep duration the first night and length of stay in the PICU, mainly among patients with schizophrenia. This indicates that lack of night-to-night stability in duration of sleep is a marker of an instable and serious mental illness, especially in schizophrenia. Even if patients admitted to the PICU represented broad diagnostic groups, the long stays and the total number of nights were dominated by patients suffering from schizophrenia or mania.

4.1. Sleep duration

The mean sleep duration the first three days were 7.5 h with a wide standard deviation (more than 3 h) demonstrating large differences in sleep duration between patients admitted to the PICU (Fig. 1). Even if the mean sleep duration of 7.5 h is approximately the same as in healthy populations (Friborg et al., 2012; Oyane et al., 2008), the standard deviations are much wider among the patients at the PICU. The mean sleep duration in the present study was also approximately the same as in outpatients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, but with much wider standard deviations (Gruber et al., 2009; Kaplan et al., 2012; Waters et al., 2011; Wulff et al., 2012). The wide variations in sleep duration between patients at the PICU seem to be a marker of acute psychiatric illness.

Shorter sleep durations in mania than in the two other patient groups were expected, but no such differences were found. A possible explanation is that the patients with mania admitted to a PICU often have tried several pharmacological treatments without success before admittance and that in this highly selected patient

Table 3

Sleep variables for 135 patients admitted to a psychiatric intensive care unit distributed on diagnostic groups

•					C .					
	Schizophrenia		Mania	Mania Othe		Other		All		
	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)	Mean	(SD)		
Sleep duration, hours										
The first night	6.6	(3.3)	6.6	(3.5)	7.1	(2.9)	6.9	(3.1)	0.616	
The second night	8.3	(4.0)	7.8	(3.8)	7.9	(2.6)	8.0	(3.3)	0.808	
The third night	8.3	(3.4)	7.3	(2.0)	8.1	(2.6)	8.1	(2.9)	0.622	
Absolute differences in sleep du	uration betw	een two subseq	uent nights, ho	urs						
Night one to night two	3.8	(3.6)	3.2	(2.3)	2.8	(2.6)	3.3	(3.0)	0.304	
Night two to night three	3.2	(2.7)	2.6	(2.7)	2.3	(2.6)	2.8	(2.6)	0.320	
Absolute difference between th	e longest and	d shortest sleep	duration, hour	s						
The three first nights	5.4	(3.9)	4.2	(2.3)	4.1	(3.2)	4.7	(3.5)	0.245	
The seven first nights	7.0	(3.8)	6.5	(3.5)	7.6	(4.2)	7.1	(3.7)	0.872	

Anova tests were used

Table 4

Correlations between sleep duration the first night and absolute differences in sleep duration the two first nights and length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit.

	Schizophrenia		Mania		Other		All	
	r ^s	P value	rs	P value	г ^s	P value	rs	P value
Sleep duration the first night Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	-0.311 0.432	0.029 0.005	0.228 0.061	0.500 0.866	-0.030 -0.036	0.797 0.820	- 0.171 0.245	0.047 0.018

r^s = Spearmans rho.

group, the mania symptoms are not reduced even if there is a response to pharmacological treatment on sleep duration. Another possible explanation may be that patients with mania do not only have a diminished ability to sleep, but that they do not give themselves an adequate opportunity to sleep. In the PICU there is a very high degree of external structure and regulation that provides an improved opportunity to sleep.

4.2. Night-to-night variations

The night-to-night variations of sleep duration in each patient were wide in all three patient groups. The mean difference between the longest and shortest sleep duration the first week was 7.1 h and did not differ between the disorders. The variations expressed as standard deviations were wider than found in outpatients with bipolar disorder (Gruber et al., 2011), indicating an association between increased symptoms, reduced general function and lack of stability in sleep duration. Bauer found that sleep changes of more than three hours are late prodromal signs for an imminent mood change among bipolar outpatients (Bauer et al., 2006). It is established that the degrees of sleep distortions seem to correlate with symptoms in outpatients (Afonso et al., 2011; Bauer et al., 2006; Cohrs, 2008; Gruber et al., 2009; Waters et al., 2011), so it is not surprising that the patients in PICU have wide variations in sleep duration both between patients and intra-individually in each patient. Lack of stability of sleep duration from night-to-night seems to be a core feature of increased symptoms and decreased function across several psychiatric disorders. Nearly all patients with a long stay at the PICU suffered from schizophrenia or mania. The authors have no explanation for the apparently higher instability in sleep duration in the schizophrenia group than in the mania group although Wulff speculated that sleep changes among some people with schizophrenia are due to their wide-spread alterations in brain architecture and physiology (Wulff et al., 2010).

4.3. Correlations between sleep duration, night-to-night variations in sleep duration the first nights and length of stay at the PICU.

The length of sleep duration the first nights had a weak negative correlation with the length of stay, i.e. short sleepers had longer stays, the correlation was most evident among patients with schizophrenia. The absolute differences in sleep duration from night one to night two correlated with the length of stay and patients with a night-to-night difference in sleep duration of more than 2.5 h the first two nights had a significantly longer stay than other patients, especially among patients with schizophrenia. This might support that lack of stability more than short nights is a marker of the condition of patients admitted to the PICU.

4.4. Implication for the treatment in PICU

To our knowledge the present study is the first to examine sleep duration and variations in sleep duration from night-tonight among acutely admitted patients in a PICU. The results support an assumption that large night to night variations in length of sleep is a warning sign for extended stay.

Hypnotics and sedatives are often used when patients are hospitalized (Rankin and Brakoulias, 2012) and sleep is one of the most common causes for administrating pro re nata drugs in acute psychiatric wards (Stewart et al., 2012). An awareness of the variations in sleep duration from night to night is important to avoid unnecessary changes in pharmacological treatment based on impressions from only one night.

To our knowledge there are no studies that have described effects of stabilising sleep duration in PICUs.

4.5. Limitations

This study was not designed to explore the influence of homoeostatic and circadian factors on sleep (Borbely, 1982; Waterhouse et al., 2012). Measures of sleep inducing factors as medication, restrictions in behaviour, time of lights being turned on and off for each patient were not recorded. Other factors that can affect patients' course of illness as pharmacological treatment, compliance and symptoms level were not analysed.

In this study we used observed sleep by the nurses as a measure of sleep duration (Van de Water et al., 2011). The gold standard of sleep registration is polysomnography, which is expensive and impossible to use in a PICU. Actigraphy have the resent years been used to give indirect reports of sleep patterns. Observations of sleep have in some studies correlated with results from polysomnography and actigraphy (Ancoli-Israel et al., 1997; Edwards and Schuring, 1993; Fontaine, 1989). We believe that the nurses' observation of sleep duration in the present study is acceptable as a measure of sleep duration.

The number of patients limits the possibility to discover differences between the diagnostic groups, the sexes and age groups. Categorizing substance use disorders, depressive mood disorders anxiety disorders, and personality disorders in to the same group is a limitation.

4.6. Conclusions

The present study shows large variations in sleep duration between individual patients and a large intra-individual lack of stability in sleep duration. Lack of stability in the sleep duration and the magnitude of these night-to-night variations the first nights predicted the length of stay in the PICU and should be treated as a warning sign for an extended stay. Treatment studies of stabilizing sleep in patients with serious mental illnesses in general and more specific in psychiatric intensive care units are warranted.

References

Afonso, P., Brissos, S., Figueira, M.L., Paiva, T., 2011. Schizophrenia patients with predominantly positive symptoms have more disturbed sleep-wake cycles measured byactigraphy. Psychiatry Res. 189, 62–66.

Ancoli-Israel, S., Clopton, P., Klauber, M.R., Fell, R., Mason, W., 1997. Use of wrist

K. Langsrud et al. / Psychiatry Research 237 (2016) 252-256

activity for monitoring sleep/wake in demented nursing-home patients. Sleep 20, 24–27.

- Bauer, M., Grof, P., Rasgon, N., Bschor, T., Glenn, T., Whybrow, P.C., 2006. Temporal relation between sleep and mood in patients with bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord. 8, 160–167.
- Borbely, A.A., 1982. A two process model of sleep regulation. Hum. Neurobiol. 1, 195–204. Cohrs, S., 2008. Sleep disturbances in patients with schizophrenia : impact and
- Cohrs, S., 2008. Sleep disturbances in patients with schizophrenia : impact and effect of antipsychotics. CNS Drugs 22, 939–962.
- Edwards, G.B., Schuring, L.M., 1993. Pilot study: validating staff nurses' observations of sleep and wake states among critically ill patients, using polysomnography. Am. J. Crit. Care 2, 125–131.
- Fontaine, D.K., 1989. Measurement of nocturnal sleep patterns in trauma patients. Heart Lung 18, 402–410.
- Friborg, O., Bjorvatn, B., Amponsah, B., Pallesen, S., 2012. Associations between seasonal variations in day length (photoperiod), sleep timing, sleep quality and mood: a comparison between Ghana (5°) and Norway (69°). J. Sleep Res. 21, 176–184.
- Gruber, J., Harvey, A.G., Wang, P.W., Brooks 3rd, J.O., Thase, M.E., Sachs, G.S., Ketter, T.A., 2009. Sleep functioning in relation to mood, function, and quality of life at entry to the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD). J. Affect. Disord. 114, 41–49.
- Gruber, J., Miklowitz, D.J., Harvey, A.G., Frank, E., Kupfer, D., Thase, M.E., Sachs, G.S., Ketter, T.A., 2011. Sleep matters: sleep functioning and course of illness in bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 134, 416–420.

Hodgkinson, P., 1985. The use of seclusion. Med. Sci. Law 25, 215-222.

- Kaplan, K.A., Talbot, L.S., Gruber, J., Harvey, A.G., 2012. Evaluating sleep in bipolar disorder: comparison between actigraphy, polysomnography, and sleep diary. Bipolar Disord. 14, 870–879.
- Oyane, N.M., Ursin, R., Pallesen, S., Holsten, F., Bjorvatn, B., 2008. Self-reported

seasonality is associated with complaints of sleep problems and deficient sleep duration: the Hordaland Health Study. J. Sleep Res. 17, 63–72. Rankin, K., Brakoulias, V., 2012. Patterns of hypnotic medication use for sleep dis-

- Rankin, K., Brakoulias, V., 2012. Patterns of hypnotic medication use for sleep dis turbance amongst hospital inpatients. Australas Psychiatry 20, 301–304.
- Stewart, D., Robson, D., Chaplin, R., Quirk, A., Bowers, L., 2012. Behavioural antecedents to pro re nata psychotropic medication administration on acute psychiatric wards. Int. J. Ment. Health Nurs. 21, 540–549.
- Van de Water, A.T., Holmes, A., Hurley, D.A., 2011. Objective measurements of sleep for non-laboratory settings as alternatives to polysomnography – a systematic review. J. Sleep Res. 20, 183–200.
- Vaaler, A.E., Iversen, V.C., Morken, G., Flovig, J.C., Palmstierna, T., Linaker, O.M., 2011. Short-term prediction of threatening and violent behaviour in an Acute Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit based on patient and environment characteristics. BMC Psychiatry 11, 44.
- Vaaler, A.E., Morken, G., Fløvig, J.C., Iversen, V.C., Linaker, O.M., 2006. Effects of a psychiatric intensive care unit in an acute psychiatric department. Nord. J. Psychiatry 60, 144–149.Waterhouse, J., Fukuda, Y., Morita, T., 2012. Daily rhythms of the sleep-wake cycle. J.
- Waterhouse, J., Fukuda, Y., Morita, T., 2012. Daily rhythms of the sleep-wake cycle. J. Physiol. Anthr. 31, 5.
- Waters, F., Sinclair, C., Rock, D., Jablensky, A., Foster, R.G., Wulff, K., 2011. Daily variations in sleep-wake patterns and severity of psychopathology: a pilot study in community-dwelling individuals with chronic schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 187, 304–306.
- WHO, 1993. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diagnostic Criteria for Research.
- Wulff, K., Dijk, D.J., Middleton, B., Foster, R.G., Joyce, E.M., 2012. Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in schizophrenia. Br. J. Psychiatry 200, 308–316.Wulff, K., Gatti, S., Wettstein, J.G., Foster, R.G., 2010. Sleep and circadian rhythm
- Wulff, K., Gatti, S., Wettstein, J.G., Foster, K.G., 2010. Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in psychiatric and neurodegenerative disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 589–599.

256
Psychiatry Research 263 (2018) 275-279

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Psychiatry Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/psychres

Sleep at night and association to aggressive behaviour; Patients in a Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit



Knut Langsrud^{a,b,*}, Håvard Kallestad^{a,b}, Arne Vaaler^{a,b}, Roger Almvik^c, Tom Palmstierna^{b,c,d}, Gunnar Morken^{a,b}

^a Department of Psychiatry, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^b Department of Mental Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU - Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

^c Centre for Research and Education in Forensic Psychiatry, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^d Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Centre for Psychiatric Research, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Sleep Aggression Violence Psychiatry Inpatients Risk assessment

ABSTRACT

Evaluations of associations between sleep at night and aggressive behaviour in Psychiatric Intensive Care Units (PICU) are lacking. The aims were to explore if sleep duration or night-to-night variations in sleep duration correlated with aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents the next day and through the whole admission. Fifty consecutive patients admitted to a PICU were included (521 nights) and the nurses registered the time patients were sleeping, aggressive behaviour with The Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) and aggressive incidents with The Staff Observation Aggression Scale-Revised (SOAS-R). At admission, short sleep duration the first night correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day and admissions with violent incidents had a median of 4.0 h difference in sleep from night one to night two compared to 2.1 h for the rest of the admissions. During the stay, large absolute difference in sleep duration between two nights correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day and short sleep duration as associated with violent incidents. Short sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration might help to predict and prevent aggressive incidents.

1. Introduction

In acute and emergency psychiatry, sleep disturbances and aggressive behaviour are prominent problems with negative consequences for staff and patients (Iozzino et al., 2015; NICE Guideline NG10, 2015; Vaaler et al., 2011). Psychiatric Intensive Care Units (PICUs) are inpatient facilities designed to contain patients with violent or threatening behaviour. Many acute psychiatric wards are divided in ordinary ward areas and PICUs. PICUs usually have a higher staff to patient ratio and better possibilities for observation of patients. It is of interest both to reveal imminent increased risk of aggression based on information about sleep the previous night, and to assess if specific sleep-patterns the first one or two nights after admission might predict aggression or violent incidents during the whole stay.

Behaviour associated with lack of sleep has some similarities with aggressive behaviour; being tense/anxious, angry/hostile, confused, oppositional, irritable and having reduced emotional regulation (Baum et al., 2014). Sleep problems are also highly prevalent among patients who are admitted to PICUs (Langsrud et al., 2016) and could contribute

both to aggression and violent behaviour. In a systematic review of the existing literature on sleep and aggression, the authors concluded that the larger part of the literature supports a correlation between subjective poor sleep and irritability, hostility, and aggression (Kamphuis et al., 2012). Although sleep disturbances seldom result in physical aggression, the risk might increase in vulnerable individuals (Kamphuis et al., 2012), such as patients admitted to a PICU. Improved understanding of factors associated with aggression and violent behaviour could identify possible therapeutic targets and prevent aggression. To the knowledge of the authors, there are no studies that have explored the relationship between sleep one night and aggression the next day in acute and emergency psychiatry.

In studies of sleep duration and symptom severity in patients with bipolar or schizophrenic disorders it has been found an association between level of symptom severity and variability of sleep duration (Barbini et al., 1996; Gruber et al., 2011; Waters et al., 2011; Wulff et al., 2012). We have previously reported that length of stay in a PICU correlated with the variability of sleep duration, but not with mean sleep duration (Langsrud et al., 2016). Thus, among psychiatric

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.03.012

Received 2 October 2017; Received in revised form 16 February 2018; Accepted 5 March 2018 Available online 06 March 2018

0165-1781/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

^{*} Correspondence to: Department of Mental Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Norwegian University of Science and Technology – NTNU, Trondheim, Norway. E-mail address: Knut.langsrud@ntnu.no (K. Langsrud).

inpatients, the variability or lack of stability of sleep duration may be an important factor contributing to next day aggression.

A wide range of measures of sleep and aggression have been used in previous studies, measures often based on self-rapports of aggression and mean sleep duration or sleep duration of one night (Kamphuis et al., 2012). However, self-reported levels of aggression have a clear potential for bias, particularly in populations with antisocial personality disorder, mania, or psychosis where self-reports might underestimate the level of aggression. Observer-based assessment of aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents may therefore be more relevant for this patient population.

The aims of this study were to test if sleep duration or variations in sleep duration in the PICU were associated with observer-rated aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents the next day. We also wanted to test if sleep duration the first night after admittance or nightto-night variations of sleep duration between night one and two were associated with aggressive incidents later in the admission.

2. Methods

The Østmarka Psychiatric Department, St. Olavs University Hospital, had a catchment area of 140,000 inhabitants from both the city of Trondheim (50%) and the rural areas (50%) in Sør-Trønderlag County at the time of the study. About 700 patients above 18 years were admitted each year. Acute admissions to other psychiatric hospitals occurred only when inhabitants temporarily resided outside of the catchment area. Norwegian acute psychiatric services are public and available to everyone.

The acute ward consisted of an ordinary closed ward area and a PICU area. The PICU was used for containment of behaviourally disturbed patients. The PICU consisted of two separate wings. Each wing had a sitting room, a bathroom, a WC and two single patient rooms. The physicians on duty assessed patients at admittance to the PICU. The therapists on the ward discharged the patients after evaluating the patient's symptoms and behaviour, no written criteria existed for indications for admittance or discharge (Vaaler et al., 2006). The patients in the PICU were segregated together with members of the staff, and they were expected to stay in their rooms and sleep between 22:30 h and 07:30 h. Patients were encouraged to come to breakfast at 08:30 h and not sleep during daytime. Depending on the state of the patient, the physicians on duty or the therapists on the ward decided if the patient were observed continuously or with 3–30 min intervals.

All admitted patients that stayed for at least one night in the PICU, during a 6-month period, were included in the present study. Seven admissions with a total of 12 nights were excluded due to missing short time risk assessment (BVC) registrations for the time of admission.

The measures of sleep, aggressive behaviour and aggressive incidents had been used in previous studies and in routine clinical practices at the ward. A brief training of the nursing staff was also provided before start of the study.

2.1. Diagnostic groups

Diagnoses according to World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases version 10 (ICD-10) (WHO, 1993), diagnostic criteria for research were set in a weekly consensus meeting at the department where at least two specialists in psychiatry and/or clinical psychology attended. One of these specialists had personally examined the patient.

The patients with a diagnosis from F20 to F29 were defined as patients with schizophrenia. Patients with schizophrenia dominated the admissions in the PICU, and they were compared with the rest of the patients defined as other disorders.

2.2. Sleep

The nurses in the PICU registered the time patients were observed to sleep both in the medical records, and in a separate sleep diary. The nurses observed the patients at least every 30 min throughout the night, often more frequently, through the door or by being in the same room as the patients. The sleep diary consisted of a column for each 24-h period, and a square for each 30 min.

The sleep duration in a day were defined as observed sleep from 12:00 h to 12:00 h. Night-to-night variations in sleep duration were defined in absolute values of the differences in sleep duration between two nights and keyed on the second of the two nights.

2.3. Aggressive behaviour

The Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) is a 6-item checklist of behaviour that predicting imminent aggressive incidents in psychiatric inpatients (24 h perspective) (Linaker and Busch-Iversen, 1995; Woods and Almvik, 2002). BVC is easy to use, has been extensively tested and has good psychometric properties (NICE Guideline NG10, 2015). The nurses on the ward rate if six different behaviours are present or not: Being confused, irritable, boisterous, verbally threatening, physically threatening, and/or attacking objects. Each item is scored 1 if present or 0 if not, giving a scoring range of 0 - 6. The BVC sum score is often categorised in three groups, for recommendations of when preventing measures should be taken; small risk of violence (0), moderate risk of violence (1-2) and high risk of violence (> 2). The BVC is usually assessed three times daily. In the present study, we used the highest scores of the morning or evening scores (Abderhalden et al., 2008; van de Sande et al., 2011).

2.4. Aggressive incidents

Aggressive incidents were recorded by the nurses with the Staff Observation Aggression Scale-Revised (SOAS-R) (Nijman et al., 1999; Palmstierna and Wistedt, 1987). In the SOAS-R both the nature and the severity of aggressive incidents are rated. The SOAS-R consists of five columns; provocation, means, target, consequences for victims and measures taken to stop aggression. SOAS-R is widely used worldwide to monitor violent incidents in mental health care settings.

2.5. Statistics

The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 24 for MAC and an alfa level of < 0.05 was employed. Data were expressed as means and standard deviations (SD) or median and interquartile range (IQR). Categorical data were analysed with Fishers Exact test, normally distributed data were analysed with Mann-Witney *U*-tests and correlations with Spearman's rank coefficient (Spearman's rho).

2.6. Ethics

The study was approved by The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway. All the data used in the study were collected as part of ordinary routine clinical practice in the department.

3. Results

3.1. Characteristics of the sample

The study included 40 patients with 50 admissions, 21 (42%) females and 29 (58%) males and 521 nights. Patients with: Organic Disorders (F00–09) had 6 admissions and 20 nights, substance abuse (F10–19) had 9 admissions and 19 nights, schizophrenia (F20–29) had

Table 1

Descriptive data and sleep variables for 50 admissions to a Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit.

	Schizophrenia	Other diagnoses	All	Р			
Admissions	21	29	50				
Nights	381	140	521				
Discharged after one	5	7	12	ns ^a			
night							
Length of stay,	7 (2–24)	3 (1.5-6)	3 (1.5-11)	0.034 ^b			
median (IQR)							
Female / Male	8/13	13/16	21/29	ns ^a			
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)				
Age, years	37.4 (13.1)	44.8 (19.6)	41.7 (17.4)	ns ^c			
Sleep duration, hours							
The first night $(n=50)$	7.7 (3.6)	7.8 (2.7)	7.7 (3.1)	ns ^c			
The second night	10.2 (4.8)	8.4 (2.4)	9.2 (3.8)	ns ^c			
(n=36)							
All nights ($n = 509$)	9.4 (3.0)	8.0 (2.3)	9.0 (2.9)	0.000 ^c			
Absolute differences in sleep duration from night to night							
Night one to night two	4.5 (4.4)	2.7 (2.1)	3.5 (3.4)	ns ^c			
(n=36)							
All nights ($n = 453$)	2.0 (2.0)	1.9 (1.6)	2.0 (1.9)	ns			

Interquartile range (IQR).

^a Fishers Exact Test.

^b Mann-Whitney U-Test.

^c Student´s *t*-test.

21 admissions and 381 nights, mood disorders (F30–39) had 13 admissions and 99 nights and the rest (F40–99) had 1 admission and 2 nights. There were missing sleep data on 12 nights and missing BVC data on 78 days. Median nights per admission in the PICU were 3 (IQR 1.5–11.0). A description of the patients is given in Table 1.

3.2. Sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration

Table 1 shows sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration for patients with schizophrenia, for other disorders, and for all patients. Sleep duration the first and second night did not differ between patients with schizophrenia and other disorders, but for all nights during the stay, patients with schizophrenia had longer sleep duration than patients with other disorders. There were no differences in the night-to-night variations of sleep duration between patients with schizophrenia and other disorders.

3.3. Aggressive behaviour defined by Brøset Violent Checklist (BVC)

When dividing the 433 BVC records in categories after risk of violence; 355 were defined as small (BVC = 0) risk of violence, 69 as moderate (BVC = 1-2) risk of violence and 19 as high (BVC > 2) risk of violence.

3.4. Sleep duration, night-to-night variations in sleep duration, and aggressive behaviour recorded by BVC

Short sleep duration the first night correlated with higher scores on the BVC the next day ($t^{s} = -0.47$, p = 0.04) for patients with schizophrenia. The same was found for all patients in the study ($t^{s} = -0.38$, p = 0.01), but not for the group of other diagnoses (Table 2). The night-to-night variation in sleep duration the first two nights did not correlate with scores on the BVC the next day, although the group of patients with other diagnoses than schizophrenia had a high correlation value ($t^{s} = 0.55$, p = 0.055) (Table 2).

For all 443 nights, night-to-night variations correlated with BVC the next day for patients with other diagnoses than schizophrenia ($r^s = 0.23$, p = 0.02) and for the whole group of patients ($r^s = 0.14$, p = 0.006) (Table 2).

Table 2

Correlations between sleep duration at night and Brøset Violent Check-list (BVC) the next day.

	Schizophrenia		Other		All	
	r ^s	р	r ^s	р	r ^s	р
Sleep duration the first night	-0.473	0.041	-0.288	0.145	-0.378	0.010
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	0.062	0.827	0.549	0.055	0.266	ns
Sleep duration, all nights	-0.053	ns	-0.032	ns	-0.075	ns
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night, all nights	0.104	0.079	0.231	0.021	0.138	0.006

 r^{s} = Spearman's rho.

Comparing all days with and without a positive score on each of the six items of BVC, sleep duration differed between those with irritation, (median 8.5 h, IQR 6.0–10.125) or not (median 9.25 h, IQR 7.5–11.0), (Mann-Whitney p = 0.047) and being boisterous (median 7 h, IQR 5.5–10.0) or not (median 9.25 h, IQR 7.5–11.125), (Mann-Whitney p = 0.004). Night-to-night variations in sleep duration differed between days with confusion, (median 2.5 h (IQR 1.125–3.625) or not (median 1.5 h (IQR 0.75–2.75), (Mann-Whitney p = 0.002), and physical threats, (median 3.25 h, IQR 1.5–4.5) or not (median 1.5 h, IQR 0.75–2.75), (Mann-Whitney p = 0.048).

3.5. Sleep duration, night-to-night variations in sleep duration and aggressive incidents recorded by SOAS-R

Admissions with aggressive incidents defined by SOAS-R during the whole stay had greater variations in sleep duration from night one to night two (median 4.0 h) compared to admissions without such aggressive incidents (median 2.13 h) (Table 3).

Aggressive incidents recorded by SOAS-R were preceded by short sleep duration the night before the incident (median 7.0 h), compared to days without such incidents (median 9.0 h) (Table 3).

4. Discussion

In this prospective study of patients admitted to a PICU, our main finding was that both short duration of sleep and great night-to-night variations in duration of sleep, were associated with next-day aggressive behaviour and with aggressive incidents during the whole stay at the PICU. This may indicate that sleep duration or night-to-night variation in sleep duration might be an important factor in increasing the risk of aggressive behaviour in populations admitted to PICUs, and that interventions to improve and stabilize sleep patterns might reduce aggression. Earlier studies support a relationship between reduced quality of sleep and aggression, but have been inconclusive about the association between sleep duration and aggression (Kamphuis et al., 2012).

4.1. Sleep the first nights and aggression during the admission

At admission to acute and emergency psychiatry, there is often limited clinical information about the patient. Analysing sleep patterns the first one or two nights might improve the evaluation of the clinical status of the patient and improve planning of both short- and long-time treatment and care. We found that short sleep duration the first night was associated with higher levels of aggressive behaviour the next day, especially among patients with schizophrenia. We did not find the same

Standard deviation (SD).

Table 3

Length of sleep duration and differences in night-to-night sleep duration in admissions with injuries to staff recorded by Staff Observation Aggression Scale- Revised (SOAS-R), compared to admissions without injuries.

	SOAS-R						
	Injuries			No injuries			
	n	Median	IQR	n	Median	IQR	р
SOAS-R recorded injuries during admission							
Sleep duration the first night	6	6.0	(4.5-11.44)	44	8.5	(6.0-9.94)	ns
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night one to night two	6	4.5	(3.32 - 11.38)	30	2.13	(0.69-4.56)	0.042
SOAS-R recorded injuries the day after sleep							
Sleep duration	14	7.0	(5.0-9.19)	495	9.0	(7.25 - 11.0)	0.033
Absolute difference in sleep duration from night to night	14	2.25	(1.19–3.5)	439	1.5	(0.75–2.75)	ns

Mann-Whitney U-Tests.

IQR: Interquartile range

association between high night-to-night variation in sleep duration the two first nights and aggression the next day, even if there was a high non-significant correlation ($r^s = 0.549$) with BVC score among patients without schizophrenia. Interestingly, such a high night-to-night difference in sleep duration at the start of the admission were associated with aggressive incidents during the whole stay measured by SOAS-R.

4.2. Sleep at night and aggression the next day

Short sleep duration was not associated with the total BVC scores. However, there were shorter sleep durations before aggressive incidents recorded by SOAS-R than before days without such aggressive incidents. The absolute difference in sleep duration between two nights was associated with higher BVC scores the next day for all patients, and especially for patients with other diagnoses than schizophrenia. An implication of this finding is that also during a longer stay at a PICU, the staff has to be aware of lack of stability in the sleep patterns and circadian rhythms of the patients, both to reduce risk for aggression, but also to improve treatment in general.

4.3. Sleep and aggression

Kamphuis et al. (2012) speculated that the relationship between sleep deprivation and context-inappropriate aggressive responses are mediated by loss of behaviour inhibition regarding negative emotional experiences or circumstances. Patients admitted to an acute psychiatric ward are particularly exposed to such experiences: the ward is closed, many patients are involuntarily admitted, and there are restrictions in areas to stay in, smoking, use of telephone, et cetera (lozzino et al., 2015).

Thus, our findings of relationships between sleep duration and aggressive behaviour could be associated both to clinical characteristics of the patient population and the inpatient setting.

Sleep is a central biological phenomenon. The neurobiological effect of sleep deprivation (Krause et al., 2017) and aggression (Blair, 2016; Weiss, 2012) are complex and possible bidirectional. Some changes after sleep deprivation are also common in person with aggressive and violent behaviour, as altered function of the prefrontal cortex, striatum and amygdala. Also changes in executive functions, impulsivity, risktaking and sensational seeking behaviour, and negative emotional processing are seen both in sleep deprivation and in aggressive periods. One might speculate that patients admitted to acute psychiatric wards are at risk for increase in aggressive and violent behaviour do to disruptions in sleep patterns. Our study explored the association between sleep and aggression, neurobiological mechanisms which may underlie the behavioural changes occurring during daytime after disruption of sleep patterns should be explored in a PICU population. Such biological mechanisms might differ between diagnostic groups.

4.4. Beyond mean sleep duration, include night-to-night variation

In previous studies of associations between sleep and aggression, the main focus has been on mean sleep duration during an admission or sleep duration one night (Kamphuis et al., 2012). In the present study, night-to-night variations in sleep duration has been analysed in addition to the duration of sleep, it adds new information about the sleep among acutely admitted patients with a high level of symptoms and deviant behaviour.

Moreover, we found a pattern where short sleep duration and nightto-night variations of sleep duration were associated with different types of behaviour. Short sleep was associated with irritability and boisterous behaviour, whereas large night-to-night variations in sleep duration was associated with confusion and threatening behaviour. We also found that patients with schizophrenia and patients with other disorders seemed to react differently to sleep disturbances in the PICU. First, short sleep duration the first night correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day primarily among patients with schizophrenia. Secondly, large night-to-night variation in sleep duration correlated with aggressive behaviour the next day, primarily among patients with other diagnoses than schizophrenia. In sum, these findings indicate that night-to-night variations in sleep duration should be included in further studies (Bei et al., 2016). It is possible to speculate that subgroups like mood disorders highly influenced by circadian rhythms, might be especially vulnerable to lack of stability in sleep duration.

Medication could have influenced both the sleep duration, night-tonight variation in sleep duration and aggressive behaviour, but we have no data enlightening this. The department uses tranquilizers frequently as described in other studies from psychiatric acute and emergency units (Rankin and Brakoulias, 2012; Stewart et al., 2012), and that aggression also are treated with much the same medication in these facilities (Huf et al., 2007; NICE Guideline NG10, 2015; Nielssen et al., 1997). Expert consensus guidelines recommend benzodiazepines as first-choice medication in a number of clinical conditions in acute and emergency psychiatry (Allen et al., 2003). However, sleep problems and aggression are still frequent.

In one study patients admitted to hospital in crises got treatment for sleep problem where discharged 8.5 days earlier than patients that only got treatment as usual (Sheaves et al., 2017). Such treatment might also have an effect on aggressive behaviour. Today the treatment in PICUs supports stabilisation of sleep with daily monitoring and fixed time for meals and sleep. Recent studies of using glasses that block blue light has shown stabilisation of sleep duration and improvement for patients with mania (Henriksen et al., 2016). Chronotherapeutic interventions (Dallaspezia et al., 2015) are suitable for PICUs and might stabilize sleep, and it is important to develop and evaluate such treatments.

K. Langsrud et al.

4.5. Strengths of the study

A strength of this study is the naturalistic setting and that all admitted patients were included. We used standardized measures for aggressive behaviour that are widely used in clinical practice.

4.6. Limitations

The number of patients limits the possibility to discover differences between the diagnostic groups, gender and age groups. The numbers of aggressive incidents (measured with SOAS-R) were limited.

In this study, we used sleep observed by the nurses as a measure of sleep duration (Van de Water et al., 2011). This has lower reliability than "gold standard" sleep assessment with polysomnography (PSG), or actigraphy. However, PSG is expensive and impossible to use in a PICU. We believe that the nurses' frequent observation of sleep duration in the present study is acceptable as a measure of sleep duration. Observations of sleep have in some studies correlated with results from polysomnography and actigraphy (Ancoli-Israel et al., 1997; Edwards and Schuring, 1993; Fontaine, 1989). A possibility in future research is to use actigraphs or monitors based on more advanced technology to record sleep, or at least in hospitals, to use standardized observations. However, a number of patients in PICUs can from ethical reasons not be exposed to actigraphs or similar electronic devices. As some patients were observed intermittently, wake periods might have been missed and some patients might have been disturbed from sleep by the nurses' intermittent observations. More knowledge for specific diagnostic groups, gender and age are needed in future studies.

Measures of sleep inducing factors, such as medication, restrictions in behaviour, time of lights being turned on and off for each patient were not recorded. Other factors that can affect patients' course of illness, such as multiple admissions, pharmacological treatment, compliance and symptoms level were not analysed.

4.7. Conclusion

We found that both short sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration between two nights were associated with increased aggression among patients in a PICU. Patients with schizophrenia seemed more vulnerable to short length of sleep, while other patients seemed to react more negatively to instability in length of sleep. The findings might improve prediction of aggression and increase focus on treatment of sleep and circadian disturbances in Psychiatric Intensive Care Units.

Funding

St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

References

- Abderhalden, C., Needham, I., Dassen, T., Halfens, R., Haug, H.J., Fischer, J.E., 2008. Structured risk assessment and violence in acute psychiatric wards: randomised controlled trial. Br. J. Psychiatry 193 (1), 44–50.Allen, M.H., Currier, G.W., Hughes, D.H., Docherty, J.P., Carpenter, D., Ross, R., 2003.
- Allen, M.H., Currier, G.W., Hughes, D.H., Docherty, J.P., Carpenter, D., Ross, R., 2003. Treatment of behavioral emergencies: a summary of the expert consensus guidelines. J. Psychiatr. Pract. 9 (1), 16–38.
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Clopton, P., Klauber, M.R., Fell, R., Mason, W., 1997. Use of wrist activity for monitoring sleep/wake in demented nursing-home patients. Sleep 20 (1), 24–27.
- Barbini, B., Bertelli, S., Colombo, C., Smeraldi, E., 1996. Sleep loss, a possible factor in augmenting manic episode. Psychiatry Res 65 (2), 121–125.

- Baum, K.T., Desai, A., Field, J., Miller, L.E., Rausch, J., Beebe, D.W., 2014. Sleep restriction worsens mood and emotion regulation in adolescents. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 55 (2), 180–190.
- Bei, B., Wiley, J.F., Trinder, J., Manber, R., 2016. Beyond the mean: a systematic review on the correlates of daily intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns. Sleep. Med Rev. 28, 108–124.
- Blair, R.J., 2016. The neurobiology of impulsive aggression. J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol. 26 (1), 4–9.
- Dallaspezia, S., Suzuki, M., Benedetti, F., 2015. Chronobiological therapy for mood disorders. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 17 (12), 95.
- Edwards, G.B., Schuring, L.M., 1993. Pilot study: validating staff nurses' observations of sleep and wake states among critically ill patients, using polysomnography. Am. J. Crit. Care 2 (2), 125–131.
- Fontaine, D.K., 1989. Measurement of nocturnal sleep patterns in trauma patients. Heart Lung 18 (4), 402–410.
- Gruber, J., Miklowitz, D.J., Harvey, A.G., Frank, E., Kupfer, D., Thase, M.E., et al., 2011. Sleep matters: sleep functioning and course of illness in bipolar disorder. J. Affect Disord. 134 (1–3), 416–420.
- Henriksen, T.E., Skrede, S., Fasmer, O.B., Schoeyen, H., Leskauskaite, I., Bjorke-Bertheussen, J., et al., 2016. Blue-blocking glasses as additive treatment for mania: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Bipolar Disord. 18 (3), 221–232.
- Huf, G., Coutinho, E.S., Adams, C.E., 2007. Rapid tranquillisation in psychiatric emergency settings in Brazil: pragmatic randomised controlled trial of intramuscular haloperidol versus intramuscular haloperidol plus promethazine. BMJ 335 (7625), 869.
- Iozzino, L., Ferrari, C., Large, M., Nielssen, O., de Girolamo, G., 2015. Prevalence and risk factors of violence by psychiatric acute inpatients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One 10 (6), e0128536.
- Kamphuis, J., Meerlo, P., Koolhaas, J.M., Lancel, M., 2012. Poor sleep as a potential causal factor in aggression and violence. Sleep. Med 13 (4), 327–334. Krause, A.J., Simon, E.B., Mander, B.A., Greer, S.M., Saletin, J.M., Goldstein-Piekarski,
- Krause, A.J., Simon, E.B., Mander, B.A., Greer, S.M., Saletin, J.M., Goldstein-Piekarski, et al., 2017. The sleep-deprived human brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18 (7), 404–418.

Langsrud, K., Vaaler, A.E., Kallestad, H., Morken, G., 2016. Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit. Psychiatry Res 237, 252–256.

- Linaker, O.M., Busch-Iversen, H., 1995. Predictors of imminent violence in psychiatric inpatients. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 92 (4), 250–254.
- NICE Guideline NG10, 2015. Violence and Aggression: Short-term Management in Mental Health, Health and Community Settings. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (nice.org.uk/guidance/ng10)(accessed February 2018).
- Nielssen, O., Buhrich, N., Finlay-Jones, R., 1997. Intravenous sedation of involuntary psychiatric patients in New South Wales. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 31 (2), 273–278.
- Nijman, M., Merckelbach, Palmstierna, Wistedt, Vos, Rixtel, Allertz, 1999. The staff observation aggression scale - revised (SOAS-R). Aggress. Behav. 25, 197–209.
- Palmstierna, T., Wistedt, B., 1987. Staff observation aggression scale, SOAS: presentation and evaluation. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 76 (6), 657–663.
- Rankin, K., Brakoulias, V., 2012. Patterns of hypnotic medication use for sleep disturbance amongst hospital inpatients. Australas. Psychiatry 20 (4), 301–304.
- Sheaves, B., Freeman, D., Isham, L., McInerney, J., Nickless, A., Yu, L.M., et al., 2017. Stabilising sleep for patients admitted at acute crisis to a psychiatric hospital (OWLS): an assessor-blind pilot randomised controlled trial. Psychol. Med 1–11.
- Stewart, D., Robson, D., Chaplin, R., Quirk, A., Bowers, L., 2012. Behavioural antecedents to pro re nata psychotropic medication administration on acute psychiatric wards. Int J. Ment. Health Nurs. 21 (6), 540–549.
- van de Sande, R., Nijman, H.L., Noorthoorn, E.O., Wierdsma, A.I., Hellendoorn, E., van der Staak, C., et al., 2011. Aggression and seclusion on acute psychiatric wards: effect of short-term risk assessment. Br. J. Psychiatry 199 (6), 473–478.
- Van de Water, A.T., Holmes, A., Hurley, D.A., 2011. Objective measurements of sleep for non-laboratory settings as alternatives to polysomnography–a systematic review. J. Sleep. Res 20 (1 Pt 2), 183–200.
- Vaaler, A.E., Iversen, V.C., Morken, G., Flovig, J.C., Palmstierna, T., Linaker, O.M., 2011. Short-term prediction of threatening and violent behaviour in an Acute Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit based on patient and environment characteristics. BMC Psychiatry 11, 44.
- Vaaler, A.E., Morken, G., Fløvig, J.C., Iversen, V.C., Linaker, O.M., 2006. Effects of a psychiatric intensive care unit in an acute psychiatric department. Nord. J. Psychiatry 60 (2), 144–149.
- Waters, F., Sinclair, C., Rock, D., Jablensky, A., Foster, R.G., Wulff, K., 2011. Daily variations in sleep-wake patterns and severity of psychopathology: a pilot study in community-dwelling individuals with chronic schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 187 (1–2), 304–306.
- Weiss, E.M., 2012. Neuroimaging and neurocognitive correlates of aggression and violence in schizophrenia. Sci. (Cairo) 2012, 158646.
- WHO, O., 1993. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research.
- Woods, P., Almvik, R., 2002. The Broset violence checklist (BVC). Acta Psychiatr. Scand. (Suppl(412)), 103–105.
- Wulff, K., Dijk, D.J., Middleton, B., Foster, R.G., Joyce, E.M., 2012. Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in schizophrenia. Br. J. Psychiatry 200 (4), 308–316.





The Predictive Properties of Violence Risk Instruments May Increase by Adding Items Assessing Sleep

Knut Langsrud^{1,2}*, Arne Vaaler^{1,2}, Gunnar Morken^{1,2}, Håvard Kallestad^{1,2}, Roger Almvik^{2,3}, Tom Palmstierna^{2,4} and Ismail C. Güzey^{1,2}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ² Department of Mental Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU–Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway, ³ Forensic Research Unit, Brøset, St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, ⁴ Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Centre for Psychiatric Research, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Background: The psychometric instruments developed for short-term prediction of violence in psychiatric inpatients do not include variables assessing sleep. Disturbances in sleep may precede aggression in this setting. We investigated whether adding information on sleep improved the predictive properties of the Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Johann Brink, University of British Columbia, Canada

Reviewed by:

Nubia G. Lluberes, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Ruth J. Tully, Tully Forensic Psychology Ltd, United Kingdom

> ***Correspondence:** Knut Langsrud knut.langsrud@ntnu.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 26 February 2019 Accepted: 26 April 2019 Published: 09 May 2019

Citation:

Langsrud K, Vaaler A, Morken G, Kallestad H, Almvik R, Palmstierna T and Güzey IC (2019) The Predictive Properties of Violence Risk Instruments May Increase by Adding Items Assessing Sleep. Front. Psychiatry 10:323. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00323 **Methods:** The study population consists of all patients admitted to a psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) over a 6-month period who were hospitalized for at least one night (n = 50). Sleep observed by staff (521 nights), behavior assessed with the BVC (433 days), and aggressive incidents recorded by the Staff Observation Scale-Revised (n = 14) were included in the analysis.

Results: The ability of the BVC to predict aggressive incidents improved from AUC_{ROC} 0.757 to AUC_{ROC} 0.873 when a combined sleep variable including both sleep duration and night-to-night variations of sleep duration was added to the BVC recordings. The combined sleep variable did not significantly predict aggressive incidents (AUC_{ROC} 0.653, p = 0.051).

Conclusions: A sleep disturbance variable improves the predictive properties of the BVC in PICUs. Further studies of sleep duration, night-to-night variations in duration of sleep, and aggression are needed.

Keywords: prediction, sleep, aggression, violence, psychiatry, inpatients

INTRODUCTION

Predicting aggressive behavior is important in acute and emergency psychiatry (1, 2). The Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC) has been developed to assess the risk of imminent aggressive behavior in psychiatric inpatients (3–5). It has a short-term perspective (4–6), and it is used in emergency facilities in a number of countries (6–10).

The predictive properties of the BVC have been documented in different psychiatric facilities including acute and emergency departments (6-10). Although the BVC is a successful predictor

Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; BVC, Brøset Violence Checklist; CI, confidence interval; PICU, psychiatric intensive care unit; SOAS-R, Staff Observation Scale-Revised; ICD-10, Diagnoses according to World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases, version 10; ROC curve, receiver operating characteristic curve; SD, standard deviation.

of aggressive behavior, its main focus is the patients' immediate behavior, such as irritability and the display of verbal or physical threats by the patient (3, 4). One variable that has the potential to affect violent behavior directly, which is not included in the BVC, is sleep (11).

Losing sleep may lead to changes in cognitive functions, emotional regulation, and control of behavioral responses (11-13). Although the exact relationship between sleep and aggression is not clear, several studies have indicated an association between them (11). In a study of combat veterans, those who reported sleep duration of less than 6 h had the strongest association between combat exposure and posttraumatic stress, aggression, and risky behavior (14). An inverse association between hours of sleep and aggression has been found in youths (15). In individuals with lowfunctioning autism, prediction of daytime challenging behavior, including aggression, was strongly driven by sleep variability (16). In an earlier study, we also found an association between disturbance in sleep and aggression the next day in a psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) (17). We have not found any studies examining whether sleep items or stability of sleep can be used as a short-term predictor of aggression.

The aim of this study was to investigate whether adding items assessing sleep duration and night-to-night variations in sleep duration between two consecutive nights increased the predictive properties of the BVC in a population of patients in a PICU.

METHODS

Setting

The Norwegian psychiatric health care system is publicly funded and catchment-area based. All patients from the catchment area in need of acute psychiatric inpatient services are admitted to the hospital. At the time of the inclusions, the Department of Psychiatry at St Olav's University Hospital had 700 admitted patients (\geq 18 years) each year from a catchment area with 140,000 inhabitants.

The PICUs in the Department of Acute Psychiatry are separated parts of the closed psychiatric acute wards, and each has a sitting room, eating area, bathroom, and patient rooms. There are always allocated nurses in the PICU. The nurses remain with the patients and observe them continuously or at 3- to 30-min intervals, depending on the state of the patients. Details about the catchment area, hospital, PICU, and the assessments have been published previously (17–19).

All admitted patients that stayed for at least one night in the PICU during a 6-month period were included in the study.

The diagnoses were set according to the World Health Organization's International Classification of Diseases version 10 (ICD-10) criteria for research (20).

Assessments

Sleep Variables

The times the patients were observed to sleep were recorded both in the medical records, and in a separate sleep diary, with one column for each 24-h period and a square for every 30-min block from 12:00 noon to 12:00 noon, by the nurses in PICU. The staff was instructed to record if a patient was considered "to be sleeping" according to their own clinical judgement. The nurses were in the room with the patients or observed them through the door every 3–30 min, depending on the state of the patients.

In calculating the night-to-night variations in sleep duration, the absolute values of the differences in sleep duration between two consecutive nights were used.

To make the sleep items compatible with a checklist and to retain the dimension aspect of sleep, we used a three-point scale rather than the two-point scale used in the BVC. The variables used in analyzing sleep duration, night-to-night variations in sleep duration between two consecutive nights, and the combined variable of both, sleep disturbance, were defined on a 0-2 point scale. Sleep duration for 6 h or more was defined as 0; between 4 and 6 h, 1; and 4 h or less, 2. Night-to-night variations in sleep duration for 2 h or less was defined as 0; between 2 and 4 h, 1; and 4 h or more, 2.

Sleep disturbance was defined as: (sleep duration + night-tonight variation in sleep duration)/2, or only the value from the sleep duration if the patient had only one night of stay.

Brøset Violence Checklist

The BVC is an observer-rated instrument predicting imminent (a 24-h perspective) aggressive incidents among psychiatric inpatients (3, 4). The hospital's staff has experience in the use of this instrument in both daily clinical practice and research (9, 18). After being with the patients for about 1 h on each shift, the nurses rate the six-item checklist of behavior: being confused, irritable, boisterous, verbally threatening, physically threatening, and/or attacking objects. The BVC has a scoring range from 0 to 6. In the present study, the highest of the morning or evening BVC scores was used. When an aggressive incident occurred, only the BVC scores prior to the incident that day were included.

New Brøset Violence Checklist Sleep Score

By adding the sleep disturbance score to the BVC sum score the day after sleep, we calculated a new combined BVC-sleep score with a range from 0 to 8.

Staff Observation Scale

Aggressive incidents were recorded with the Staff Observation Scale-Revised (SOAS-R) (21, 22). The nurses witnessing an incident filled in the form. The SOAS-R captures different aspects of aggressive incidents: provocation, means, target, consequences for victims, and measures taken to stop the aggression.

Statistics

SPSS version 24 was used in the statistical analyses. A *p* value < 0.05 was employed as significant. Normally distributed data were analyzed with Students' *t* test. The Mann–Whitney *U* test was used to analyze data that were not normally distributed. Receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC curve) and area under the curve (AUC) with confidence intervals (CIs) were used to analyze the variables' ability to predict aggressive incidents. No missing data replacement was used (23).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Sample

A total of 40 patients with 50 admissions and 521 nights were included in the study. Females had 21 admissions and males had 29. The mean age in the sample was 41.7 (SD \pm 17.4) years. Patients with a main diagnosis of schizophrenia (F20–29) made up the majority of the admissions (n = 21) and nights (n = 381). Patients with mood disorders (F30–39) had 13 admissions and 99 nights, patients with substance abuse (F10–19) had 9 admissions and 19 nights, patients with organic disorders (F40–99) had 2 nights.

The mean sleep duration was 9.0 (SD \pm 2.9) h and the mean absolute difference in sleep duration from night-to-night was 2.0 (SD \pm 1.9) h. The median number of nights per admission in the PICU was 3 (IQR 1.75–11.0). Of the 433 BVC forms, 355 had BVC = 0, categorized as small risk; 69 had BVC = 1–2, categorized as moderate risk; and 19 had BVC > 2, categorized as high risk of violence. Fourteen aggressive incidents (SOAS-R) from six patients were recorded. Sleep data were missing on 12 nights and BVC data were missing on 78 days.

Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve

The ROC analyses can be seen in Figure 1 and the AUC_{ROC} can be seen in Table 1. BVC gave an AUC_{ROC} value of 0.757. The

new combined BVC-sleep score gave an AUC_{ROC} value of 0.873, improving the BVC score. Both BVC and BVC-sleep AUC_{ROC} values were highly significant. None of the sleep variables alone gave a significant AUC_{ROC} value.

DISCUSSION

In this prospective study, the BVC was shown to be sensitive in predicting aggressive incidents, and adding sleep disturbance to the BVC scores improved its predictive capacity further. Neither short duration of sleep nor high night-to-night variations in duration of sleep predicted aggressive incidents at the same level as BVC scores alone. As far as we are aware, only a previous study from our group has explored the relationship between sleep and aggression in acute or emergency psychiatry services (17). That study provided support for a possible association between sleep disturbances and aggression. The current study indicates that observations of sleep improve the sensitivity of the BVC.

The BVC is a recommended instrument for the short-term prediction of aggressive incidents. It can also be used as a decision-making tool for seclusion in the PICU (6). In this study, the ability of the BVC to predict aggressive incidents (AUC_{ROC} 0.757, p = 0.001) was somewhat lower than or comparable to earlier studies (4, 8, 9), but the prediction of aggressive incidents was improved by adding the variable for sleep (AUC_{ROC} 0.873,



 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{TABLE 1} \ | \ Area \ under \ the \ curve \ (AUC_{\text{ROC}}) \ for \ sleep \ duration, \ night-to-night \ variation \ in \ sleep \ duration, \ sleep \ duration, \ sleep \ duration \ ariable \ of \ both \ sleep \ duration \ and \ night-to-night \ variations), \ Broset \ Violence \ Checklist \ (BVC), \ and \ BVC-sleep \ (a \ combination \ of \ BVC \ and \ sleep \ disturbance). \end{array}$

	Missing	AUC	95% CI	Signª
Sleep duration	12	0.575	(0.412-0.738)	0.337
Sleep night-to-night variations	68	0.576	(0.424-0.728)	0.335
Sleep disturbance	18	0.653	(0.520-0.786)	0.051
BVC	78	0.757	(0.601-0.914)	0.001
BVC-sleep	84	0.873	(0.767–0.981)	0.000

Cl, confidence interval.

^aNull hypothesis: true area = 0.05.

p = 0.000). A study that added Visual Analogue Scale ratings of subjective perception of risk for a physical attack to the BVC (8) improved the BVC at a comparable level.

Adding sleep information to the BVC requires extra effort, especially if the sleep information is not routinely recorded during treatment in the PICU. In the study PICUs, collection of sleep information was a part of the standard treatment protocol and therefore added little to the workload of the staff. Violent behavior is common in acute psychiatric wards. It is found that one out of five patients commit an act of violence, 75–100% of the nurses have been assaulted by patients, and annually one-third of the total nursing costs are connected to managing violence and aggression (1, 2). These high numbers make even a marginal improvement in predicting aggression valuable for patients and staff, in order to improve safety (8, 10).

In the present study, neither sleep duration (AUC_{ROC} 0.575, p = 0.337) nor night-to-night variations in sleep duration between two consecutive nights (AUC_{ROC} 0.576, p = 0.335) predicted aggressive incidents the next day. When the sleep duration and variability of sleep duration between two consecutive nights were combined in the new sleep disturbance variable, a numerically larger area under the curve (AUC_{ROC} 0.653, p = 0.051) was found, but the difference did not reach statistical significance. The reason for this might be the complex nature of aggressive behavior (24), and that sleep duration and night-to-night variability in sleep duration capture different aspects of sleep disturbance when analyzed as isolated predictors. By adding night-to-night variation (25), we may assess disturbances in sleep better than when analyzing sleep duration alone.

Earlier studies suggest that sleep deprivation leads to a complex set of changes such as increased sensitivity to identification of negative stimuli, increased hostile attributions, and loss of inhibition of context-inappropriate responses. Reduced topdown control of emotional signals, poor affect regulation, in addition to decreased emotional intelligence may contribute to the overall aggressive behavior (11–13). These neurobiological changes are complex and may not be captured completely by the BVC's six-item checklist of behavior.

Strengths and Limitations

The naturalistic setting in the PICU, inclusion of all admitted patients from the catchment area, and the use of standardized measures for risk behavior and aggressive incidents are the major strengths of the present study. The currently used "observed sleep" by the nurses has both strengths and weaknesses (26). It is the standard measure for sleep in most psychiatric departments in daily, clinical practice. It is therefore already implemented. However, the nurse-based observations of sleep may be prone to errors, such as misjudging what has been observed, not noticing when patients may be awake, or being interrupted in the observations, giving reduced report quality. The clinical observation by nurses is not as objective as polysomnography or actigraphy, assessments tools that are not possible to use in the PICUs because of security, cost, and ethical reasons. However, some studies document satisfactory correlations between these different measures (26–28). Another weakness in the study is the lack of registered information on other risk factors for aggression such as involuntary admission, alcohol abuse, and history of violence.

CONCLUSIONS

After adding sleep disturbance to the BVC, an instrument for short-term prediction of violent behavior from inpatients, both the specificity and the sensitivity of the instrument improved. The combined variable of sleep duration and night-to-night variations in duration of sleep (sleep disturbance) seems to have a promising capacity to contribute to prediction. Further studies of sleep duration, night-to-night variations in duration of sleep, and aggression are necessary.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data are available upon request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All the data used in this study were collected as part of ordinary routine, clinical practice in the department. Patients acutely admitted to PICUs have limited capacity to consent in taking part in clinical studies. This is due to the mixture of psychiatric and behavioral challenges. The patients in this study were thus included without giving an informed, written consent. The study including the inclusion procedures was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KL contributed to the planning, data management and analyses, interpretation of the results, and writing. AV, GM, and RA contributed to the planning, interpretation of the results, and writing. HK and TP contributed to the interpretation of the results and writing. ICG contributed to the analyses, interpretation of the results, and writing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

Funding was obtained from St. Olavs University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway.

REFERENCES

- Iozzino L, Ferrari C, Large M, Nielssen O, de Girolamo G. Prevalence and risk factors of violence by psychiatric acute inpatients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0128536. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0128536
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. NICE Guideline [NG10]. Violence and Aggression: Short-Term Management in Mental Health, Health and Community Settings, The British Psychological Society and The Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2015). Available online at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng10
- Linaker OM, Busch-Iversen H. Predictors of imminent violence in psychiatric inpatients. Acta Psychiatr Scand (1995) 92:250–4. doi: 10.1111/ j.1600-0447.1995.tb09578.x
- Woods P, Almvik R. The Brøset Violence Checklist (BVC). Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl (2002) (412):103–5. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.106.s412.22.x
- Yao X, LiZ, Arthur D, Hu L, An FR, Cheng G. Acceptability and psychometric properties of Brøset Violence Checklist in psychiatric care settings in China. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs (2014) 21:848–55. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12132
- Loi F, Marlowe K. East London modified-Brøset as decision-making tool to predict seclusion in psychiatric intensive care units. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:194. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00194
- Chu CM, Daffern M, Ogloff JRP. Predicting aggression in acute inpatient psychiatric setting using BVC, DASA, and HCR-20 clinical scale. J Forens Psychiatry Psychol (2013) 24:269–85. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2013.773456
- Abderhalden C, Needham I, Dassen T, Halfens R, Haug HJ, Fischer J. Predicting inpatient violence using an extended version of the Brøset-Violence-Checklist: instrument development and clinical application. BMC Psychiatry (2006) 6:17. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-6-17
- Vaaler AE, Iversen VC, Morken G, Flovig JC, Palmstierna T, Linaker OM. Short-term prediction of threatening and violent behaviour in an acute psychiatric intensive care unit based on patient and environment characteristics. BMC Psychiatry (2011) 11:44. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-44
- Partridge B, Affleck J. Predicting aggressive patient behaviour in a hospital emergency department: an empirical study of security officers using the Brøset Violence Checklist. *Australas Emerg Care* (2018) 21:31–5. doi: 10.1016/j.auec.2017.11.001
- Kamphuis J, Meerlo P, Koolhaas JM, Lancel M. Poor sleep as a potential causal factor in aggression and violence. *Sleep Med* (2012) 13:327–34. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2011.12.006
- Krizan Z, Hisler G. Sleepy anger: restricted sleep amplifies angry feelings. J Exp Psychol Gen (2018). doi: 10.1037/xge0000522
- Chester DS, Dzierzewski JM. Sour sleep, sweet revenge? Aggressive pleasure as a potential mechanism underlying poor sleep quality's link to aggression. *Emotion* (2019). doi: 10.1037/emo0000593
- Osgood JM, Finan PH, Hinman SJ, So CJ, Quartana PJ. Combat exposure, post-traumatic stress symptoms, and health-related behaviors: the role of sleep continuity and duration. *Sleep* (2018). doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsy257
- Street NW, McCormick MC, Austin SB, Slopen N, Habre R, Molnar BE. Sleep duration and risk of physical aggression against peers in urban youth. *Sleep Health* (2016) 2:129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2016.03.002
- Cohen S, Fulcher BD, Rajaratnam SMW, Conduit R, Sullivan JP, St Hilaire MA, et al. Sleep patterns predictive of daytime challenging behavior in

individuals with low-functioning autism. Autism Res (2018) 11:391-403. doi: 10.1002/aur.1899

- Langsrud K, Kallestad H, Vaaler A, Almvik R, Palmstierna T, Morken G. Sleep at night and association to aggressive behaviour; patients in a psychiatric intensive care unit. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 263:275–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.03.012
- Vaaler AE, Morken G, Fløvig JC, Iversen VC, Linaker OM. Effects of a psychiatric intensive care unit in an acute psychiatric department. Nord J Psychiatry (2006) 60:144–9. doi: 10.1080/08039480600583472
- Langsrud K, Vaaler AE, Kallestad H, Morken G. Sleep patterns as a predictor for length of stay in a psychiatric intensive care unit. *Psychiatry Res* (2016) 237:252–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.032
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Diagnostic Criteria for Research. Geneva: World Health Organization (1993). p. 248.
- Palmstierna T, Wistedt B. Staff Observation Aggression Scale, SOAS: presentation and evaluation. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (1987) 76:657–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1987.tb02936.x
- Nijman HL, Muris P, Merckelbach HL, Palmstierna T, Wistedt B, Vos AM, et al. The Staff Observation Aggression Scale—revised (SOAS-R). Aggress Behav (1999) 25:3:197–209. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2337(1999) 25:3:197::AID-AB4>3.0.CO;2-C
- Martinez-Camblor P. Area under the ROC curve comparison in the presence of missing data. J Korean Stat Soc (2013) 42:431–42. doi: 10.1016/j. jkss.2013.01.004
- Allen JJ, Anderson CA, Bushman BJ. The general aggression model. Curr Opin Psychol (2018) 19:75–80. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.034
- Bei B, Wiley JF, Trinder J, Manber R. Beyond the mean: a systematic review on the correlates of daily intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns. *Sleep Med Rev* (2016) 28:108–24. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.06.003
- Van de Water AT, Holmes A, Hurley DA. Objective measurements of sleep for non-laboratory settings as alternatives to polysomnography—a systematic review. J Sleep Res (2011) 20(1 Pt 2):183–200. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2869.2009.00814.x
- Ancoli-Israel S, Clopton P, Klauber MR, Fell R, Mason W. Use of wrist activity for monitoring sleep/wake in demented nursing-home patients. *Sleep* (1997) 20:24–7. doi: 10.1093/sleep/20.1.24
- Edwards GB, Schuring LM. Pilot study: validating staff nurses' observations of sleep and wake states among critically ill patients, using polysomnography. *Am J Crit Care* (1993) 2:125–31.

Conflict of Interests Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Langsrud, Vaaler, Morken, Kallestad, Almvik, Palmstierna and Güzey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.